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Financial Highlights

BRE

FOR THE YEAR FA
Highlights of consolidated statements of comprehensive income (&2 HENERIGE
FY2024 FY2023
—ZEm 2=
MREE HHEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FExT
Revenue U &= 14,644 143,779
Gross profit EH 26,269 60,789
Profit before taxation PRI AT R A 8,313 28,103
Profit for the year F R 6,290 22,039
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEW R AREE 3,770 20,095
AT YEAR END FXR
Highlights of consolidated statements of financial positions EaMBRKRREE
FY2024 FY2023
ol 11 ==
R EE HMHEE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FEx
Non-current assets EREMEE 22,879 24,863
Current assets BB E 145,088 139,994
Current liabilities mEAEE (30,375) (17,049)
Net current assets MBEIEEFER 114,713 122,945
Net assets BEEFR 135,430 147,660
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Financial Highlights
MEHEE

E YA

Revenue I &=

For the year ended 31 December

#E+_A=+—HLFE

2024 2023 +/(-)
—E-E TEBT=HF
HK$’000 (%) HK$000 (%) HK$000 (%)

FHET (%) TAT %) TAT (%)

Revenue 1§

Slewing rings EE
— ODM — ODM 23,629 20.6 56,718 39.4  (33,089) (58.3)
— OEM — OEM 353 0.3 276 0.2 77 279
— OBM — OBM 2,039 1.8 2,325 1.6 (286) (12.3)
— Others — Hfthx & 1,040 0.9 10,983 7.6 (9,943) (90.5)

27,061 23.6 70,302 489 (43,247) (61.5)
Mechanical parts and components i ZE 2B {4

— ODM — ODM 5,321 4.6 6,041 4.6 (1,320) (19.9)
— Others — Htth 10,989 9.6 16,972 1.8 (5,983) (35.3)
16,310 14.2 23,613 16.4 (7,303) (30.9)

Machineries Pt
— Machineries — T 46,878 40.9 49,864 347 (2,986) (6.0)
46,878 40.9 49,864 347 (2,986) (6.0)

Minerals =4
— NICKEL ORE — RHE 24,395 21.3 - - 24,395 N/A
24,395 21.3 - - 24,395 N/A
Total st 114,644 100.0 143,779 100.0 (29,135) (20.3)

Note: Other rings mainly include revenue derived from the sales of slewing rings that we do  fifs - EMEZ AT EGQEREHERMRB T ELEENE
not currently produce. WA ©

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A



OVERVIEW

Best Linking Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries, (the “Group”), is a leading premium slewing ring
manufacturer in the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”). We also provide a
comprehensive line of mechanical parts and components and machineries
which are used mainly in construction and mining sites. The Company has
successfully transferred its listing (the “Transfer of Listing”) from GEM to
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). The last day of dealings in the Shares on GEM (stock code
on GEM: 8617) was on 28 September 2023 while dealings in the Shares on
the Main Board (stock code on the Main Board: 9882) commenced on 29
September 2023.

We manufacture slewing rings that conform to the Japanese Industrial
Standards (“JIS”), which is regarded as a standard with higher quality
control requirements than that produced in many other countries in
the world. From 2011 to 2015, three Japanese equipment manufacturers
also became our regular original equipment manufacturing (“OEM”)
customers. We position ourselves as a premium manufacturer of slewing
rings targeting both local and overseas markets including Singapore,
the Philippines, Malaysia, Japan and other Asian countries/locations.
Since the commencement of our business in 2007, we accumulated
in-depth industry experience and know- how for the production of
slewing rings catering to different industries for both local and overseas
markets, especially under original design manufacturer (“ODM”) basis.
We also began producing our own brand products under original brand
manufacturing (“OBM”) basis since 2011, including “KYOE!”, “NISSHO
SEIKO” and “JSG”, and “DYCQ” in 2024.

Since 2020, the Group has developed new products and a wider range
of servicing by manufacturing other mechanical parts and components
for machineries on ODM basis besides slewing rings to seize the business
opportunities and cater the need of our customers. Meanwhile, the
machineries and mechanical parts supplied by the leading suppliers in
Japan were fit for the Group’s sourcing needs with specifications not
commonly supplied by other market suppliers. Since the Transfer of
Listing, the Group’s customers have increasingly made enquiries on
whether the Group could provide a wider scope of products. The Group
continues to identify and look for new business opportunities. Based on
such belief, in early 2024, the Group expanded its products coverage by
sourcing minerals and related products.

About Us
At F AP
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About Us
At F A

The Group will continue its effort to promote its brand as well as providing
high-quality products to seize more business opportunities in various

regions.

Our principal subsidiaries include Best Linking Limited (“Best Linking”),
Kyoei Corporation Limited (“Kyoei HK”) (formally known as Wing Fung
Machinery Company Limited) and Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited (“Kyoei Seiki”).
The Company is an exempted company incorporated in the Cayman

Islands with limited liability on 26 October 2018.
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TO SHAREHOLDERS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Best Linking Group
Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), | am pleased to
present the annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 December
2024 (the “Reporting Period”).

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to announce the annual consolidated results for
the financial year ended 31 December 2024 on 21 March 2025. The total
revenue for the financial year ended 31 December 2024 amounted to
approximately HK$114.6 million (2023: HK$143.8 million), representing
a decrease of approximately 20.3% compared to the last financial year.
The net profit for the year attributable to equity holders of the Company
amounted to approximately HK$6.2 million (net profit in 2023: HK$22.0
million, and excluding the non-recurring Transfer of Listing and its related
expenses and donations of approximately HK$15.4 million which were
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income during
2023, the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company in 2023
would have been approximately HK$37.4 million), representing a decrease
of approximately 71.5% compared to the last financial year. Basic and
diluted earnings per share were both approximately HKO.8 cents (2023:
HK2.8 cents, restated to take into account of the effect of the Share
Subdivision, refer to the Management Discussion and Analysis of this
report, during the year retrospectively as if they have taken place since
the beginning of the comparative year) respectively.

2024 was a year full of challenges, the Board does not recommend the
payment of a final dividend.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement

EFERS

OUTLOOK

It was a transformative year for the Group in 2023. Despite the adverse
market condition, because of the broadened range of product offered
by the Group, the Group achieved a significant growth in its business
and the Company has successfully transferred its listing from GEM to
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. However, 2024 was a year full
of challenges. The lack of momentum for economic recovery in certain
countries, compounded by the looming shadow of high interest rates,
posed challenges to the global business environment. The global growth is
expected to be less than moderate before recovering gradually at a slow
pace in the second half of 2024. At the same time, economic development
in China was still hit by a number of factors, such as the default in the
repayment of debts of renowned property developers and the slump
of the property market. As a result, even after the Covid-19 pandemic
tapered off and the cross border activities between Hong Kong and the
PRC resumed, the degree of economy rebound in Hong Kong and the PRC
in 2024 were still not up to the level of expectation.

With a well-established industry presence of over 15 years, the Group
has demonstrated remarkable risk resilience, underpinned by a wealth of
industry expertise, substantial capital financials and a base of international
and local customers. Since the Transfer of Listing, the Group’s customers
have increasingly made enquiries on whether the Group could provide
a wider scope of products. Meanwhile, there were challenges faced by
the Group in its principal business caused by keen competition in the
market and economic uncertainties. The Directors are well aware of the
importance for the Group to continue to identify and to look for new
business opportunities. Based on such belief, in early 2024, the Group
expanded its products coverage by sourcing minerals and related
products, as the Group sees opportunities in the trading of minerals, and
wishes to capture such business opportunity and synergies in broadening
its business scope. It will also create more opportunities for the Group to
sell more mechanical parts and components and machineries directly to
the mine owners, thus strengthening the business and profitability of the
Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a network
of supply of minerals excavated from such mines, for resale to customers
of the Group.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED sk B
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During the year, the Group has entered into the Purchase Framework
Agreement and the Sales Framework Agreement (the “Continuing
Connected Transactions”) and entered into the Tenancy Agreement (the
“Connected Transaction”) with connected persons of the Group. Notably,
the Directors considered that the Purchase Framework Agreement will
facilitate the Group to acquire a range of products, including heavy duty
machineries for resale to the Group’s customers, thus implementing the
business development plan of broadening the range of products offered
by the Group and diversifying the suppliers network.

Looking forward, the Group wishes to capture more business opportunities
and synergies by broadening its business scope and the Directors do
anticipate that the Group’s sourcing business including minerals will
continue to grow and seizing market opportunities as well as creating
diversified income streams.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express my
sincere gratitude to our customers, suppliers, business associates and the
most valued shareholders for their continuing trust and support for the
Group, and to our directors, management and staff for their commitment
and valuable contribution during the past year.

Chan Yuk Pan
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

SRR EY-Sa i

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is a leading premium slewing ring manufacturer in the PRC.
We are also a comprehensive products provider for mechanical parts and
components and machineries which are used mainly in construction and
mining sites.

We manufacture slewing rings that conform to the JIS, which is regarded
as a standard with higher quality control requirements than that produced
in many other countries in the world. Since 2020, the Group has developed
new products and a wider range of servicing by manufacturing other
mechanical parts and components for machineries besides slewing rings to
seize the business opportunities and to satisfy the need of our customers.
The machineries and mechanical parts supplied by the leading suppliers in
Japan were fit for the Group’s sourcing needs and with specifications not
commonly supplied by other market suppliers.

We expanded our capability to include manufacturing of mechanical
parts and components such as sprocket, track shoes and rollers, which
are commonly sought by our customers alongside our slewing rings, on
ODM basis. We also source other mechanical parts and components for
our customers. Further, as a supplier of slewing rings under OEM basis to
leading suppliers in Japan for over 10 years, we are in a position to source
excavators and other heavy duty machineries directly. We further extend
our heavy duty machineries offering other types of machineries such as
pile drivers, wheel loaders and trucks.

It was a transformative year for the Group in 2023. Despite the adverse
market condition, because of the broadened range of products offered
by the Group, the Group achieved a significant growth in its business.
However, 2024 was a year full of challenges. The lack of momentum for
economic recovery in certain countries, compounded by the looming
shadow of high interest rates, posed challenges to the global business
environment. The global growth is expected to be less than moderate
before recovering gradually at a slow pace in the second half of 2024. At
the same time, economic development in China was still hit by a number
of factors, such as the default in the repayment of debts of renowned
property developers and the slump of the property market. As a result,
even after the Covid-19 pandemic tapered off and the cross border
activities between Hong Kong and the PRC resumed, the degree of
economy rebound in Hong Kong and the PRC in 2024 are still not up to
the level of expectation.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Management Discussion and Analysis

With a well-established industry presence of over 15 years, the Group
has demonstrated remarkable risk resilience, underpinned by a wealth of
industry expertise, substantial capital financials and a base of international
and local customers. The Group reported revenue of HK$114.6 million
and gross profit of HK$26.3 million for the Reporting Period. The overall
performance of the Group during the Reporting Period has decreased
as compared with the year ended 31 December 2023 (“FY2023”). The
Group’s revenue decreased by 20.3% to HK$114.6 million for the Reporting
Period, as compared to HK$143.8 million for FY2023. This was mainly
attributable to i) the persistent decline in market demand from Hong
Kong and the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) region
throughout 2024 which created a negative impact on the revenue. The
decline was attributed to the economic downturn, the local and global
economic uncertainties as well as the lack of momentum in recovering
from the downturn of the construction activities. As a result, there was a
decline in the sales of slewing rings, mechanical parts and components we
manufacture or source. The decline in the sales of machineries was also
attributed by the longer-than expected sales cycles and the postponement
in the commencement of new construction projects and completion of the
existing construction projects experienced by a number of our customers;
and ii) the decrease in gross profit margin was attributable to the change
in product mix, marked by a decrease in the sales of slewing rings (which
has a higher profit margin), despite there was an increase in the sales of
brand new machineries and minerals (with a lower profit margin).

The Group’s principal business faced challenges posed by the keen
competition in the market and economic uncertainties. The Directors are
well aware of the importance for the Group to continue identifying new
business opportunities. In early 2024, the Group decided to expand its
product coverage in sourcing to include minerals and related products.
Since the Transfer of Listing in September 2023, the Group’s customers
have increasingly made enquiries on whether the Group could provide
a wider scope of products, most notably in connection with excavation
machineries used for mining. Our Group sees opportunities in the
trading of minerals, and wishes to capture such business opportunity
and synergies in broadening its business scope. It will also create more
opportunities for the Group to sell more mechanical parts and components
and machineries directly to the mine owners, thus strengthening the
business and profitability of the Group. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has established a network of supply of minerals excavated from
such mines, for resale to customers of the Group.
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Manag_ement Discussion and Analysis
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Slewing rings

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on ODM, OEM and OBM basis. Meanwhile, the Group also
sources slewing rings not manufactured by the Group for its customers.
The Group’s business leverages on its in-depth market knowledge and
know-how accumulated through years of experience since the Group’s
inception. The Group is able to produce a diverse range of slewing rings
for its customers. The Group can also manufacture slewing rings which
have already ceased production for its customers.

Our business is primarily focused on manufacturing slewing rings for
local and overseas customers on an ODM basis. Our ODM customers
include companies engaged in the wholesale and trading of heavy duty
machineries and their related parts and components. They re-sell the
products supplied by the Group to end-users in the market. We work out
the design as well as all technical specifications from start to finish for our
ODM customers, based on their preliminary inputs. The products we sold
are used to replace worn out slewing rings of existing machineries under
usage, or for assembly of new machineries. In the case of slewing rings
used for replacement purposes, we are able to customise our production
process to manufacture slewing rings which have already ceased
production to suit machineries which are not in production any more.
Being in a position to produce slewing rings up to the premium standard
under JIS is of significant importance to our ODM customers and this
standard is hence applicable to our slewing rings sold to our customers on
an ODM basis.

In addition, the Group manufactures for some overseas customers on an
OEM basis. Our OEM customers include leading Japanese manufacturers of
various machineries and equipments or their affiliates. Our OEM business
involves the manufacture and sale of products based on customers’
specifications and guidelines. In respect of our OEM customers, we are
usually provided with technical drawings and we are not required to
participate in the design of these products. Our OEM customers normally
provide us with all specifications and standards they require and we have
to strictly adhere to the standards required during the production process.
Slewing rings so produced will be applied by our OEM customers directly
on their heavy duty machineries. Most of our OEM customers are Japanese
manufacturers or their affiliates, which require us to produce slewing rings
in conformity to the JIS.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED sk B
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The Group also derives its revenue from the sales of our proprietary
branded products under OBM basis. We sold our OBM products under
our own brands to customers located in six locations including the PRC,
Hong Kong, Taiwan, Malaysia, the Philippines, Thailand and USA. Our
OBM customers are mainly wholesalers or traders. For slewing rings
manufactured under the OBM basis, we are in-charge of the product
packaging including its design. Similar to our ODM products, the level of
our participation in the design of slewing rings so produced depends on
whether our OBM customers will provide us with the technical details. The
slewing rings sold to our OBM customers commonly adopt a quenching
standard of JIS.

The Group sources slewing rings not manufactured by the Group for
its customers. These slewing rings are mainly models which we do
not manufacture currently as (i) they maybe of lower quality and their
production may require raw materials which we do not have; or (ii) they
are of small quantity and not commercially justifiable for us to spend
efforts on product development for such small scale productions; or (iii)
they are of sizes which we do not manufacture.

The Group has an international customer base and is able to produce
slewing rings which on one hand conform to the JIS, and at the same time
meet the requirements of both ODM and OBM customers. Because of
the Group’s edge over other suppliers, the Group attracted several new
ODM customers which contributed to the increasing revenue of both the
manufacturing and the sourcing business since 2021. These new customers
included a nominated supplier of a theme park and resort in Hong Kong,
which the Group sourced slewing rings for and delivered to the theme
park as instructed by such nominated supplier and a subsidiary of a then
listed company on the Singapore Exchange Limited which has been the
Group’s customer for over 10 years. Such group was principally engaged
in the distribution of heavy machineries and diesel engine parts and has an
international customer base. Furthermore, one of our largest customers
has enlarged its customer base and increased the demand of our larger
size slewing rings which led to the increase in our revenue and profits.
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Mechanical parts and components

To implement our business strategy to expand our slewing rings business,
we have utilised part of the net proceeds from the listing on GEM to
acquire a number of new equipments which enabled us to expand our
production capability to include manufacturing of mechanical parts
and components such as sprocket, track shoes and rollers, which are
commonly sought by our customers alongside our slewing rings. These
mechanical parts and components are manufactured on ODM basis where
our customers require mechanical parts and components to fulfil specific
functions and specifications to suit their needs. The manufacturing of
these mechanical parts and components requires production techniques
and multiple production processes which are similar to the production
of slewing rings. Depending on the quantities, our capabilities and
availability of machines as well as marketing strategies, we may either fulfil
customer’s orders by procuring semi- finished parts and components for
further manufacturing or sourcing the finished products from the market.

The expansion of our business into the sale of mechanical parts and
components is complementary to our principal business of manufacturing
and sales of slewing rings. It enables us to offer a comprehensive line of
products to our customers which had further strengthened our business
relationships with our customers, resulting in recurring purchase orders
being placed with us. The mechanical parts and components we sourced
were broad in range, including telescopic boom, clamshell, bolts, oil
seal Kits, etc. We sold over 10 different kinds of mechanical parts and
components. Similar to slewing rings, these mechanical parts and
components are consumable parts which require routine replacement
over a period of usage.
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Machineries

As a supplier of slewing rings under OEM basis to a leading machinery
and parts supplier in Japan for over 10 years, we have developed a
long term business relationship with this leading Japanese heavy duty
machinery brand and are in a position to source excavators and heavy
duty machineries directly from its affiliates. We have also developed a
long term business relationship with a long established second-hand
heavy equipment wholesaler, for over five years. To cater the needs of
our customers, upon receiving their requests, we will source both brand
new or used Japanese brand excavators for them for construction and/or
mining purposes.

With the expansion of our customer and supplier base alongside our
business operations over the years and as a supplier of slewing rings
to a number of Japanese brand machinery manufacturers, we received
requests from our customers from time to time when they were in need
of other machineries such as pile drivers, trucks and wheel loaders.
Depending on the availability of such products from our suppliers, we may
procure these machineries for them on an ad-hoc basis.

On 1 November 2024, the Group entered into the agreement (the
“Purchase Frameworks Agreement”) in relation to the purchase of heavy
duty machineries from South Wing Machinery Company Limited (“South
Wing”), which is a connected person of the Group. For details of the
continuing connected transaction, please refer to the announcement of
the Company published on 1 November 2024 and Report of the Directors
of this report. Given South Wing has over 25 years of experience with
vast and established connections in the sales of heavy duty machineries,
as well as having acted as a distributor of brand new construction
machineries from the brands of Sumitomo, IHI, Nippon Sharyo and Kubota
for resale in the South-East Asia region, including in particular Hong Kong,
Japan, South Korea and Singapore, the Group intends to mainly purchase
brand new excavators and generators from South Wing. The Directors
consider that the Purchase Framework Agreement will facilitate the Group
to acquire a range of products for resale to the Group’s customers, thus
implementing the business development plan of broadening the range of
products offered by the Group and diversifying the suppliers network.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW Rt 75168

REVENUE &

The Group’s revenue decreased by 20.3% to HK$114.6 million for the  ZAN&E BRI &S HARIBI W T £ 20.3% £ 114.6

Reporting Period, as compared to HK$143.8 million for FY2023. BEAT M_S_=HHREELA438T
BB

The following table sets forth the breakdown of quantities of products TFTRIIFEHEE_ES_MNER_E_=F+_
sold under different segments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and B =+—H It FEERED S E RATEEZB4E
2023:

For the year ended 31 December

#E+"_A=+—HLFE

2024 2023 +/(-)
—EmE —E=F
Sets (%) Sets (%) Sets (%)
E (%) E (%) E (%)
Revenue g &5
Slewing rings EEST
— ODM — ODM 1,758 2.0 4,043 93 (2,285) (56.5)
— OEM — OEM 173 0.2 86 0.2 87 101.2
— OBM — OBM 126 0.1 147 0.3 (@) 14.3)
— Others — Hith= & 330 0.4 4,816 1.1 (4,486) (93.D)
2,387 2.7 9,092 20.9 (6,705) (73.7)
Mechanical parts and components 1 Z 2B {4
— ODM — ODM 25,085 27.9 5,417 12.5 19,668 3631
— Others — HAth 62,194 69.3 28768 66.4 33426 16.2
87,279 97.2 34185 789 53,094 155.3
Machineries i
— Machineries — T 109 0.1 69 0.2 40 58.0
109 0.1 69 0.2 40 58.0
Total st 89,775 100.0 43346 1000 46,429 107.1
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For the year ended 31 December

#E+-_A=+—HLFE

2024 2023 +/(2)
—E-ME —EC=F
Tonnes’000 (%) Tonnes’000 (%) Tonnes’000 (%)
g (%) TFng (%) T-mg (%)
Minerals &4

N/A

— NICKEL ORE — 20E 100 - - 21 RiEH

N/A

Total 4zt 100 - - n AEA
The following table sets forth the breakdown of our revenue by product TFRIIEHBEE_Z_NMEFR_ZT_=F+_

segments for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

A=+—BLEERERDE 2K mEA

i

For the year ended 31 December

B#E+-A=1+—HLEFE

2024 2023 +/(-)
—EmE T =F
HK$’000 (%) HK$000 (%) HK$'000 (%)
FExT (%) TFT#EmT %) TET (%)
Revenue I &
Slewing rings EEE K
— ODM — ODM 23,629 20.6 56,718 395 (33,089) (58.3)
— OEM — OEM 353 0.3 276 0.2 77 279
— OBM — OBM 2,039 1.8 2,325 1.6 (286) (12.3)
— Others — Hfh=r % 1,040 0.9 10,983 7.6 (9,943) (90.5)
27,061 23.6 70,302 48.9 (43,241) (61.5)
Mechanical parts and components Y kesdlig g
— ODM — ODM 5,321 4.6 6,641 4.6 (1,320) 19.9)
— Others — Hth 10,989 9.6 16,972 11.8 (5,983) (35.3)
16,310 14.2 23,613 16.4 (7,303) (30.9)
Machineries i
— Machineries — T 46,878 40.9 49,864 34.7 (2,986) (6.0)
46,878 40.9 49,864 34.7 (2,986) (6.0)
Minerals =4
N/A
— NICKEL ORE — 2= 24,395 21.3 - - 24,395 @A
N/A
24,395 21.3 - - 24395 ABEH
Total 4t 114,644 100.0 143,779 100.0 (29,135) (20.3)
ANNUAL REPORT 2024 - MEFEHK
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Slewing rings

The Group manufactures slewing rings for local and overseas customers
primarily on ODM, OEM and OBM basis, and sources slewing rings not
manufactured by the Group for its customers. Revenue from slewing
rings decreased by approximately HK$43.2 million from HK$70.3 million
to HK$27.1 million for the Reporting Period, as compared to FY2023,
representing a decrease of 61.5%.

The decrease in revenue was mainly attributed to the decrease of sales of
slewing rings in the ODM and sourcing business, of approximately HK$33.1
million and HK$9.9 million, respectively, while the revenue generated in
the sales of slewing rings under OEM basis remained stable. The decrease
in ODM business was caused by a decline in the sales of products to
Japan and the Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) region by
approximately HK$31.0 million during the Reporting Period. Despite strong
tourism activity from many countries, the downturn in manufacturing,
construction, mining and property market caused by high interest rates
and impact from tight monetary policy, led to the drop in the sales of
ODM products by 2,285 units, and the total number of ODM customers
decreased from 23 in FY2023 to 21 during the Reporting Period.

The revenue generated through the slewing rings that we sourced for
our customers decreased by approximately HK$9.9 million, or 90.5%,
from approximately HK$11.0 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$1.0
million for the Reporting Period, which was mainly due to the slow down
in the demand of slewing rings from the local market and the switch
from sourcing slewing rings from us to directly ordering slewing rings
manufactured by us, as the slewing rings manufactured by us were of a
very high quality which surpassed the quality of the slewing rings sourced
by us.

The sales of slewing rings accounted for approximately 23.6% and 48.9%
of our total revenue for the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively,
and approximately 50.7% and 65.2% of the Group’s total gross profit for
the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively. The overall quantities of
the slewing rings sold during the Reporting Period decreased by 6,705
units, representing a decrease of 73.7% as compared to FY2023.
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Mechanical parts and components

The Group manufactures and sources mechanical parts and components
for customers. Such machineries and mechanical parts and components
included but not limited to excavators and undercarriage parts such as
track chains, rollers and track shoes. It complements the main line of our
business which enables our customers to enjoy a comprehensive line of
products. Revenue from the mechanical parts and components decreased
by approximately 30.9% year-on-year or HK$7.3 million, from HK$23.6
million for FY2023 to HK$16.3 million for the Reporting Period.

The decrease in revenue was mainly attributed to the decrease of sales
in sourcing business, of approximately HK$6.0 million. The decrease in
revenue of sourcing mechanical parts was mainly attributable to the
decline in the sales to customers in the Philippines, as the customers in
Philippines are mainly contractors. Caused by decline in the construction
and mining business, it led to a decline in the need of mechanical parts and
components for machineries used in the construction and mining sites.
The construction and mining activities in the Philippines were adversely
affected by strong rains and winds as the rainy season started early in
2024. The revenue from the sourcing of mechanical parts and components
to the Filipino market dropped to approximately HK$4.1 million for the
Reporting Period, as compared to HK$11.6 million for FY2023, respectively.

The revenue from the sales of mechanical parts and components on ODM
basis amounted to approximately HK$5.3 million and HK$6.6 million for
the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively. The drop in revenue for
ODM mechanical parts was mainly attributable to the decrease in the
order from the customers in Singapore. Most of the mechanical parts
imported into Singapore are eventually re-exported to other regions such
as the U.S. and Malaysia etc.

The sales for the mechanical parts and components accounted for
approximately 14.2% and 16.4% of the total revenue of the Group for
the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively, and amounting to
approximately 21.2% and 12.8% of the Group’s total gross profit for the
Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively.
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Machineries

We source heavy duty machineries, which are mainly excavators, for
our customers. Our revenue from the sales of machineries amounted to
approximately HK$46.9 million and HK$49.9 million for the Reporting
Period and FY2023, respectively. The revenue from such sales decreased
by approximately HK$3.0 million or 6.0% from HK$49.9 million to HK$46.9
million for FY2023 and the Reporting Period, respectively.

The decline of revenue of used machineries was mainly attributed to
the longer-than expected sales cycles and the postponement in the
commencement of new construction projects and completion of the
existing construction projects experienced by a number of our customers,
including but not limited to the projects concerning the third runway of
the Hong Kong International Airport. The decrease in revenue generated
from the Philippines and Hong Kong region was also attributed to the drop
in sales of the other machineries, which amounted to HK$5.5 million in
FY2023, such as articulated haulers and bulldozer, which bear a high sale
price per unit from a Hong Kong construction contractor and a Philippines
construction contractor, respectively, when we did not have such sales
during the Reporting Period.

On the other hand, despite that the decline in the orders placed by
contractor customers in Hong Kong, with the sales in used machineries
including excavators and other machineries amounted to HK$7.3 million
during the Reporting Period as compared to HK$13.0 million in FY2023,
offsetted by the increase in the sales in new machineries which amounted
to HK$19.7 million during the Reporting Period as compared to HK$10.3
million in FY2023 in the Hong Kong region.

The sales of new machineries that we sourced for our customers increased
by approximately HK$9.4 million, or 91.3%, from approximately HK$10.3
million for FY2023 to approximately HK$19.7 million for the Reporting
Period. During 2024, we were able to purchase heavy duty machineries
from South Wing, a connected person of the Group. The sales raised
from the purchase of new excavators of the Sumitomo brand amounted
to approximately HK$15.1 million for a customer which is a construction
contractor responsible for an industrial landfill construction project in Hong
Kong. Nevertheless, the gross profit margin from the sales of machineries
decreased from 26.7% in FY2023 to 10.4% during the Reporting Period.
The decrease in gross profit margin was attributed to the much lower
profit margin in the sales of new machineries when compared with the
sales of used machineries.

The sales of machineries accounted for approximately 40.9% and 34.7%
of our total revenue for the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively,
and approximately 18.6% and 21.9% of the Group’s total gross profit for the
Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED sk B

EEFEERBRAA

te

EMAZERBEELEN TEAZEK-
RBESHER_E_=FHREE > RMHEE
WM E DA A469BEBTKA998
BAT R_E_-—HEERBRSHBE
BREHENWE DA AH49.9BEBTHEL 30
BEBITHNCO%EIIB/EETT °

ERBSEa TREIEFANZZEREER
FRHRRNEERD  URHTREBRER IR
RAERREEURTRELERNER  SFEE

TRINARMEBERKS S —(RIBERNEE -
FFREEREBMEELENRTRLDTFEEAR

HAnE e &R RS- =M F
ERSSABET  flllnhREEE—FEE
HARBAR—BFREARBNRENER
BRELH ZERBBEUEES > MK
HHERMLEZSHE -

S—HE > REEEREOBETL TEMNTE
B RSB ER (BT EE R EM
) HEEAVTIEESBT M=K
BEEAB30E B BT WRSHEIHE
WHEER _E - - HFEEI0IBEETT
EIN9.7 B BB ITATIgE o

HMAEPARENMEHNIEERER -2
T oMHBEEMNNIOIEEABTIEMNILT
BET RS EREHENN197BEE
TR ZEZNE > BMEURAEERNE

BATHRRBEEEKB H—REEFE
—EIEHEERERBEENEZRAREHHRE

ERBENENIZREEFMIESHNEEROS
SIESBIT - BEWL  HIMHERNERNE
W= HFERN267% N EERSHAMH
B910.4% o B R TETH B35 E MR
BREENHEERBIHFEER -

M ERES LR EHARA ST =K
FEHFIAEUW L 40.9% K 34.7% » it 3 BllG
REPER_E_—EVREEREBREF
4AZEX918.6% K2 21.9% ©



Management Discussion and Analysis

Minerals

In the beginning of 2024, the Group decided to expand its products
coverage in sourcing to include minerals and related products. Since
the Transfer of Listing, the Group’s customers have increasingly made
enquiries on whether the Group could provide a wider scope of products,
most notably in connection with the excavation machineries used for
mining. The Group sees opportunities in the trading of minerals, and
wishes to capture such business opportunity and synergies in broadening
its business scope. It will also create more opportunities for the Group to
sell more mechanical parts and components and machineries directly to
the mine owners, thus strengthening the business base and profitability
of the Group. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a
network of supply of minerals excavated from such mines, for resale to
customers of the Group.

Our revenue from sales of minerals amounted to approximately HK$24.4
million and nil for the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively. During
the Reporting Period, the Group had negotiations with several mine
owners based in the Southeast Asia region and we were able to secure
the purchase of minerals excavated from such mines for resale to our
customers. The minerals we sold during the Reporting Period included
nickel ore, a natural mineral which is extensively used in alloying —
particularly with chromium and other metals to produce stainless and
heat-resisting steel.

The minerals accounted for approximately 21.3% and nil in the total
revenue of the Group for the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively,
amounting to approximately 9.5% and nil% of the Group’s total gross
profit for the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively.

EREwmRAh

&

RTERNEY AEEREREDEBEE
B REREY AR ER - BER LML
FEBERPHAEEESHREERSLE (LH
A BARRENZER A E g -
AEEREVEZPEIRE > THEILE
BB R BEMELUEAREEBEE - It
BNRAAEEERZHE  BEREARE
HEBZHMT MR KEMBE & E
ENEBERMBMNES - RIRSHE > &
SEERY BARMELRREYHERLS
NBETARERETR -

RESHEBAR S _=MRFE > HMHEE
BYNRED NN R 244BEBTRE R
BEPE AEERUNREIMENSZ
BEEETHER  LAEANBEBARELRK
BEEY)  EMBETER - HANKSHE
HENEYOERE  EEZARGREN
RAEY) - LHERBRHAMEE —HRNK
7 $75 806 e it 250

BYDIGREHER S = REER
EEBUWERL23% RZE > W3 BE R S H
RZEZ - HFEEREBREFBEEELN 5%
2 0% o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ZZ_HFFR

23



24

Manag_ement Discussion and Analysis

ERES RO

Geographical location

The following table sets forth a breakdown of our revenue by geographical

IR E
TRIEHSEHBR - F_ =M HFERE

location of our customers for the Reporting Period and FY2023; P IR E & BBAT -
For the year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=1+—HILEE
2024 2023 +/(-)
—E_mE —ET=F

HK$’000 (%) HK$000 (%) HK$000 (%)

F#Ex (%) FExT (%) FExT (%)

Hong Kong 5E 59,402 51.8 32,204 22.4 27,198 84.5
The Philippines JEEE 22,978 20.0 33,637 234 (10,659) 317
Singapore NI 19,200 16.7 44,043 306  (24,843) (56.4)
The PRC HF 4,785 4.2 4,261 3.0 524 2.3
N/A

The USA ESE] 2,279 19 0.0 2279  AEA
Malaysia Bk 2,174 1.9 18,006 131 (16,732) (88.5)
Vietnam e 1,796 1.6 1,670 1.2 126 75
Canada MEKX 1,142 1.0 590 0.4 552 93.6
Taiwan =01 3N 0.3 4,326 30 (4,015) (92.8)
Japan =N 188 0.2 3,974 2.8 (3,786) (95.3)
New Zealand PR 185 0.2 3 0.0 154 496.8
Others (Note) Hth (fz%) 204 0.2 137 0.1 67 489
114,644 100.0 143779 100.0 (29,135) (20.3)

Note: Others include Ireland and Thailand st : HBiEE Ml kaERE -

Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN) countries continue
to be the key market for the Group, especially the Singaporean, the
Filipino and Malaysian markets where the Group has footprints for
over 10 years. Singapore, as an international trading centre with well-
established networking is experiencing rapid urbanisation and there is a
growing demand for smart machinery. Similarly, Malaysia also serves as
an entreport in Southeast Asia. Most of the slewing rings and mechanical
parts imported into Singapore and Malaysia are eventually re-exported to
other regions such as the U.S, Europe, the Middle East, etc. We have built
a strong foundation with customers in these countries. At the same time,
the traditional demand for natural resources from forestry and mining
activities for construction and heavy equipments also benefited our Group.
Furthermore, construction machinery production in the Philippines has
grown in recent years, along with the country serving as an entrepot in re-
exporting the slewing rings to other economies.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The lack of momentum for economic recovery in certain countries,
compounded by the looming shadow of high interest rates, posed
challenges to the global business environment. The global growth is
expected to be less than moderate before recovering gradually at a slow
pace in the second half of 2024. The decrease in revenue was attributed
from Japan and other major countries in the ASEAN region and the sales
to customers of the region decreased by approximately HK$55.9 million
from HK$102.2 million in FY2023 to HK$46.3 million during the Reporting
Period. Despite strong tourism activity from many countries, the downturn
in manufacturing, construction, mining and property market were affected
by high interest rates and impact from tight monetary policy, leading to
the decrease in revenue mainly in ODM business.

As the customers in the Philippines and Malaysia are mainly contractors
and wholesalers, because of the decline in the construction, forestry and
mining businesses, it led to a decline in the need for mechanical parts and
components for machineries used in construction, resources and mining
sites. The construction and mining activities in Philippines were adversely
affected by strong rains and winds as the rainy season started early in
2024. The revenue generated from the Filipino and Malaysian markets
decreased from HK$33.6 million and HK$18.9 million for FY2023, by
approximately 31.7% and 88.5% or HK$10.6 million and HK$16.7 million to
HK$23.0 million and HK$2.2 million for the Reporting Period, respectively.

The Singaporean market has been one of the Group’s largest markets for
years, with two customers out of our top 10 customers being located in
Singapore. They are mostly traders and wholesalers, when most of our
slewing rings were sold onward to other countries such as the United
States and the Netherlands through these customers. The manufacturing
sectors in Netherlands and other European markets suffered contraction
and weak performance in 2024. This downturn was driven by a sharp
decline in new orders, particularly from international markets, with export
orders falling at a fast rate over the year, largely due to reduced demand
from other countries in the European market. Revenue generated from the
Singaporean market decreased from approximately HK$44.0 million for
FY2023 by approximately 56.4% or HK$24.8 million to HK$19.2 million for
the Reporting Period. The decrease was mainly attributed to a significant
drop in the placement of orders for slewing rings we sourced for one of
the major customers in Singapore by HK$8.8 million and at the same time,
as well as the drop in the sales of slewing rings manufactured by us of
HK$15.0 million.
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The depreciation of the Japanese currency against other major currencies
had a serious impact on import activities. The revenue generated from
the Japanese market, because of the currency situation decreased from
approximately HK$4.0 million for FY2023 by approximately 95.3% or
HK$3.8 million to HK$0.2 million for the Reporting Period.

The Group is well aware of the importance for the Group to continue
identifying new business opportunities. Revenue generated from the local
markets including Hong Kong and the PRC increased in aggregate, from
approximately HK$36.5 million for FY2023 to approximately HK$64.2
million for the Reporting Period, which was mainly attributable to (i)
the increase in sales of minerals amounted to approximately HK$24.4
million and nil for the Reporting Period and FY2023, respectively and
(i) the increase in sales of new machineries of approximately HK$9.4
million (which was mainly due to the sourcing from South Wing) for the
Reporting Period.

COST OF SALES

The following table sets out the breakdown of our costs of sales for the
years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023:

ysis

BREMEBEEENEESEDQESNEMR
BEFE - TEBEBFE > KEHEATS
HNNER TS = HFEENNI0BEET
B DE953% I8 A E BT ERSEAMBMNO0.2
BEBITe

AEBFRNGEESETBAREAEBEEZRSE
EoRBAMTE (BEESERTRH) KRG
HEHEE - —MBREENABEEET
BINEREHEBNNCI2EEET TEZ
AR ORSHBE S - =B EERYHE
EREDRIE NN 244 BEB TR ER (PR
SHIEFESE (T EHN B MRIRE) HER
N4 BEBTT

ﬁﬁ%ﬁizls

B=+— EIJJ:EEE’J@J%%E)ZKEH%E :

For the year ended 31 December

BE+-B=1+—HILEE
2024 2023 +/(-)
—E-E B4
HK$°000 (%) HK$000 (%) HK$000 (%)
F#Ex (%) THET %) FTET (%)
Cost of sales SHEmZ
Cost of inventories and FEROHFERMA
consumables 77,993 88.3 71809 86.5 6,184 8.6
Depreciation e 2,859 3.2 2,076 25 783 37.7
Overheads EIEEIDN 2,494 2.8 2,750 33 (256) (9.3
Direct labour costs BESIAAK 5,029 5.7 6,355 7.7 (1,326) (20.9)
Total st 88,375 100.0 82,990 100.0 5,385 6.5

The cost of sales primarily consists of costs of inventories and
consumables, depreciation on plant and machinery, overheads and direct
labour costs relating to its production. The Group’s cost of sales increased
from approximately HK$83.0 million for FY2023 by approximately 6.5%
or HK$5.4 million to HK$88.4 million for the Reporting Period, which was
primarily due to the change in product mix, marked by a decrease in the
sales of slewing rings (which incurred lower cost of sales),despite there
was an increase in the sales of brand new machineries and minerals (which
incurred higher cost of sales).
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Management Discussion and Analysis

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The administrative expenses of the Group decreased from HK$30.7 million
for FY2023 by approximately 43.0% or HK$13.2 million to approximately
HK$17.5 million for the Reporting Period. Such decrease was attributed to
a decrease in donation fee of approximately HK$3.0 million, a decrease in
listing expenses related to the Transfer of Listing of approximately HK$12.4
million, offsetted by the increase in depreciation charges of approximately
HK$0.3 million, an increase in salaries of approximately HK$1.3 million,
and a net increase in other administrative expenses of approximately
HK$0.6 million, as compared to FY2023. Other administrative expenses
mainly represent the provision for auditor’s remuneration and the legal
and professional fees, which assisted the Group to enhance its corporate
governance and compliance aspects.

PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO SHAREHOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

Profit attributable to equity holders of the Company was approximately
HK$6.3 million for the Reporting Period, as compared to approximately
HK$22.0 million for FY2023. Excluding the non-recurring listing expenses
related to the Transfer of Listing of approximately HK$12.4 million and
donation of HK$3.0 million, being charged to the condensed consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for FY2023, profit attributable to
Shareholders would have been approximately HK$37.4 million for FY2023.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group has financed its business with internally generated cash
flows and proceeds received from the Listing. As at 31 December 2024,
the Group’s cash and cash equivalents and pledged bank deposit were
HK$74.6 million, increased by approximately 24.3% or HK$14.6 million,
as compared with HK$60.0 million as at 31 December 2023. The increase
was mainly attributable to profit generated and net off by dividend paid
during the Reporting Period. Bank deposits and cash were principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, United States dollars, Japanese Yen
and Renminbi. The Group will continue to use the internally generated
cash flows as a source of funding for future developments.
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s total current assets and current
liabilities were approximately HK$145.1 million (as at 31 December 2023:
HK$140.0 million) and HK$30.4 million (as at 31 December 2023: HK$17.0
million) respectively, representing a current ratio of 4.8 times (as at 31
December 2023: 8.2 times). As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank
borrowings of approximately HK$9.9 million (31 December 2023: HK$8.1
million) and the gearing ratio of the Group was 9.3% (as at 31 December
2023: 5.7%). The gearing ratio was calculated by dividing total debt by
total equity. Total debt is defined as bank borrowings and lease liabilities
by the Group.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
Share Subdivision

On 17 May 2024, the Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the
Company approved the Share Subdivision of which each issued and
unissued existing ordinary share of a par value of HK $0.01 each in the
share capital of the Company was subdivided into two ordinary shares
of a par value of HK0.005 each in the share capital of the Company.
Upon the Share Subdivision became effective, 800,000,000 Subdivided
Shares are in issue and fully paid or credited as fully paid. The authorised
share capital of the Company has become HK$100,000,000 divided
into 20,000,000,000 Subdivided Shares of par value of HK$0.005 each.
Details are set out in the Company’s circular dated 15 April 2024. The
Share Subdivision became effective on 21 May 2024.

As at 31 December 2024, the share capital of the Group comprised only
ordinary shares. The capital structure of the Group mainly consisted of
bank borrowings, obligations under finance leases and equity attributable
to owners of the Group, comprising issued share capital, share premium,
retained profits and other reserves.

USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM THE LISTING ON GEM

On 15 November 2019, the Company issued a total of 100,000,000 shares
by way of Hong Kong public offering and placing at a price of HK$0.55
per share (the “Share Offer”), and successfully listed its shares on GEM of
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing”). The net proceeds of the Share Offer
received by the Company in relation to the Listing after the deduction
of underwriting fees and commissions and all related expenses were
approximately HK$28.4 million. Pursuant to the announcement dated
9 September 2020 issued by the Company (the “Announcement”), the
Board announced and resolved to change the use of the net proceeds
as set out in the prospectus. As at the announcement date, the Directors
considered that these proceeds had been applied in accordance with the
proposed application set out in the section headed “Future Plans and
Proposed Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company dated 31
October 2019 (the “Prospectus”) and as amended in the Announcement.
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Details of the revised allocation of the net proceeds, the utilisation of the ~ FRISRIEBRERKIEST DEC ~ FRBRIB S48

net proceeds as at 31 December 2024 and the balance of the net proceeds MW _ZT_MNE+_B=+—HWNHRBELK

as at 31 December 2024 are set out as follows: FIi8MIBREN _ 2 _NME+_B=+—H
BIRREEEEIBHTIANT ¢

Use of Net Proceeds FRiSFIEREARE
Amount of
NetProceeds  Amount of
utilised  Net Proceeds Total Amount of
between utilised ~ amountof  NetProceeds
Revised Revised 15 November duringthe  Net Proceeds remaining  Expected
percentage allocation 2019and  yearended utilised up to asat timeline
of Net of Net  31December 31December 31December  31December for the
Proceeds Proceeds 2023 2024 2024 2024  intended use
—E-hE
+-A+EA #z
E_E-CE ZECME EE i

+ZA +ZR ZE-mE ZECME

=t-8 =t-H +ZA +ZA

{eFRigRE BEHR tfE  =+-B  =t+-A

Bz MW ZFiR  BRZFE BRAZFAE ZBTHR
e BEZE WAESE  WESE  WERE  AABER HEREZ
BRL  EETDE &8 &8 ] &R FREE

HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TR TER TR TR TR

Toacquire and replace machineriesand — WIEE l BHAMM KRB 60.6% 1720 17,210 - 17,20 - NARER
equipment with anaimtoenhanceand ~ EH REETEEX
expand our production capacity atour S EBIEMEL
production facilities in Dongguan, the PRC

To enlarge our market share and strengthen A TIRIAER MR 44% 1,246 1246 - 1246 - NATER
our marketing efforts SHNE
Toincrease our level of automation REEFHLKTE 76% 2158 2158 - 2158 - NATER
To establish our ERP system RIUERPAH 6.0% 1704 848 856 1704 - NARER
To expand our finance department BB 50% 1420 1289 131 1420 - NARER
To enhance staff training m&ETHE 0.8% 27 16 2 27 - NATER
Working capital 2EER 15.6% 4435 4435 - 4435 - NARER
100% 28,400 27202 1198 28,400 -
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As at 31 December 2024, the Group had fully utilised approximately
HK$28.4 million of the net proceeds with no unutilized balance.

Comparison of business objectives and actual business progress

The following is a comparison between the Group’s business plans as set
out in the Prospectus which were revised on 9 September 2020, and the
Group’s actual business progress for the Reporting Period:

Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

HtBREENERE

A TETWNE+ZA=+—
HEBH284BBBILAE
RENFEERER ©

» KEBEEX
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EGERABREFERZLER

UTFa#ErEkRERE W22 22FNANE
RIER]) MAEEERH B RAERREHME
BEREBER

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2024

RZE_NFE+_A=+—HNBEREHER

To acquire and replace machineries and equipment
with an aim to enhance and expand our production
capacity at our production facilities in Dongguan, the

PRC

CR R B9 52 BY £E E 5% I 8 B s 5B HA A A R =R s AR T

EERE

To enlarge our market share and strengthen our

marketing efforts

‘AT HMHERMBEHNE
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The Group purchased 21 units of machines and fully utilised the
proceeds of HK$17.2 million attributable for such purpose. 20
of them (including high speed milling machines and raceway
guenching machines) are currently in use for our production,
while one machine is currently being tested.
AEBBBEZ+—AaBM > UXRBESAMERIET2EE
BILARLERAR HRZ+EHE (BEaRBEEKRIE
ERENEEK BRIEARRMANEE M—AEmMEAERE
Al o

In light of the COVID-19 outbreak in 2020 and the quarantine
measures implemented and travel restrictions imposed by the
PRC and other countries, the Group had withdrawn its enrolment
to several trade exhibitions and will rework its future marketing
plans.

BN -FFIRECOVID-9RTE » URFEKREMBERE
h PR B S AN M DN AR EE PR > ZEEBEUHS BREEAB SR

BT UREMGEERKREHE -

During recent years and in 2023, the Group increased the
workforce in the sales department to strengthen the sales
support. In addition, the Group hired a consultant to design the
web pages for the Group and to provide advice on promotion

strategies.
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Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

HREREENESHE

B Es R

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2024

W-E-ME+-A=+—HWEREZER

To increase our level of automation

e BEEKF

To establish our enterprise resource planning (ERP)
system
NI EEERRE (ERP) R4

The Group has worked with service providers concerning
the development of new equipments for automation and the
redevelopment of the existing equipments to enhance the
automation level. The plans included the integration of smart
automation solutions in the production process. The Group
has installed robotic arms to increase the automation level and
production in gear chamfering. The Group has also acquired an
automatic packaging machine and a CNC Coordinate Measuring
Machine. The major goals of these plans are to facilitate
production and quality control, and to reduce manual work and
process time.
AEELARBHERNSIERENBEEXRHERENMEIRSE
s RS BEMEKE - STRIBIERSEBMCHRALS R
B4 EBR AEBRCZEEMTE > LUEABEEXK
TrheEHEALEE AEBRTBEA—SBEEEKR KB
EALZREE - BRESEINEIEEEAREEERREZES
WO D PRI AF TEREEIERR o

The Group appointed a system service provider to develop a
system to enhance data management, especially in the areas
of staff attendance, payroll accounting and other aspects such
as document control, enabling the Group to track and monitor
the production process. The modules created for the systems
have been in use since late 2024, and testing of the system will
continue in 2025.

AEBEEZERARBEER > UBE—ERREAYEE
BYE LEHREETEZE  ITERERXIEEESHM S E
WrEAEEEBRAEREEBRE - ALRAMZNENE
B2 MEERKZAGE > 2" HFEREBEETRAAR -

Meanwhile, the Group has improved the current system by
increasing the capacity and efficiency in data processing.
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Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

HREREENESHE

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2024

W-E-ME+-A=+—HWEREZER

To expand our finance department

RTEH 5 ERPT

To enhance staff training
s8R 8 T/
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The Group recruited a senior accountant and an accountant
in the third quarter of 2020 and the second quarter of 2021
respectively to accommodate the increase in our business scale
and production capacities. We will continue to watch out for
high-quality candidates to strengthen the finance department,
to cope with the expanded line of businesses and revenue.
REBCHINE_EEFE=FER_E_—FE_FE
BESRGTEMRG5TE0 BN EBRE R ERNIE -
RMBEER IS REEEA > MARTHEHFINE S > UE
HEEB RN RS ENEK

During 2020 and 2021, three of our trained employees were
awarded ISO quality management system certificates.
RIZZEFERIZEI—FH> ZEININETHBE = AEIRISO

HEEERRES -

The Group prepared training courses for a number of personnel.
An employee in the quality assurance department received
training in metrology to further strengthen our quality assurance
process.

REBALZENBEEFETIRE - —BEESREBAPINE
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In 2022, we engaged a training organisation in Dongguan, the
PRC to provide training courses for our new employees.

BN 2 _FEZRPERE—HEIIIRESTESIE
HIZFIEETRE o

In 2024, our senior management underwent training in relation

to share capital management to further strengthen our

professional and compliance knowledge and practice.
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Meanwhile, in the same year, we engaged a human resources
organisation in Dongguan, the PRC to provide training courses
to our sales team and quality assurance team.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Business plan as set out in the Prospectus

HREREENESHE

B Es R

Actual business progress as at 31 December 2024

W-E-ME+-A=+—HWEREZER

To maintain sound working capital for operation
HRRERNEEES

The re-allocation of net proceeds from the strengthening of
marketing efforts to supplementing the sound working capital
for the operation of the Company will be beneficial to meet the
current operation needs of the Group, to increase its financial
flexibility, and to provide a bigger buffer to cope with the future
economic uncertainty.

REEKMAETBEENFAERIEREEN DL UMERA
RE)EEMENREREEES AN REAEEBRD
SEFE WMEMBEEE > TREELEEURMGRE
BENTHEERE -

As at 31 December 2024, the Group utilised approximately
HK$4.4 million as working capital for the research and
development of ongoing operations, including the development
of new products and services by manufacturing mechanical
parts and components for machineries besides slewing rings.
N_E_WNE+_A=+—H > xEEEHANIIBEE
o EAMERELKENZSEES R BEREREES
IR B BR 14 > B35 E R e AR TS o
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ERES RO

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not hold any significant
investment.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES, ASSOCIATES AND JOINT VENTURES

During the Reporting Period, the Group had no material acquisition or
disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures.

EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had 84 employees (as at 31 December
2023: 96 employees). Remuneration is determined with reference to
the prevailing market terms and in accordance with the performance,
qualification and experience of each individual employee. The emoluments
of the Directors are recommended by the Remuneration Committee of
the Company, with reference to their respective contribution of time,
effort and expertise on the Company’s matters. In addition, employees are
entitled to performance and discretionary year-end bonuses.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024, the Group is required to maintain an aggregate
amount of bank deposits of at least HK$20,000,000 (as at 31 December
2023: approximately HK$10,000,000) for the Group’s banking facilities of
which HK$15,000,000 was charged pursuant to the terms of the banking
facilities (as at 31 December 2023: HK$5,000,000).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus, the Group did not have other plans
for material investments and capital assets.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Foreign exchange risk is the risk of loss due to changes in foreign
exchange rates. The Group operates in Hong Kong and the PRC and is
exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to USD and RMB. Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities, which
are denominated in these currencies. Currently, the Group has not entered
into any agreement or arrangement to hedge the Group’s exchange rate
risks.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Any material fluctuation in the exchange rates of HKD or RMB may have
an impact on the operating results of the Group. The exchange rate of
RMB to HKD is subject to the rules and regulations of foreign exchange
control promulgated by the PRC government. The Group manages foreign
currency risk by closely monitoring the movement of the foreign currency
rates.

With respect to USD, the management considers that the foreign
exchange risk is not significant as HKD is pegged to USD and transactions
denominated in USD are mainly carried out by entities with the same
functional currency.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent
liabilities.

DIVIDEND

During the year, no interim dividend was paid. (2023: no interim dividend).

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the Reporting Period (2023: final dividend HK4.0 cents per share (or
equivalent to HK2.0 cents per Subdivided Share) to the shareholders,
amounting to a total sum of HK$16,000,000, was paid on 7 June 2024).

PROSPECTS

The Company has successfully transferred its listing from GEM to the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange in 2023. This remarkable achievement has
increased the profile and raised the public awareness of our Group as well
as our recognition to existing and new customers. The Group has achieved
business growth and expanded sources of income since the listing on GEM.
The Directors consider that the Main Board generally enjoys a premium
status and recognition by the public investors and customers and that the
Transfer of Listing will further promote the Group’s corporate profile and
position in the industry which will assist the Company in obtaining outside
financing and on better commercial terms. It has also greatly assisted the
Group in its business development.
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SRR EY-Sa i

The Group’s goal is to strengthen its position as a premium slewing
rings manufacturer, and to leverage on its competitive advantages as a
provider of other mechanical parts and components and machineries so
as to expand the scale of its operation and increase profit margin. The
Group also aims to increase its competitiveness in the fragmented slewing
ring manufacturing industry by (i) increasing the Group’s efficiency
and productivity; (ii) raising the quality of the Group’s products; and
(iii) reducing the Group’s costs of production and the Group’s reliance
on manpower. To achieve such objectives, the Group will continue to
implement the following strategies:

. acquiring and replacing machineries and equipment with an aim
to enhance and expand our production capacity at our production
facilities in Dongguan, the PRC;

. enlarging our market share and strengthening our marketing efforts;
. increasing our level of automation;

. establishing our enterprise resource planning (ERP) system;

. expanding our finance department; and

. enhancing staff training.

The Group is also positioned as one of the fastest growing “comprehensive
products” providers in the field. Despite there are uncertainties in the
global economy including high interest rate, slow down of development
in the PRC and the challenges faced by the Group in its principal
business, caused by the keen competition in the market and economic
uncertainties, the Group will continue to identify and look for new business
opportunities. Based on such belief, the Group expanded its products
coverage by sourcing minerals and related products as the Group sees
opportunities in the trading of minerals, and wishes to capture such
business opportunity and synergies in broadening its business scope. It
will also create more opportunities for the Group to sell more mechanical
parts and components and machineries directly to the mine owners,
thus strengthening the business and profitability of the Group. With a
proven track record and strong foothold in the industry, the Group will
remain cautious and endeavor to maintain a steady growth in its sourcing
business and continue to broaden its business scope to maximize the
return for the Company’s shareholders in the present challenging business
environment. Looking forward, the Group wishes to capture more
business opportunities and synergies in broadening its business scope and
the Directors do anticipate that the Group’s sourcing business including
minerals will continue to grow, to flexibly navigate market dynamics,
seizing market opportunities and creating diversified income streams.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Directors and Senior Management

As at 21 March 2024, the date of the Report of the Directors, the
biographical details of the directors (the “Director(s)”) and senior
management of the Company are as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (BRIE#H FE2£) ("Mr. YP Chan”), aged 45, is the
executive Director, chief executive officer and chairman of our Board, and
one of the Controlling Shareholders (as defined under the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”)) of
our Company. He is also the chairman of the Nomination Committee over
the Board. Since 2007, Mr. YP Chan has been responsible for the overall
management of our Group, including sales and business development as
well as strategic planning. He was appointed director of Kyoei HK, Kyoei
Seiki and Best Linking in June 2007, August 2007 and December 2018
respectively and was appointed Director on 26 October 2018 and was re-
designated as an executive Director on 12 March 2019

Mr. YP Chan is an entrepreneur with over 16 years of operational
experience. He was involved in the trading of machineries and spare parts
in Hong Kong and manufacture and sales of spare parts in the PRC. After
completing the advanced Japanese language course at the Japanese
Language Institute of Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan in 2004, Mr. YP Chan
worked as a sales and marketing executive in a company engaged in
distribution and exportation of confectionery and related products from
December 2004 to December 2005 in Sapporo, Japan, which enabled
him not only to further his Japanese language skill, but also gave him
the opportunity to develop his network within the Japanese business
community. After returning to Hong Kong, starting from January 2006,
Mr. YP Chan worked in South Wing Machinery Company Limited, a
company which specialised in the trading of new and used construction
machineries, with his last position as a sales and marketing executive
and gained experience in the sale and supply of heavy duty equipment
and parts industry. In September 2007, he founded Kyoei Seiki through
Kyoei HK which is principally engaged in the manufacturing and sales of
slewing rings. Mr. YP Chan has then established and maintained business
relationship with general wholesalers or traders of machineries or parts
in Asia, USA, Europe and Japan and gained valuable experience in the
manufacture and sale of spare parts for machineries.
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EFREREER

Mr. YP Chan completed his Form 7 education in Avondale College in
Auckland, New Zealand. From 1999 to 2002, Mr. YP Chan attended
Auckland University of Technology and took courses in business
computing, applied science and information technology. In March 2004,
Mr. YP Chan obtained a certificate in advanced Japanese language course
at the Japanese Language Institute of Sapporo in Sapporo, Japan.

Mr. YP Chan is the elder brother of Mr. LP Chan, who is also an executive
Director of the Company.

Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Mr. Chan Lung Pan (BRBE# Jt %) (“Mr. LP Chan”), aged 43, was
appointed an executive Director on 12 March 2019. He first joined our
Group in November 2005 as director and shareholder of Kyoei HK, an
investment holding company incorporated in Hong Kong. Mr. LP Chan
resigned from his directorship in Kyoei HK in April 2011 to pursue other
career development and rejoined our Company in March 2019 as an
executive Director. He is also the chairman of the Corporate Governance
Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee of the Board.
He is responsible for human resources management of our Group.

Mr. LP Chan has over 19 years of experience in procurement and
management. He commenced his career in South Wing Machinery
Company Limited, a company which specialised in the trading of new
and used construction machineries, in September 2003 as a trainee. He
was subsequently promoted to the post of purchase and sales manager
from 1 April 2009 to 30 September 2011, being responsible for purchase
management, inventory control, contract negotiations, department co-
ordination and complaints handling. Between 1 January 2012 and 12 March
2019, Mr. LP Chan worked as a manager overseeing purchasing and human
resources management at Pacific Infinity Resources Holdings Limited and
was a consultant of the same company from 13 March 2019 to 12 April
2019.

Mr. LP Chan attended Avondale College in Auckland, New Zealand, where
he was enrolled as an international student in Year 12 from February
1998 to November 1999. He obtained his school certificate from the New
Zealand Qualifications Authority in New Zealand in 1999 and later studied
Japanese in Tohoku Foreign Language and Tourism College in Japan from
October 2000 to March 2002.

Mr. LP Chan is the youngest brother of Mr. YP Chan, who is also an
executive Director of the Company.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Directors and Senior Management

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (BR3AE 554 ) (“Mr. Adrian Chan”), aged
46, was appointed an independent non-executive Director on 21 October
2019. He is also the chairman of the Audit Committee and a member of
the Nomination Committee and the Corporate Governance Committee of
the Board. He is responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, internal control, corporate
governance and providing independent advice to our Group.

Mr. Adrian Chan graduated from the University of New South Wales,
Australia with a bachelor degree in commerce in accounting and finance
in April 2000. He has been a member of CPA Australia and the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since June 2006 and November
2009 respectively.

Mr. Adrian Chan has over 10 years of experience in the field of corporate
finance. He started his career with Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu and worked
in the audit department of the firm from January 2000 to March 2000. Mr.
Adrian Chan then worked in various financial institutions and investment
banks between April 2000 and November 2009, including DBS Vickers
Securities from April 2000 to December 2001, with his last position as an
executive in the corporate finance department, DBS Asia Capital Limited
from January 2002 to July 2005, with his last position as assistant vice
president in equity capital markets, wholesale banking-global financial
markets, and UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited from July 2005 to November
2009, with his last position as associate director.

After leaving UOB Asia (Hong Kong) Limited in November 2009, Mr.
Adrian Chan switched his career from corporate finance to financial
management. From November 2009 to June 2015, he was the chief
financial officer of Enviro Energy International Holdings Limited (stock
code: 1102), where he was responsible for overall financial management,
internal control function and accounting function. Since July 2015, Mr.
Adrian Chan has served as the chief financial officer of Sun Ray Capital
Investment Corporation, a private investment company based in Hong
Kong, since July 2018, Mr. Adrian Chan has served as the chief financial
officer of LabyRx Immunologic Therapeutics Limited, a bio-medical
company focused on developing a comprehensive platform for treating
adenocarcinomas. Since August 2018, Mr. Adrian Chan has served as
the chief financial officer of Lifespans Limited, a medical device start-
up company, and since January 2021, Mr. Adrian Chan has served as a
regional director of The CFO (HK) Limited, a company providing part-time
chief financial officers services.
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The details of directorship held in other publicly listed companies by Mr.
Adrian Chan are as follows:

Principal business

activities of
Company name the company Stock Code  Stock Exchange Position Duration
GES ] ARMETEEHED BRORTE EERER i HAm
Grand Baoxin Auto Group Sales and service of 01293 Main Board of the Independent non-executive November 2011 to
Limited motor vehicles Stock Exchange director June 2021
BESESREEE R E R R 01293 BRMEIR BUuEpTE=x T4
BRAF +—AZE
ZET—&A
Petromin Resources Ltd. Petroleum and natural gas PTRH Toronto Venture Director, chief financial officer December 2015 to
exploration and production Stock Exchange and corporate secretary March 2018
Petromin Resources Ltd. BEHREIARBEREE  PIRH Lin% RERE BE WBEEKR “T-IE
Bzl NEWE +-R%
ZZ-N\F=A
Cheerwin Group Limited Development and 06601 Main Board of the Independent non-executive February 2021 to
manufacturing of household Stock Exchange director present
care, pet product and
personal care
HEEEERAT REEE  EAFEIER 06601 B P EMR BUFITEZ “ET—F"A
BYEBEREE 5
Regent Pacific Group Limited ~ Healthcare and life sciences 00575 Main Board of the Independent non-executive April 2023 to present
(formerly known as investments Stock Exchange director
Endurance RP Limited)
BEATEEEBRLE HFRRERESRERE 00575 B P E MR BUFITER “ETZFA
(FIBASREER 5

BRAF)
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Ms. Tsang Hau Lam

Ms. Tsang Hau Lam (B 1588 £ ) (“Ms. Tsang”), aged 51, was appointed
an independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also
a member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration Committee of
the Board. She is responsible for overseeing the areas with regard to the
strategy, policy, performance, accountability, internal control, corporate
governance and providing independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tsang graduated from The University of Melbourne, Australia with
a bachelor degree in commerce in December 1996 and a master degree
in practising accounting from Monash University, Australia in November
2000. She has been a member of CPA Australia since July 2001.

Ms. Tsang has over 26 years of experience in the field of taxation. She
started her career in PricewaterhouseCoopers in Hong Kong and had
worked with the firm from February 1997 to March 2003, with her last
position as senior consultant, where she obtained experience in tax
compliance matters. Between November 2004 and February 2007, Ms.
Tsang worked in Ross Melville PKF in Auckland, New Zealand with her last
position as tax consultant. She then rejoined PricewaterhouseCoopers in
Hong Kong as senior consultant in February 2007 and stayed with the firm
until April 2010 with her last position as manager. Between April 2010 and
April 2015, Ms. Tsang was employed by BDO Limited with her last position
as tax principal of Hong Kong tax team. Since April 2015, Ms. Tsang held
different positions in Phoenix Property Investors (H.K.) Limited, a private
equity real estate investment group and was responsible for overseeing
the tax matters, which she was a vice president from April 2015 to May
2020, and then a consultant since June 2020.
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Directors and Senior Management

EFREREER

Ms. Tam Ho Ting

Ms. Tam Ho Ting (B A] & % 1) (“Ms. Tam”), aged 46, was appointed
an independent non-executive Director on 21 October 2019. She is also a
member of the Audit Committee and the Nomination Committee and the
chairlady of the Remuneration Committee of the Board. She is responsible
for overseeing the areas with regard to the strategy, policy, performance,
accountability, internal control, corporate governance and providing
independent advice to our Group.

Ms. Tam obtained a bachelor degree in business administration from
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in May 2000. In January 2008,
she was admitted as an associate member of The Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales. Ms. Tam has been a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants since July 2009
as well as a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants since October 2015.

Ms. Tam has over 24 years of work experience in the accounting and
financial work sector. Before joining our Group, Ms. Tam worked in various
accounting firms and multi-national companies. She started her career in
the assurance and business advisory department in Moores Rowland (HK)
CPA Limited and worked there from September 2000 to December 2002,
with her last position as associate lll. From December 2002 to March 2004,
Ms. Tam worked as an assistant manager in KPMG, Hong Kong. From
April 2004 to June 2007, she worked in Hutchison Telecommunications
(Hong Kong) Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Hutchison
Telecommunications Hong Kong Holdings Limited (stock code: 215), a
company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with her final
position as senior accountant in the finance and administration division.
From June 2007 to August 2010, Ms. Tam worked in Avery Dennison Hong
Kong, B.V., with her last position as finance manager in the production and
costing sector of the financial planning and analysis department. Ms. Tam
then worked as manager in the financial analysis department in Hasbro
Far East Limited from August 2011 to August 2013. Since November
2013, Ms. Tam has provided accounting and book-keeping services to
private companies engaged in various sectors of industries in Hong Kong,
including pharmacy services and other services. In September 2018, Ms.
Tam established CT Business Services Limited which was principally
involved in the provision of accounting and book-keeping services.
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Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert (F7% 83 %4 ) (“Mr. Chan™), aged 37, joined
our Group as the chief financial officer on 1 November 2018. He was later
appointed the chief operation officer and company secretary of our Group
on 12 March 2019. He is also a member of the Corporate Governance
Committee. He is primarily responsible for overseeing overall accounting,
financial management, operation and compliance functions and company
secretarial matters.

Mr. Chan obtained a bachelor degree in commerce (accounting) from
Macquarie University in Australia in September 2009. He further obtained
a master’s degree in financial analysis from The University of New South
Wales in Australia in August 2010. Mr. Chan has been a member of CPA
Australia since December 2013.

Mr. Chan has over 12 years of work experiences in accounting and finance
covering a vast range of clientele including manufacturing and food and
beverage industries. From December 2010 to October 2013, Mr. Chan
worked in BDO Limited, with his last position as senior associate, where
he participated in the annual audit and special engagement of listed
companies in Hong Kong. From October 2013 to July 2018, Mr. Chan
worked in PricewaterhouseCoopers, with his last position as manager in
assurance practice, where he has been involved in audits for public, sizable
private and multinational companies as well as initial public offerings.

Ms. Chen Fang (% % £) (“Ms. Chen”), aged 53, is our financial
controller and assistant to the chief executive officer. Ms. Chen joined the
finance department of our Group in September 2007. She is primarily
responsible for overseeing the financial and accounting management of
Kyoei Seiki.

Ms. Chen graduated from Shaanxi Labor College (PR P8 TiE 2 [%) in the
PRC in July 1998 with a diploma in computing and accounting ( 55 14 £
EsTE ) and has over 17 years of experience in accounting work. Prior
to joining our Group, between January 2002 and December 2003, Ms.
Chen worked in Guangzhou BaiJi Engineering Machinery Parts Co., Ltd*
(BINHHETRE#MEGHBRAE) acompany which is specialised
in the sales of engineering machinery parts in Guangzhou, the PRC in the
accounting department.
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B_e ort of the Directors
EFETHRE

The directors of the Company submit their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2024.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE COMPANY’S SHARE OFFER

The aggregate net proceeds from the Share Offer (after deducting listing
related expenses borne by the Company) amounted to approximately
HK$28.4 million. The proposed application of net proceeds as stated in the
Prospectus has been adjusted according to the principles and proposed
percentage of utilisation as specified in the section headed “Future Plans
and Use of Proceeds” of the Prospectus and amended pursuant to the
announcement of the Company dated 9 September 2020. The use of net
proceeds from the Listing Date to 31 December 2024 is included in the
section “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 12 to 36.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The principal
activities of the subsidiaries are set out in Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

BUSINESS REVIEW

Business review of the Group for the Year as required by Schedule 5 of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, including a fair review of the Group’s
business, a description of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group and an indication of likely future development in the Group’s
business, can be found in the “Management Discussion and Analysis”
set out on pages 12 to 36 of this annual report and the section headed
“Risk Management and Internal Control” on page 74 of the Corporate
Governance Report in this annual report. In addition, discussion on Group’s
environmental policies and compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Group are contained in the
Environmental, Social and Governance Report on pages 80 to 134 of this
annual report. The discussion forms part of this directors’ report.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income in page 142.

During the year, no interim dividend was paid. (2023: no interim dividend).

The Board does not recommend the payment of final dividend for
the Reporting Period (2023: final dividend HK4.0 cents per share (or
equivalent to HK2.0 cents per Subdivided Share) to the shareholders,
amounting to a total sum of HK$16,000,000, was paid on 7 June 2024).
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B_e ort of the Directors
EFETHRE

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to establish entitlements to attend and vote at the forthcoming
annual general meeting (“AGM”) to be held on Friday, 6 June 2025, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Tuesday, 3 June
2025 to Friday, 6 June 2025 (both days inclusive), during which period no
transfer of shares in the Company will be effected. In order to qualify for
entitlement to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting, all transfer
documents, accompanied by the relevant share certificates, must be
lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer
office, Tricor Investor Services Limited, 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16
Harcourt Road, Hong Kong, no later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 2 June
2025.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group
are set out in Note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the articles of
association of the Company (the “Articles of Association”) or the laws of
Cayman Islands which oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-
rata basis to existing shareholders.

DONATION

Charitable donations of approximately HK$48,000 (including purchased
clearing services for HK$18,000) were made by the Group during the year
(2023: HK$3.0 million).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out in
Note 22 to the consolidated financial statements.
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Report of the Directors

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group and of the Company during the
year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity and
Notes 23 and 35 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2024, the Company had reserves available for
distribution amounting to HK$5.6 million (2023: HK$23.9 million).

LOAN AGREEMENT WITH COVENANT RELATING TO
SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

Reference is made to the announcements dated 18 June 2021 and 14 July
2022 issued by the Company with regard to a trading facility granted by
DBS Bank (Hong Kong) Limited (“DBS”).

On 14 July 2022, DBS has pursuant to its periodic review agreed to
increase the trading facility of up to HK$15,000,000 for Best Linking,
which is an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. Best Linking
and the Company, as borrower and corporate guarantor respectively,
entered into a revised banking facility letter with DBS (the “Facility Letter
A”) on terms and conditions contained therein, including right of DBS to
review the facility from time to time, customary overriding right of DBS to
demand repayment any time, as well as the right to call for cash cover on
demand for prospective or contingent liability.

Pursuant to the terms of the Facility Letter A, among other things, during
the term of the Facility Letter A, (i) Best Linking shall remain an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (ii) the Company shall procure
Mr. YP Chan to remain as the director of the Company and Best Linking;
and (iii) Mr. YP Chan shall continue to be the single largest shareholder
and hold not less than 50% of the beneficial interest of the Company and
Best Linking. As at the date of this report, Mr. YP Chan’s beneficial interest
in each of the Company and Best Linking is 75%. Please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 14 July 2022 for more details.
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B_e ort of the Directors
EFETHRE

On 28 February 2023, The Hongkong and Shanghai Banking Corporation
Limited (“HSBC”) as lender and the Company as corporate guarantor,
entered into a banking facility letter (the “Facility Letter B”) under which
HSBC agreed to make available to Best Linking a trading facility of up to
HK$16,000,000, on the terms and conditions contained therein, including
HSBC's right to review the facility from time to time, HSBC’s customary
overriding right to demand repayment any time, as well as the right to call
for cash cover on demand for prospective or contingent liability.

Pursuant to the terms of the Facility Letter B, among other things, during
the term of the Facility Letter B, (i) Best Linking shall remain an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company; (ii) the Company shall procure
Mr. YP Chan to remain as the director of the Company and Best Linking;
and (iii) Mr. YP Chan shall continue to be the major shareholder holding
more than 50% of the beneficial interest of the Company and Best Linking.
As at the date of this report, Mr. YP Chan’s beneficial interest in each of
the Company and Best Linking is 75%. Please refer to the announcement
of the Company dated 28 February 2023 for more details.

DIRECTORS

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of this
report were as follow:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam
Ms. Tam Ho Ting

Biographical details of the directors are set out in pages 37 to 43 of this
annual report.

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, one-third of the Directors shall
retire from office by rotation and shall be subject to re-election at each
AGM, provided that every Director shall retire at least once every three
years.
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Report of the Directors

Accordingly, Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan, Ms. Tsang Hau Lam and Ms.
Tam Ho Ting shall retire at the forthcoming AGM and being eligible, will
offer themselves for re-election.

The Company confirms that it has received written annual confirmation
from each independent non-executive Director concerning his/
her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and all
independent non-executive Directors are considered independent having
regard to the independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years and shall continue thereafter until
terminated in accordance with the terms of the service agreement.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a
letter of appointment with the Company for a term of one year and shall
continue thereafter until it is terminated by either party by giving not less
than one month’s written notice to the other party.

None of the directors who are proposed for re-election at the AGM
has a service contract with the Company which is not determinable
within one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
INDIVIDUALS

Details of emoluments of Directors and the five highest paid individuals
of the Group are set out in Notes 7 and 10 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS

Directors’ and Chief Executive Interests in Shares and Share
Options

As at 31 December 2024, the interests or short positions of the Directors
and the chief executives in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of
Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance of Hong Kong (the “SFO”))
which are required: (a) to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including
interests and short positions which they are taken or deemed to have
under such provisions of the SFO); (b) pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
to be recorded in the register referred to therein; or (c) to be notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”)
in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules are as follows:
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Name of substantial shareholder capacity/
nature of interest

FTERRIUR BESS HEEE

Percentage of interest

Total number of in the Company’s
share(s) held issued capital
MREATBET

FR¥s iR {3 4R 8K RN ESL

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan’s Interest in controlled corporation (Note 1)

BRIEW R E R R EBN R (a2 1)

600,000,000 shares (L) 75%
600,000,000 B &7 (L) 75%

Note I: Mr. YP Chan legally and beneficially owns the entire issued share capital of C Centrum
Holdings Limited (“C Centrum”) and is its sole director. Accordingly, Mr. YP Chan is
deemed to be interested in the Shares held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2: The letter “L” denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the directors
or chief executives had any interests or short positions in the shares,
underlying shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were
required to be notified to the Company or Stock Exchange pursuant
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interest and short
positions which he was taken or deemed to have under provision of the
SFO) or as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to the required standard of dealings by Directors as
referred to in the Model Code in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.
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Report of the Directors

Share Option Scheme

Our Company has conditionally adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”), which was approved by written resolutions passed
by its shareholders on 21 October 2019 and became unconditional on 15
November 2019. Our directors consider the purpose of the Share Option
Scheme is to reward the participants defined under the Share Option
Scheme for their past contribution to the success of the Group and to
provide incentive to them to further contribute to our Group. The principal
terms of the Share Option Scheme are summarised under the paragraph
headed “13. Share Option Scheme” in Appendix IV to the Prospectus and
in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The
following is a summary of the principal terms of the Share Option Scheme.

1.

Purpose and Participants of the Share Option Scheme

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to
employees (full-time and part-time), Directors, consultants, advisers,
distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business
partners and service providers of our Group and to promote the
success of the business of the Group. The Board is entitled to
determine and make an offer of grant of an option to any eligible
person.

The Share Option Scheme is valid and effective for a period of ten
years from the date of the grant of option.

Total number of Shares available for issue under the Share Option
Scheme

The maximum number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the Company must not exceed 10% of the total issued Shares of
the Company as at the date of listing on GEM unless the Company
obtains an approval from the Shareholders. Therefore, based on
400,000,000 Shares issued on the date of listing on GEM, the
Company may grant options of up to 40,000,000 Shares (or such
number of Shares as result from a subdivision or a consolidation
of such 40,000,000 Shares from time to time) to the participants
under the Share Option Scheme. On 21 May 2024, the Company
conducted the Share Subdivision which every issued and unissued
existing ordinary share of a par value of HKO.01 each in the share
capital of the Company was subdivided into two ordinary shares of
a par value of HKO.005 each in the share capital of the Company.
Upon the Share Subdivision becoming effective, 800,000,000
ordinary shares are in issue and fully paid or credited as fully paid.
Therefore, the Company may grant options of up to 80,000,000
Shares after the Share Subdivision.

The number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme of the
Company at any time shall not exceed 10% of the shares in issue
from time to time. No option shall be granted under any scheme of
the Company (including the Share Option Scheme) if this will result
in the limit being exceeded.
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BRE

Maximum entitlement of Shares of each eligible participant

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon the
exercise of all the share options granted and to be granted to each
participant in any 12-month period shall not exceed 1% of the total
number of Shares in issue. Any further grant of options is subject
to shareholders’ approval in general meeting with such eligible
participants and his associates abstaining from voting.

The period within which the shares must be taken up under an
option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may
determine which shall not exceed ten years from the date on which
the option is offered to an eligible participant, provided that the
period from such date shall not be more than ten years after the
adoption date of the Share Option Scheme or after the termination
of the Share Option Scheme.

The minimum period for which an option must be held before it
can be exercised

An offer for the grant must be accepted within seven days inclusive
of the day on which such offer was made.

The amount payable on acceptance of an option and the period
within which payments shall be made

The amount payable by the grantee to the Company on acceptance
of the offer for the grant of an option is HK$1.00.

The basis of determining the exercise price

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular option
granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be at such price as
determined by our Board and notified to an eligible person, and
shall be at least the highest of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date,
which must be a trading day, on which our Board passes a resolution
approving the making of an offer of grant of an option to an eligible
participant; (ii) the average closing price of the Shares as stated in
the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five trading days
immediately preceding the date of grant of the share option; and
(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of the share
option.
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Report of the Directors

8. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

Subject to earlier termination of the Share Option Scheme by the
Company in general meeting or by the Board, the Share Option
Scheme will remain valid and effective for a period of 10 years
commencing on the adoption date of the Share Option Scheme,
after which period no further share options shall be granted. All
share options granted prior to the expiry of the Share Option
Scheme shall continue to be valid and exercisable in accordance
with the terms of the Share Option Scheme.

As at the date of this report, no share option was granted, exercised,
lapsed or cancelled for the year ended 31 December 2024.

Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year ended 31 December
2024 was the Company, or any of its holding companies, its subsidiaries
or its fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable any of
the Company’s directors or members of its management (including their
spouse and children under 18 years of age) to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, or had exercise any such
rights in the Company or other body corporate.

Directors’ Interests in Transaction, Arrangement or Contracts of
Significance

Save as disclosed below and in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
in relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or holding company was a party and in which any of the
Company’s Directors or members of its management had a material
interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted in the year ended 31
December 2024 or at any time during the year.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS — SUBSTANTIAL
SHAREHOLDER’S INTERESTS

Substantial Shareholder’s Interests in Shares and Share Options

As at 31 December 2024, so far as known by the Directors, the following
persons/entities (not being a Director or Chief Executive of the Company)
had interest or short position in shares or underlying shares and
debentures of Company and its associated corporation which would be
required to be disclosed to the Company and the Stock Exchange under
the provision of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or as recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336
of the SFO, were as follows:

Name of substantial
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AB) RERB R EHABE AE IR 5 B
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EBE 2R3N IR BB AT R ZAIRE
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Percentage of interest

Total number of in our Company’s

shareholder capacity Nature of interest share(s) held issued capital

REATB#EIT
FTERRNNE BESS REEEE FRiRR 1D 488X BRI E S Lt
C Centrum ®eteD Beneficial owner 600,000,000 shares (L) 75%
C Centrum 20 BEmEBA 600,000,000 B&RZ 17 (L) 75%
Ms. Leung Tak Yee Mete2 Interest of Spouse 600,000,000 shares (L) 75%
REFL L W=D BCiRiE s 600,000,000 A% &1 (L) 75%

Note I: The entire issued share capital of C Centrum is legally and beneficially owned by Mr. YP
Chan. Accordingly, Mr. YP Chan is deemed to be interested in the 600,000,000 Shares
held by C Centrum by virtue of the SFO.

Note 2: Ms. Leung Tak Yee is the spouse of Mr. YP Chan and is deemed to be interested in all
the underlying Shares that Mr. YP Chan is interested through C Centrum by virtue of the
SFO.

Note 3: The letter “L” denotes “Long position” in such shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, no other person (other
than director or chief executive of the Company) had any interest or
short position in the Shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO
to be disclosed to the Company , or which were recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED sk B

EEFEERBRAA

BifaE1: CCentrumM 2 EE TR ABBIEW LEEE
REDER AL RIEBEBHERBERE > BRIE
WA A AR A 1S C Centrum B35 A #9 300,000,000

BRRR D PR A ©

Bfaz2 : RIEGRLRARIEWSTENRE  REZHLEY

BRG) - RAR A BRIEW K EEIBC Centrum
AREDZNFAARBRNAEA T

MiaE3s . FETLERERRONEE -
BREXPEEEIN R_ZE_MFE+_A
=+—HB > #BEEMAL (EREDESIES
TTEABRIN RAR B R SAERE IR
BEREAREBESRBAERBSEXVEER2K3
D EMFE SRR AR B BE 3 AR #R IS IR 1R EE
FRI\EIHROIFIZ6HRAREAFENET
fRpytEmaKA



Report of the Directors

PURCHASE, SALES AND REDEMPTION OF SHARES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended 31
December 2024.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

None of the Directors or their respective close associates is or was
interested in any business apart from the Group’s business that competes
or competed or is or was likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the Group’s business at any time during the year ended 31 December
2024 and up to the date of this report.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed, no other equity-linked agreement was entered into by
the Group, or existed during the year ended 31 December 2024.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 December 2024 are set out
in Note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed below and in Note 31 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group did not enter into any other connected transactions
or continuing connected transactions which is subject to disclosure
requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year
ended 31 December 2024.

Connected Transaction
The Tenancy Agreement

On 1 November 2024, Best Linking, as the tenant, and Ever Genius (Asia)
Limited (“Ever Genius”), a company incorporated under the laws of Hong
Kong and indirectly wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Wing Tin, father of Mr. YP
Chan and Mr. LP Chan, as the landlord, entered into a tenancy agreement,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to rent the Premises from Ever
Genius for a term commencing from 1 November 2024 to 31 October 2027
with an option to review for another 3 years (the “Tenancy Agreement”).
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The rent is HK$83,000 per calendar month (inclusive of government rent
and rates and exclusive of utilities and all other outgoings) to be paid in
advance on the first day of each and every calendar month during the
Term without deduction, and no less than HK$83,000 and no more than
HK$95,450 per calendar month (inclusive of government rent and rates
and exclusive of utilities and all other outgoings) for the renewal term.
The rent was determined after taking into account the prevailing market
conditions and the prevailing market rent for similar properties in the
vicinity of the Premises. The rent payable will be financed by internal
resources of the Group. The value of the right-of-use asset recognised
by the Group under the Tenancy Agreement amounted to approximately
HK$2,744,000, which is the present value of total rent payable for the
entire term of the Tenancy Agreement in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standard 16 “Leases”.

The Directors consider that the Tenancy Agreement is necessary for the
Group to continue to expand its business in the sales of mechanical parts
and components as well as machineries in Hong Kong and the South East
Asia region as it will provide ample storage space to facilitate the storage
and inspection. The Directors (including the independent non-executive
Directors) are of the view that the terms of the Tenancy Agreement are
fair and reasonable, and are on normal commercial terms or better, in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Further details of the Tenancy Agreement can be referred to in the
Company’s announcement dated 1 November 2024.

Continuing Connected Transactions
Purchase Framework Agreement

On 1 November 2024, Best Linking, as the purchaser, and South Wing,
a company incorporated under the laws of Hong Kong and indirectly
wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Wing Tin, father of Mr. YP Chan and Mr. LP
chan, as the supplier, entered into the Purchase Framework Agreement,
pursuant to which the Group agreed to purchase, and South Wing agreed
to sell heavy duty machineries for a term commencing from the Effective
Date to 31 December 2026.

To be determined by reference to the prevailing market prices of the
heavy duty machineries or substantially similar products, taking into
account of the comparable order quantities and quality offered to the
Group by other suppliers who are Independent Third Parties.

If the above is not applicable, pricing will be determined by reference to
the price of similar products previously supplied to a third party, and on
no less favourable terms to the Group comparable to those offered by
South Wing to Independent Third Parties and on normal commercial terms
comparable to those offered to Independent Third Parties in respect of the
heavy duty machineries or substantially similar products with comparable
order quantities and quality.
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Report of the Directors

During the year, approximately HK$14.4 million was paid to South Wing
for the purchase of heavy duty machineries by the Group.

The Directors are of the view that the Purchase Framework Agreement
has been entered into in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group and upon normal commercial terms or better to the Group, and the
terms of the Purchase Framework Agreement are fair and reasonable and
in the interests of the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Further details of the Purchase Framework Agreement can be referred to
in the Company’s announcement dated 1 November 2024.

Sales Framework Agreement

On 1 November 2024, Best Linking, as the supplier, and South Wing, as
the purchaser, entered into a sales framework agreement (the “Sales
Framework Agreement”), pursuant to which the Group agreed to sell, and
South Wing agreed to purchase mechanical parts and components for a
term commencing from 1 November 2024 to 31 December 2026.

To be determined by reference to the prevailing market prices of
mechanical parts and components or substantially similar products, taking
into account of the comparable order quantities and quality offered by the
Group to other customers who are Independent Third Parties.

If the above is not applicable, pricing will be determined by reference
to the price of similar products supplied by the Group to a third party
customer, and on no less favourable terms to the Group comparable to
those sold by the Group to Independent Third Party customers and on
normal commercial terms comparable to those offered to Independent
Third Parties in respect of the mechanical parts and components or
substantially similar products with comparable order quantities and
quality.

During the year, approximately HK$1.1 million was received by the Group
for the provision of mechanical parts and components to South Wing.

The Directors consider that the Sales Framework Agreement will facilitate
the Group to widen its clientele and enhance the source of revenue for the
Group. The Directors (including the independent non-executive Directors)
are of the view that the terms of the Sales Framework Agreement and
the transactions contemplated thereunder (including the annual caps) are
fair and reasonable, and are on normal commercial terms or better, in the
ordinary and usual course of business of the Group and in the interests of
the Company and the Shareholders as a whole.

Further details of the Sales Framework Agreement can be referred to in
the Company’s announcement dated 1 November 2024.
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The Board including the independent non-executive Directors has
reviewed the above continuing connected transactions and confirms that
these transactions were entered into by the Company in accordance with
relevant pricing policies, and that these transactions were conducted:

(@) inthe ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(b)  onnormal commercial terms or better; and

(c) in accordance with the relevant agreement on terms that are fair
and reasonable and in the interests of the Company’s shareholders
as a whole.

The Company’s auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing
connected transactions for the year ended 31 December 2024 in
accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance Engagements
3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagement Other Than Audits or Reviews
of Historical Financial Information” and with reference to Practice Note
740 (Revised) “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected Transactions
under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. The Board confirms that the auditor
has issued to the Board an unqualified letter confirming the matters
in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules in respect of the
continuing connected transactions disclosed above for the year ended 31
December 2024 as being in order.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions undertaken by the Group are
set out in Note 31 to the consolidated financial statements. Save as
disclosed in the section above headed “Connected Transactions and
Continuing Connected Transactions”, all related party transactions that
constituted continuing connected transactions under the Listing Rules are
exempt from reporting, annual review, announcement and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. The Group has complied with the disclosure requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

Other than the service contracts of the Directors, no contract concerning
the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part
of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during the
year ended 31 December 2024.
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Report of the Directors

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of revenue for the year attributable to the Group’s major
customers are as follows:
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Sales HeE Percentage

Bt
The largest customer RARF 13.2%
Five largest customers combined ERERGET 55.7%

The percentage of purchases for the year attributable to the Group’s major
suppliers are as follows:

AEENTEHEHREERNRBENTD
EEnT -

Purchases BE Percentage

Bt
The largest supplier BRAMER 16.3%
Five largest suppliers combined AARMHERSS 60.0%

None of the Directors, their associates or any other shareholder (which
to the knowledge of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had an interest in the major customers or suppliers noted
above.

RELATIONSHIP WITH SUPPLIERS, CUSTOMERS AND
OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

The Group understands the importance of maintaining a good relationship
with its suppliers, customers and stakeholders to meet its immediate and
long-term goals. During the year, there was no material and significant
dispute between the Group and its customers, suppliers and/or other
stakeholders.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, every Director shall
be entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all losses or liabilities incurred or sustained by him as a director of the
Company. The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and officers of the Group
throughout the year.

PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report, the Company has maintained the prescribed
public float under the Listing Rules, based on the information that is
publicly available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors.
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EFETHRE

CODE ON CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company recognises that good corporate governance is vital to the
success of the Group and to sustain the development of the Group. The
Company aims at complying with, where appropriate, all code provisions
(“Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1to the Listing Rules.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code of the Listing
Rules. Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has complied, to
the extent applicable and permissible, with all Code Provisions set out in
CG Code with the exception of Code Provision C.2.1. Code Provision C.2.1
of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive
should be separate and should not be performed by the same individual.
Mr. YP Chan currently holds both positions during the Reporting Period
and up to the date of this report. As Mr. YP Chan has been responsible
for the overall management of the Group, including strategic planning as
well as sales and business development, the Board considered that Mr. YP
Chan is the most suitable candidate to hold these two positions.

Reference is made to an announcement dated 31 March 2022 issued by
the Company. The Board has established the Corporate Governance
Committee with effect from 31 March 2022 to continue the review of the
corporate governance policy and the practices of the Company and to
ensure the Company is up to date with the latest practices.

Details of the principal corporate governance practices as adopted by the
Company are set out in the corporate governance report in pages 62 to 79
of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
New subsidiary incorporated in Japan

On 31 January 2025, Kyoei HK, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company incorporated Kyoei Corporation Japan Limited (“Kyoei JP”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Kyoei HK, in Japan. The Group would like to
broaden the sources of revenue to further develop its business to revenue
source, and to ultimately promote its goals and maximise the contribution
of revenue in slewing rings.
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Report of the Directors

Loan Agreement With Covenant Relating To Specific
Performance Of The Controlling Shareholders

Reference is made to the announcement dated 28 February 2023 issued
by the Company with regard to the Facility Letter B.

On 15 January 2025, HSBC has pursuant to its periodic review agreed to
revise the facility available under the Facility Letter B with an increased
trading facility including the finance loan and combined financing for the
Group’s operation and a packing loan of up to an aggregate maximum
amount of HK$25,800,000 for Best Linking (“the New Facility”).
Best Linking and the Company, as borrower and corporate guarantor
respectively, accepted the New Facility.

It is the intention of the Company that the New Facility will be used to
maintain the working capital of the Company and to facilitate Best Linking
to settle payments to its suppliers.

On 15 January 2025, Best Linking, as the policyholder took out the life
insurance policy with HSBC Life (International) Limited, (“HSBC Life”)
and placed an initial single premium, together with an initial single levy,
in the sum of approximately US$1,093,177.5 in aggregate (equivalent to
approximately HK$8,526,785). The policy is a life insurance policy of Mr.
YP Chan as the insured person. Best Linking is the policyholder and the
beneficiary.

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated 15 January 2025
for more details.

AUDITORS

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2024 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers,
who will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment.
A resolution for the appointment of PricewaterhouseCoopers will be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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The Board is pleased to present this Corporate Governance Report for
the Reporting Period. The Company wishes to highlight the importance
of the Board in ensuring effective leadership and control of the Company,
transparency and accountability of all aspects of operations and that the
business is conducted in accordance with applicable laws and regulations.

The Company recognises that good corporate governance is vital to the
success of the Group and to sustain the development of the Group. The
Company aims at complying with, where appropriate, all code provisions
(“Code Provisions”) of the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”)
as set out in Appendix C1to the Listing Rules.

The Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles and the Code Provisions set out in the CG Code of the Listing
Rules. Throughout the Reporting Period, the Company has complied, to
the extent applicable and permissible, with all Code Provisions set out in
CG Code with the exception of Code Provision C.2.1 as explained under the
paragraph “Chairman and Chief Executive Officer” below.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Group has adopted a code regulating the securities transactions of
Directors and executive officers named in this annual report, on terms no
less exacting than the required standard of dealing as set out in the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of the Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code”) in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules.

Specific enquiry had been made to all Directors and relevant employees.
They confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout
the Reporting Period.

The Company has also established written guidelines regulating the
transactions of securities of the Company by senior management and
employees who are likely to be in possession of any inside information of
the Company.
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Corporate Governance Report

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company
are summarised as follows:

THE BOARD
Responsibilities

The overall management of the Company’s business is vested in the
Board, which assumes the responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for promoting the success of
the Company by directing and supervising its affairs. All Directors make
decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board reserves its powers over decision of all major matters which
include, inter alia , the approval and monitoring of all policy matters,
overall strategies and budgeting, internal control and risk management
systems, material transactions (in particular those which may involve
conflict of interests of substantial shareholder(s) or Director(s)), financial
information, appointment of Directors and other significant financial and
operational matters. The Board has the full support from the executive
Directors and the senior management of the Company in discharging its
responsibilities.

The Board has complied with the requirements of the Listing Rules to
have at least three independent non-executive Directors (the “INEDs”,
each an “INED”) who represent more than one-third of the Board with at
least one of them who possesses appropriate professional qualifications or
accounting or related financial management expertise pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules.

The Board has received from each INED a written annual confirmation of
his/her independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, and the
Nomination Committee has assessed the independence of each INED. The
Company is of the view that all INEDs fulfil the relevant independence
requirement throughout the Reporting Period. Each INED will inform
the Company in writing as soon as practicable if there is any change of
circumstances which may affect his/her independence.
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Composition

The Board has a balance of skills, wealth of experiences and diversity
of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the business of the
Group.

The Board currently comprises five members, consisting of two executive
Directors and three INEDs. The balanced composition of executive and
independent non-executive members, as equal board members, upholds
the effective exercise of independent judgment of the Board.

The Board currently comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. Chan Lung Pan

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam
Ms. Tam Ho Ting

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationship
between the members of the Board, if any, are provided in the “Directors
and Senior Management” section of this annual report. Save as disclosed
in the section “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report, the
Directors have no financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships with each other.

Appointment, Re-Election and Removal of Directors

The Company has established formal and transparent procedures for the
appointment and succession planning of Directors.

All Directors are appointed for specific tenures subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years and subject to re-election at the
annual general meeting.

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for an initial term of three years, which shall be renewed
as determined by the Board or the Shareholders of the Company. The
appointment of each of the executive Directors may be terminated by
either party in accordance with the terms thereof and retirement and re-
election provisions in accordance with the Articles of Association of the
Company (the “Articles”).
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Corporate Governance Report

Each of the INEDs has accepted an appointment with the Company for
an initial term of one year and shall be automatically renewed for another
year. The appointment of each of the INEDs may be terminated by either
party giving at least one month written notice to the other, subject to
relevant terms of their respective appointments and the Articles.

Continuing Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors receive induction on the occasion of his/her
appointment, so as to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of
the business and operations of the Company and is fully aware of his/
her responsibilities under applicable laws, rules and regulations and the
Group’s various governance and internal control policies. The Company
also, at its expense, arranges and provides suitable training for its
Directors, placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and
duties of a listed company director.

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Company Secretary of the Company is responsible for maintaining and
updating records for the Directors’ training sessions. Up to the date of
this report, the Directors have participated in continuous professional
development by attending courses or studying relevant materials on the
topics related to corporate governance and recent updates of the relevant
rules and regulations.

Directors’ and Officers’ Liabilities

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance coverage in respect
of legal action against the Directors and officers against loss or liability
sustained or incurred arising from or incidental to the execution of their
duties. The insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis or on
intervals as deemed appropriate by the Board.

Board Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

According to Code Provision C.5.1 of the CG code, board meetings
should be held at least four times a year on a quarterly basis with active
participation of a majority of the Directors, either in person or through
electronic means of communication.

During the year, four regular Board meetings were held quarterly for,
among others, reviewing and approving the financial and operating
performance, including the final results for the year ended 31 December
2023, quarterly results for the three months ended 31 March 2024,
interim results for the six months ended 30 June 2024 and results for the
nine months ended 30 September 2024, connected transactions, and
considering, reviewing and/or approving the overall strategies and policies
of the Company.
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All individual Directors have attended the four regular quarterly Board
meetings (not including other ad hoc Board meetings held from time to
time and any other meeting(s) of members of the Board in compliance
with the CG Code), committee meetings and general meeting during the
year ended 31 December 2024. Attendance includes physical attendance
and attendance by telephone or video conference.

During the year, the Chairman also held a meeting with the INEDs without
the presence of other Directors.

Practices and Conduct of Board Meetings

A schedule of Board meetings dates is planned in the preceding year. At
least 7 days’ formal notice of all regular Board meetings will be given to all
Directors and all Directors are given the opportunity to include matters for
discussion in the agenda. The agenda and Board papers for each meeting
are sent to all Directors at least 3 days in advance of every regular Board
meeting.

The Company Secretary, as delegated by the Chairman, is responsible for
preparing the agendas of board meetings, taking into account any matter
the Directors may propose to include, ensuring that all Directors are given
opportunity to include matters in the agendas and approving the agendas.
To enable the Directors to make informed decisions, agendas and
accompanying papers, together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors or all committees members at least
three days before each Board meeting or committee meeting to keep the
Directors and committee members appraised of the latest developments
and/or financial position of the Company. The Board and the individual
Directors may contact the senior management to make further enquires or
when they require further information, in addition to those volunteered by
the senior management.

The Company Secretary attended all regular Board meetings and,
whenever necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on
statutory compliance, corporate governance matters and to ensure that
the Company’s policies and procedures were properly followed.

The Company Secretary is responsible for preparing and keeping minutes
of all Board meetings and committee meetings. The minutes recorded
sufficient details of the meetings including matters considered, decisions
reached, concerns raised and dissenting views expressed, if any. Draft and
final versions of minutes are circulated to the Directors for comments and
records within a reasonable time after each meeting. The final version is
kept by the Company Secretary and opened for the Directors’ inspection.
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According to current Board practice, any material transaction or matter
which involves conflicting interests of a substantial shareholder or a
Director, are dealt with by a duly convened physical Board meeting, at
which INEDs having no material interest in the transaction should be
present. Any Director or any of their close associates having material
interests in the transaction or matter shall abstain from voting and not to
be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving such transactions.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Audit
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Remuneration Committee
on 21 October 2019, for overseeing specific aspects of the Company’s
affairs. The Board has also established the Corporate Governance
Committee on 31 March 2022 to take full account of the Group’s policies
and practices on corporate governance, legal and regulatory compliance
and professional development of the Group’s management team. Each
committee was established with defined written terms of reference setting
out its authorities and duties and requiring the Committees to report back
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations (unless otherwise
restricted by applicable legal or regulatory requirements). To provide
transparency, the terms of reference of the Board committees are posted
on the Company’s and the Stock Exchange’s websites and hard copies of
the same are available to shareholders upon request.
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Each Board committee, except the Corporate Governance Committee,
consists of a majority of INEDs. Chairman and members of each Board
committee as at the date of this report are set out below:

Audit Committee

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan (Chairman) *
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Remuneration Committee

Ms. Tam Ho Ting (Chairlady) *
Mr. Chan Lung Pan**
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam*

Nomination Committee

Mr. Chan Yuk Pan (Chairman) **
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan*
Ms. Tam Ho Ting*

Corporate Governance Committee

Mr. Chan Lung Pan (Chairman) **
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan*
Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert***

Independent non-executive Director

*x

Executive Director
e Senior management

The Board committees have been provided with sufficient resources to
perform their duties and, upon reasonable request by its members, are
able to seek independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances
at the Company’s expense.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code Provision C.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be performed by
the same individual. Mr. YP Chan currently holds both positions for the
year ended 31 December 2024 and up to the date of this report. As Mr.
YP Chan has been responsible for the overall management of the Group,
including strategic planning as well as sales and business development,
the Board considered that Mr. YP Chan is the most suitable candidate to
hold these two positions.
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Audit Committee

Our Company established an Audit Committee on 21 October 2019 with
written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provisions D.3.3 and D.3.7 of the CG Code. The
Audit Committee comprises three INEDs; namely Mr. Adrian Chan, Ms.
Tam and Ms. Tsang. Mr. Adrian Chan, who has appropriate professional
qualification and experience in accounting matters, was appointed to
serve as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include, among others, the
followings:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the Company’s staff
responsible for the accounting and financial reporting function,
compliance officer or external auditor before submission to the
Board;

(b) to review the Company’s relationship with the external auditor
with reference to the work it performed, its fees and terms of
engagement, and make recommendation to the Board on the
appointment, re- appointment and, if appropriate, removal of
external auditor;

(c) toreview the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s financial
reporting system, the Group’s financial control, internal control and
risk management systems, including but not limited to adequacy of
resources available to its respective functions, staff qualifications
and experience and training programmes; and

(d) to oversee the corporate governance matters and to consider and
identify risks of the Group and consider effectiveness of the Group’s
decision making processes in crisis and emergency situations
and approve major decisions affecting the Group’s risk profile or
exposure.

The written terms of reference describing the authority and duties of the
Audit Committee was prepared and adopted with reference to the CG
Code and “A Guide for The Formation of An Audit Committee” published
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31
December 2024 to review quarterly, half-yearly and final financial results
and reports, financial reporting and compliance procedures, internal
control and risk management systems, effectiveness of internal audit
function, the auditor’s independence and objectivity. Full minutes of
the meetings are duly kept by the Company Secretary and draft and
final versions of the same have been sent to all committee members for
comments and records, within reasonable time afterwards in accordance
with the relevant Code Provisions. The Audit Committee also met with
the Company’s auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, twice during the year
and recommended its re-appointment as the Company’s external auditor
to the Board, which has taken no different view in respect of the Audit
Committee’s recommendation.

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, there was
no material uncertainty relating to events or conditions that might cast
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31 December 2024 have
been reviewed by the Audit Committee.

Nomination Committee

Our Company established a nomination committee on 21 October 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.27 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provision B.3.1 of the CG Code. The nomination
committee comprises two INEDs and one executive Director: Mr. Adrian
Chan, Ms. Tam and Mr. YP Chan. Mr. YP Chan was appointed the chairman
of the Nomination Committee. The primary functions of the Nomination
Committee are (i) to review the structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations to the Board on any proposed changes to the
Board to complement our Company’s corporate strategy; (ii) to identify
individuals suitably qualified as potential Board members and select
or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals
nominated for directorship; (iii) to assess the independence of our INEDs;
and (iv) to make recommendations to the Board on the appointment
or reappointment of Directors and succession planning of Directors, in
particular our chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company.

The Nomination Committee fulfils the function of selecting and
recommending candidates for directorship based on a number of
factors, including expertise, skills, experience, professional knowledge,
personal integrity and time commitments of such individuals, business
requirements of the Group and other relevant statutory requirements and
regulations. External recruitment agency may also be engaged to carry
out the recruitment and selection process when necessary.
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To facilitate sustainable and balanced development of the Company,
the Nomination Committee has adopted a board diversity policy (the
“Diversity Policy”), which sets out the approach to achieve diversity
of the Board. Under the Diversity Policy, the appointment and/or
recommendation for appointment will be based on objective criteria,
having due regard to the benefits of diversity of the Board, including,
among others, the candidates’ gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The Board will consider to set measurable objectives
to implement the Diversity Policy and review such objectives from
time to time to ensure their appropriations and ascertain the progress
made towards achieving these objectives. Decisions of the Nomination
Committee are based on the merits and contribution of the selected
candidates. As at the date of this report, the Board is characterised by
significant diversity, regardless in terms of age, gender, professional
experience, skills and knowledge. The Nomination Committee has also
adopted a nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) which sets out
the selection criteria and procedure of appointing and re-appointing
a Director. The selection criteria used in assessing the suitability of
a candidate include, inter alia , his/her academic background and
professional qualifications, relevant experience in the industry, character
and integrity and whether he/she can contribute to the diversity of the
Board as detailed in the Diversity Policy. The procedure of appointing and
re-appointing a Director is summarised as follows:

— nomination and invitation of suitable candidates by any member of
the Nomination Committee or the Board;

— evaluation of the candidate by the Board based on all selection
criteria set out in the Nomination Policy;

— performing due diligence in respect of each candidate and making
recommendation for the Board’s consideration and approval;

— in case of nomination of an INED, assessing the candidate’s
independence under the relevant Code Provisions and the Listing
Rules;

— where nominating an INED for election at general meetings, having
due consideration of matters under Code Provision B.3.4;

— in the context of re-appointment of retiring Directors, reviewing
the candidate’s overall contribution and performance and making
recommendations to the Board and/or the shareholders for
consideration in connection with his/her re-election at general
meetings; and

— convening a meeting of the Board to consider the appointment or
re- appointment of the candidate as a Director.
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As at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the Group’s workforce
was 70.8% male to 29.2% female. The Company has implemented
fair employment practices and recruitment is based on merit without
discrimination. We will continue to monitor and achieve a suitable and
balanced gender diversity.

As at 31 December 2024, the Board comprised of two female member and
three male member. The Nomination Committee will continue to monitor
and actively consider different aspects of diversity in the Board, and
recommend further actions or plans to the Board when necessary.

The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2024 to, amongst others, (i) review the structure, size, diversity
and composition of the Board; (ii) assess the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors; and (iii) review and recommend the
continuing adoption of the Diversity Policy.

Remuneration Committee

Our Company established a remuneration committee on 21 October 2019
with written terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.25 to 3.27 of the
Listing Rules and Code Provision E.1.2 of the CG Code. The remuneration
committee comprises two INEDs and one executive Director: Mr. LP
Chan, Ms. Tam and Ms. Tsang. Ms. Tam was appointed chairlady of the
remuneration committee. The primary functions of the Remuneration
Committee are to make recommendations to the Board on the overall
remuneration policy and the structure relating to all Directors and senior
management of our Group, review performance-based remuneration
and ensure none of our Directors is in a position to determine his own
remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee normally meets to review the remuneration
policy and structure and determine the annual remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management and other related
matters. The human resources department is responsible for collection
and administration of the human resources data and proposing the
remuneration structure and remuneration packages of the individual
executive Director and senior management to the Remuneration
Committee for consideration. The Remuneration Committee shall consider
and consult the Chairman and/or the Board about these proposals.

The Remuneration Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31
December 2024 to review and recommend the remuneration packages
of the Directors and the senior management, to establish a formal and
transparent procedure for developing policy for the remuneration of the
Directors, assess the performance of the executive Directors and approve
the terms of their respective service contracts.
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The remuneration payable to the members of the senior management by
band for the year ended 31 December 2024 is set out below:

EEELRHRS

BE_ZTNE+_RB=+—HLEFERE
ABDHRNSRERENEHMETIWT :

Number of

Remuneration bands E) FE R individuals
AE]

Nil to HK$500,000 FZFE500,0008 7T 1
HK$500,001 to HK$1,500,000 500,00178 752 1,500,000 78 7T 1

Further particulars relating to Directors’ emoluments and the five highest
paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant to Appendix D2 to
the Listing Rules are set out in Note 7 and Note 10 to the consolidated
financial statements.

Corporate Governance Committee

Reference is made to an announcement dated 31 March 2022 issued
by the Company. The Board has established a corporate governance
committee (the “CG Committee”) with effect from 31 March 2022
to continue the review of the corporate governance policy and the
practices of the Company and to ensure the Company is up to date with
the latest practices. The CG Committee is responsible for performing
the corporate governance duties and determining the relevant policies
of the Company, which includes i) developing and reviewing the
Group’s policies and practices on corporate governance and making
recommendations to the Board; ii) reviewing and monitoring the training
and continuous professional development of the Directors and the
senior management; iii) reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies
and practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements; iv)
developing, reviewing and monitoring the code of conduct, compliance
manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors; v) reviewing the
Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosures in this Corporate
Governance Report, reviewing the shareholders communication policy
and making recommendations to the Board where appropriate to enhance
effective communications between the Company and its shareholders; and
vii) reviewing and monitoring the evaluation and management of issues
related to the Company’s Environmental, Social and Governance (“ESG”)
matters.

According to the terms of reference of the CG Committee, meeting of the
CG Committee shall be held on a regular basis. The CG Committee held
one meeting during the year ended 31 December 2024. The CG Committee
reviewed and discussed the corporate governance policy of the Company
and was satisfied the effectiveness of its corporate governance policy.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board and the Directors

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and complying with other financial disclosures
required under the Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The Directors also acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December
2024.

Auditor’s Statement

The statement of the external auditor of the Company about its reporting
responsibilities on the financial statements is set out in the “Independent
Auditor’s Report” in pages 135 to 141.

Senior Management

The senior management has provided the Board with sufficient
explanation and necessary information to enable the Board to make an
informed assessment of financial and other information tabled before the
Board for approval.

Monthly updates have also been provided by the senior management to all
members of the Board to enable proper discharge of duties by the Board
as a whole as well as each member individually by giving them balanced
and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance, position
and prospects in sufficient detail.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility for the establishment,
maintenance and review of the Group’s internal control system to
safeguard shareholders’ investments and the assets of the Group. The
internal control system of the Group aims to facilitate effective and
efficient operation which in turn minimises the risks to which the Group
is exposed. The system can only provide reasonable but not absolute
assurance against misstatements or losses.
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Risk Management

The Group recognises that good risk management is essential for the long-
term development on the Group’s business. Management is responsible
for establishing, implementing, reviewing and evaluating a sound and
effective internal control system underpinning the risk management
framework. All employees of the Group are committed to implement
the risk management framework into the daily operation. The system
comprises the following phases:

— Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

— Analysis: Analyse the existing control, likelihood and consequence of
risks and evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

— Management: Consider the risk responses, and ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual risks
on an on-going basis.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has identified the following risks
and implemented relevant risk mitigation plans, details of which are set
out as follows:

— The sales and profitability of the Group’s products are dependent
on its customers’ business performance. The Group’s five largest
customers accounted for an aggregate of 56% and 57% of its
revenue for the two years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023,
respectively, and if there is any decrease in its business or if the
Group fails to maintain its relationship with them or any of them or
other key customers, this could adversely affect its business, results
of operations, financial condition and prospects. To diversify the
business risk, the Group has been active in seeking new markets and
clients during the Reporting Period.

— The Group’s profitability may be adversely affected by the
fluctuations of raw material prices. The raw materials used by the
Group in the manufacturing process are primarily forged rings, steel
balls and spacers, of which forged rings accounted for most of the
Group’s total purchases. For the year ended 31 December 2024, the
total purchases of forged rings accounted for approximately 8%
of the total purchases of raw materials for the year. The Group’s
forged rings are primarily made from gear steel and carbon round
steel. Nearly all of the Group’s raw materials are sourced from
suppliers based in the PRC. There are many factors which can
cause fluctuation in the price of raw materials from time to time, in
particular the economic conditions in the PRC, supply and demand
of raw materials and international trade. To diversify the business
risk, the Group has been taking some proactive approaches to
unexpected change in raw material prices such as understanding the
actual production capacity and the historical record of price change.
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Internal Control

The Group does not have an internal audit function as the Board has
reviewed the effectiveness of the internal control system of the Company
and is currently of the view that there is no immediate need to set up an
internal audit function within the Group in light of the size, nature and
complexity of the Group’s business. The situation will be reviewed from
time to time. The Group has engaged an external consulting firm, Infinity
Concept Ripple Limited (the “Internal Control Adviser”), as the Group’s
internal control adviser to conduct independent internal control review for
the Year.

Such review is conducted annually under a rotation basis. The scope
of review was previously determined and approved by the Board. The
Internal Control Adviser has reported findings and areas for improvement
to the Audit Committee and management. The Board and Audit
Committee were of the view that there was no material deficiency in the
internal control system. All recommendations from the Internal Control
Adviser are properly followed by the Group to ensure that they are
implemented within a reasonable period of time. The Board therefore
considered that the risk management and internal control systems are
effective and adequate.

Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company has established and maintained procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of insider information. The
Company has adopted a code of conduct for dealing in the securities
of the Company by the directors in accordance with Appendix C3 to
the Listing Rules. Other employees of the Group who are likely to be
in possession of inside information of the Company are also subject to
dealing restrictions. Any inside information and any information which
may potentially constitute inside information is promptly identified,
assessed and escalated to the Board and for the Board to decide on the
need for disclosure. Inside information and other information which is
required to be disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules will be announced
on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the remuneration paid/payable
to the Company’s external auditor, PricewaterhouseCoopers, is set out
below:

EERERHBS

Z R EmEN =
RBEE-_E-_NE+_/A=+—HIFE"
RABEINEZ SN TR K E G St E
FrEf,/ FES R EBNEI T ¢

Service Category RF5iESE HK$'000

FET

Annual audit services: FEERE 1,000

Non-audit services: JEBIRT © 207

Total 4E%E 1,207
COMPANY SECRETARY ATHWE

The Company has appointed Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert, an employee
of the Company, as its Company Secretary. He is a member of CPA
Australia. He confirmed that he has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training for the year ended 31 December 2024. The biography
of Mr. Chan Ho Chee Gilbert is set out in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” of this report.

SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS AND INVESTOR RELATIONS

As one of the measures to safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights,
separate resolutions on each and every substantial issue can be considered
and proposed to be passed by shareholders at the shareholders’ meetings
including the election of individual directors. All resolutions put forward
at a shareholders’ meeting will be voted by poll pursuant to the Listing
Rules and the poll voting results will be posted on the website of the Stock
Exchange and the Company’s website after the relevant shareholders’
meeting.

(a) Procedures for shareholders to convene an extraordinary
general meeting (“EGM”)

Shareholder(s) holding, as at the date of deposit of the requisition
for an EGM of not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company carrying the right to vote at general meetings of the
Company may, by written requisition to the Board or the Company
Secretary, require the Directors to call an EGM for the transaction of
businesses specified in the requisition. Such meeting shall be held
within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If within
21 days of such deposit, the Board fails to proceed to convene
such EGM, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so
in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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Procedures for putting forward proposals at General
Meetings

There is no provision allowing shareholders to move new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Companies Act (2023 Revision)
(as consolidated or revised from time to time) of the Cayman Islands.
However, pursuant to the Articles of Association, shareholders who
wish to make proposals or move a resolution may convene an EGM
in accordance with the “Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
EGM” set out above.

Procedures for shareholders to send enquires to the board

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board
and/or the Company Secretary by addressing them to the principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit No. 1119, 11th
Floor, The Metropolis Tower, No. 10 Metropolis Drive, Kowloon, Hong
Kong by post for the attention of the Board and/or the Company
Secretary.

Communication with Shareholders and Investors

The Company has adopted a shareholder communication policy
with the objective of providing the shareholders of the Company
with information about the Company and enabling them to engage
actively with the Company and exercise their rights as shareholders
in an informed manner.

The Company has established a range of communication channels
between itself and its shareholders, and investors. These include
answering questions through the AGM, the publication of annual,
interim and quarterly reports, notices, announcements and circulars,
the Company’s website at www.blg.hk and meetings with investors
and shareholders. News updates of the Group’s business are also
available on the Company’s website.

Share registration matters shall be handled by the Company’s Hong
Kong branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Investor
Services Limited at 17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong.

The Board regularly reviews the existing channels of communication
with the Shareholders and investors to ensure that they remain
effective and provides recommendations for improvements when
needed. The Board considers our current practices were all well-
implemented throughout the year and achieved satisfactory results.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

Pursuant to the CG Code, the Company should have a dividend policy
and disclose such policy in its annual report. The Company has adopted a
dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”), the summary of which is set out
below:

(@) In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board shall take into account, inter alia:

. the Group’s financial conditions;

. the Group’s actual and expected financial performance;

. the Group’s cash flow, working capital requirements, capital
expenditure requirements and future expansion plans;

. the Group’s retained earnings and distributable reserves;

. the Group’s liquidity position;

. general economic conditions, future prospects of the Group
and other internal or external factors that may have an impact
on the business or financial performance and position of the
Group; and

. other factors that the Board may consider appropriate.

(b) The payment of the dividend by the Company is also subject to
restrictions under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and
the Articles of Association of the Company.

(c) The Board endeavours to strike a balance between the Shareholders’
interests and prudent capital management with a sustainable
Dividend Policy.

Constitutional Documents

The Articles of Association of the Company was amended and restated
pursuant to the special resolutions passed at the AGM held on 17 May
2024. Except for the said amendments, there has been no change in the
Company’s constitutional documents during the Reporting Period and up
to the date of this report.

On behalf of the Board

CHAN Yuk Pan

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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OVERVIEW

m
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(1))

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Purpose

In accordance with the requirements of the Stock Exchange,
the Company is required to provide an Environmental, Social
and Governance Report (“ESG Report”). This is the second ESG
Report since the Transfer of Listing, which mainly introduces the
Group’s vision, policies and measures by establishing the key
performance indicators (“"KPIs”) and reporting its performance
regarding environmental and social issues for internal assessment
and management control, and communicating to the internal and
external stakeholders.

Reporting Period

This report is for the period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024 (the “2024 Reporting Period”).

Basis of Preparation

Our ESG Report is prepared in accordance with the ESG Reporting
Code (the “ESG Reporting Code”) outlined in Appendix C2 of the
Listing Rules and Guidance Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Main Board of HKEX. The content of this report includes two main
subject areas, as outlined and required by the ESG Reporting Code,
namely Area A — Environmental and Area B — Social and further
includes the disclosure of climate-change related issues, which have
or may impact the Group.

This ESG Report, which has been reviewed and approved by the
Board, both reviews and reports the core business operations and
activities of the Group and follows the principles of materiality,
guantitative, balance, and consistency to disclose relevant statistics
and information. The ESG Report was compiled in compliance
with the “mandatory disclosure requirements” and the “comply or
explain” provisions in the ESG Reporting Code.
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(IV) Corporate Goals and Visions

The Group is primarily engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
slewing rings, machinery products and mechanical parts, which are
used in large sized machinery and equipment, such as construction
and mining machineries. We produce our products on an ODM, OEM
and OBM basis from our manufacturing facility in Dongguan City,
Guangdong Province, the People’s Republic of China (the “Dongguan
Factory”), and we are compliant with the Japanese Industrial
Standards (“JIS”) and ISO 9001:2015 quality standards. The products
are sold both in the PRC and overseas to general wholesalers and
distributors and to leading overseas — mostly Japanese and local
equipment manufacturers. Each business segment of the Group has
a distinct impact on the environment and society.

The Group’s vision is to be a leading manufacturer and a “one-stop
service” provider on a sustainable basis of high-quality slewing rings
in both the PRC and worldwide. We are committed to providing
these products with a reasonable return on investments to our
shareholders, whilst being a socially and environmentally responsible
company and providing a safe, healthy, and pleasant working
environment to our employees.

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE

The Board is committed to the sustainable development of the Group and
the performance of its corporate social responsibilities. The Board believes
that focusing on resource management, occupational safety, health, and
ESG management can enhance the Group’s corporate image, reduce ESG
risks, and improve compliance with relevant laws and regulations. This, in
turn, can boost the Group’s competitiveness and promote its sustainable
business development.

The Group’s ESG philosophy is to create long-term value for its
stakeholders in alignment with the strategic development and
sustainability of its business. The Group is committed to maintaining a
rigorous corporate governance framework to promote and safeguard the
interests of shareholders and other stakeholders, thereby upholding the
Group’s credibility and reputation.
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IRIR- HERERHS

The Board continuously enhances its supervision over the Company’s
ESG governance and increases its engagement efforts. The Company
sets annual environmental targets related to its business, and the Board
regularly reviews and discusses the establishment and progress of these
targets. The Company has adopted the Hong Kong Stock Exchange
Environmental, Social, and Governance Reporting Code, under which it
carries out sustainability tasks in environmental protection, employee
welfare, and production safety.

Throughout the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group maintained the same
ESG management structure and process as the last reporting period (from
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023, “2023” or “2023 Reporting Period”).
The Board of the Group is responsible for formulating and setting goals
and targets, approving strategic direction and policies, and monitoring
performance including ESG issues. Our ESG strategies, management policy
and approach are based on compliance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, the principle of sustainability and opinions from our key
stakeholders. The Group’s visions and goals, and the ESG management
policy and approach can be summarized in the following statements:

1. The Group is committed to successfully undertaking its business,
while providing strong returns to our investors and supporters,
mitigating risks associated with our operations, ensuring a healthy
and safe working environment to our employees, and contributing
to sustainable developments for the local communities and the
Group.

2. The Board from time to time approves and updates strategies and
policies which are incorporated with the related environmental
and social issues stated in the ESG Reporting Code. The Board has
assigned each department to implement ESG policies in accordance
with the respective operations and activities. Through their normal
and routine channels, all departments report directly to the Group’s
chief executive officer (“CEQ”), who has the overall responsibility
to ensure that the Board’s approved strategies and policies are
implemented. The departments are responsible for exploring and
developing KPIs, where appropriate and necessary, in accordance
with the Group’s policies and goals.

3. It is the duty of the Group’s CEO, chief operating officer (“CO0"),
and his operation managers (collectively, the “Management Team”)
to examine and address all the environmental and social issues
detailed in the aspects and areas in the ESG Reporting Code.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Our ESG initiatives are deeply intertwined with our business strategy,
as they not only enhance our operational efficiency but also strengthen
our market position. By aligning our environmental targets with our
commitment to quality and innovation, we have been able to deliver
high-quality slewing rings that meet stringent industry standards. This
approach has not only contributed to our sustainable growth but has
also fostered long-term relationships with our stakeholders. Our efforts
in ESG management have bolstered our reputation as a socially and
environmentally responsible manufacturer, ultimately driving shareholder
value and reinforcing our vision of being a leading one-stop service
provider in the industry.

Overall, the Group takes an active role in ensuring sustainable and
environmentally friendly production and operations by employing various
measures, which are compliant with relevant laws, operating practices and
standards. The Group continues to uphold our established environmental
protection and management system. The adoption and application of the
Quality Management System (ISO 9001:2015) and JIS, have proven to be
effective in ESG management.

REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Group has compiled the ESG Report in accordance with the following
reporting principles:
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The Group has identified the materiality of ESG topics by stakeholder engagement and materiality
assessment. The details are explained in the section of “Stakeholders Communication and Materiality
Assessment”.
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Under feasible situation, the Group recorded, calculated and disclosed quantitative information and
conducted comparisons with past performance, if applicable. Details of the calculation standards/
methods for the reporting of emissions/energy consumptions are disclosed together with the data
tables in relevant sections.
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The methodology adopted for disclosing key environmental and social performance indicators is
consistent with that of the previous reporting period.
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REPORTING BOUNDARY

For the purpose of this report, the Group herein will review its core
business activities and operations in terms of their environmental
and social objectives, policies and practices, and their impacts and
performances.

Our administrative office in Hong Kong (the “Hong Kong Office”) was
relocated in October 2023. The Hong Kong Office directly uses electricity,
while the supply of freshwater for general hygiene needs of our employees
is supplied through the common facilities in the leased office. The Hong
Kong Office produces, emits, or discharges negligible amounts of polluted
water, hazardous, and non-hazardous wastes. Therefore, this ESG report
will cover the main operations and activities of the Dongguan Factory and
the Hong Kong Office, unless otherwise specified.

STAKEHOLDERS COMMUNICATION AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group maintains regular contact with the internal and external
stakeholders to gauge their views and opinions regarding the Group’s
operations and performance. After collecting the views and opinions, the
CEO and/or COO will carry out materiality assessments internally with the
related managers and externally with related stakeholders through the
stated communication channels as listed below:
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Stakeholders Communication Channels
FnE BIERE
Shareholders/Investors . General meetings
R KREE . REAE
. Information published on websites of the Group and the HKEX
. EREEKREBRZ ML EAHER
. Direct emails or phone enquiries
. EREREMRERZEN
. Dispatched documents
. T
Employees . Direct meetings with the management executives
3= . HEEBETHAEERSH
. Emails

. Annual and regular appraisal

- FEREREZ

. Organized functions and activities for the employees

. ABTHEBERBHERED
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Stakeholders Communication Channels
Fin& BIBRE
Customers . Day-to-day communication through front line staff
b= . ERFETETHEBE
. Emails
. BH
. Official websites
. B 75 G
Suppliers/Service providers/ . Day-to-day communication through front line staff
Professional advisors . BERGETETHEER

T BRFS e, SRR - Regular review of the signed arrangements by the management

- BEEYNEENZHIETERED

NGO partners . Volunteer activities
FEE T AR A RS 1 . ETEF

. Sponsors and donations

- HEBIKRIEM

Industry associations . Participation in annual and regular meetings, conferences, events, etc.
TERS . 2NEg THEE ATREHE

For 2024, the Group and the stakeholders have identified the following ATENE s REBRFHEEETUT
material areas and aspects: BEHEKER

it (BRFOENRE)

:F

5
=}

External Assessment (Impact on Stakeholders)
SR

MATERIAL EE

o

o

IMMATERIAL FEE MATERIAL B

Internal Assessment (Impact on Business) PIZBsT(i ($ 2 FEHI B2 28)
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Subject Areas

TEHER
Environmental
IRIE
Social Employment and Labour Practices
e BERSEITER

Operating Practices
EiEER

Community

HE

Subject Aspects

TEREMA

Al Emissions

Al HER)

A2.  Use of Resources

A2, EIRFIA

A3, Environment and Natural Resources
A3 IRIERBRAER

A4.  Climate Change

Ad. TIREME

Bl.  Employment

Bl. 1B

B2. Health and Safety

B2. BERZZ

B3.  Development and Training
B3. #RE&IEI

B4. Labour Standards

B4, HIIRZEE

B5.  Supply Chain Management
B5. f{HpEsREIR

B6. Product Responsibility

B6. EmEE

B7.  Anti-corruption

B7. k&S

B8.  Community Investment
BS. w&EA
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Through the Group’s established management structure, process, policies
and guidelines as aforementioned and described, the above ESG material
areas and aspects have been strictly managed and monitored and herein
are summarized below:

A. ENVIRONMENTAL AREAS AND ASPECTS

1.1

Environmental Areas Overview

As the Group understands its obligations, we have
implemented a company-wide “Environmental Protection and
Sustainability Policy and Procedures” which aims to achieve
a balance between undertaking business, maximizing returns
to our shareholders, ensuring our operations and activities
minimise any adverse impacts on the environment, and being
energy, water and resource usage efficient.

Our “Environmental Protection and Sustainability Policy and
Procedures” is summarised below:

Purpose

To establish and maintain policies and procedures to identify,
evaluate and determine the significance of environmental
aspects and impacts by and on the company and ensuring
compliance with all relevant national and local environmental
laws and regulations including but not limited to:

. Environmental Protection Law of the PRC (FRZE A RiE
MEHEIRIZREE),

. Law of the PRC on Environmental Impact Assessment

(hiE A\ RHFEIB SR ETES),

. Water Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (FREE A B
HFE AT ZBREE);

. Atmospheric Pollution and Control Law of the PRC (41
ZANRBHEMBEARSEEAEE);

. Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Pollution from Environmental Noise (FRZE A R F E
IRIGIRE S LA %),

. Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of
Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste (FRZE A RIEM
E%%E@/’waai%wj/u/f)
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. Regulations on the Administration of Construction
Project Environmental Protection (218 HIRIZ (R &
FIREBE]); and

. Cleaner Production Promotion Law of the PRC (FREE A
REMBIBZREERER).

Procedure

(i)  The Management Team shall identify and evaluate the
environmental aspects for all work activities that are
most likely to give rise to significant environmental
impacts.

(i) The Management Team shall collaborate both internally
and externally with relevant parties to classify all
relevant work activities into the following categories:

. Normal: Routine activities or tasks performed as
part of standard processes;

. Unusual: Non-routine tasks that arise under
unexpected circumstances; and

. Emergency: Events that have a significant impact

on the environment and require immediate action
such as major leakages and spillages, fires, etc.

(i)~ When identifying the environmental aspects, all activities
likely to cause environmental impact or improve general
sustainability are considered including but not limited to
the following:

. Gas emissions;

. Water discharge;

. Waste disposal;

. Land contamination;

. Sustainability and the efficient use of raw

materials, energy, water and other natural
resources;
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. Other local environmental issues; and

. National and local laws and regulations.

(iv) At least once every year, the Management Team shall
review the environmental aspects. They shall also update
these aspects regularly in accordance with new laws and
regulations, changes in organizational work activities
and processes, production systems or equipment, and
based on insights gained from incidents, accidents,
organizational or external requirements.

(v) For each environmental aspect, the Management Team
shall identify and assess the environmental impacts, and
the following shall be considered:

. Global warming;
. Water pollution;

. Air pollution;

. Waste generation;

. Land/soil contamination;
. Noise pollution; and
. Natural resources conservation.

Environmental Aspects

The Group advocates the importance of sustainable
development in relation to our on-ongoing business operations
and activities. We have employed various measures to
ensure full compliance with all relevant rules and regulations
regarding emissions, effluent water, and solid waste discharge
and to ensure minimal impact to the environment. All of our
employees are made aware of their respective roles and
responsibilities in conserving energy and natural resources and
we regularly assess new production equipment and processes
and maintain compliance with Quality Management Systems
such as ISO 9000:2015, to reduce pollution and improve
sustainability.

1.2
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IRIR- HERERHS

During the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group was not
subject to any confirmed cases for breaching environmental
legislation in relation to emissions and waste discharge or
other environmental issues that could have an adverse impact
on the local environment.

Al:  Emissions and Wastes
(i) Air Emissions

Indirect Emissions

Indirect emission, mainly carbon dioxide ("CO,")
through the use of electricity for our production,
remains to be the main source of greenhouse gas
emissions.

The table below recorded and compared the 2024
Reporting Period and the 2023 Reporting Period’s
resultant indirect air pollutant emissions:

“TETMFEREHR AEER
TEEERS RERBRBER R
BYERENHMPIEHEMIRI
EREaETENRERENIRE
ERRBVEHESDER o

Al BEREY

0,

I BE
HEE

BERBEIL

i
ABELNU R

168 (T—E16®8) 5
T B9 52 HE LAY A 0R
EREIHEERR

TREBRER-Z
“HERSEHR-T
T=HERESHMES
AU 12 2= |5 W BE

WE :

Year ended 31 December

#E+"RA=+—HLEFE

Items of emissionsNote Unit 2024 2023 Changes
HERIER oy B —®S-mE —=-=4 25
CO, indirect emission
ot g 7
— Dongguan Factoryete@ Tonnes 469.74 734.15 -36.02%
— BT REE® 7]
— Hong Kong Office Tonnes 2.00 0.40 +400.00%
—E5BMEE i
Intensity
TR
— COZ/employee in Dongguan Factory 6.18 8.25 -25.09%
—REIBR_&thi RBE
— CO,/employee in Hong Kong Office 0.15 0.04 +275.00%
- &EBMER _athBE

Note I: Emission factors for calculations in this ESG Report were Kzt BRIESZEREA » IR

made reference to the “How to prepare an ESG Report-
Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on Environmental
KPIs (version updated on 31 December 2024)” by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, unless otherwise
specified.

Note 2: Emission factors for purchased electricity sourced from

PEEREEDEHREREFBANE.
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During the 2024 Reporting Period, the Dongguan
Factory saw a significant decrease in indirect CO,
emissions compared to the 2023 Reporting Period.
This reduction was primarily due to a decrease in
production volume. Conversely, the Hong Kong
Office experienced an increase in emissions,
attributed to its relocation in October 2023. The
emissions data for the Hong Kong Office only
covered three months in 2023, which contributed
to the observed increase.

To reduce indirect CO, emissions, we have
formulated a sustainability strategy that will
continue to improve our energy saving practices,
including strictly controlling the electricity
consumption of our production facility and
investing in new production equipment and
processes. We target to lower the indirect CO,
emission per employee per year by 1-2% through
the reduction of electricity consumption per
employee.

Direct emissions

During the 2024 Reporting Period, we directly
produced CO, and hazardous sulphur oxides
("$0,"), nitrogen oxides ("NO,") gas, and
particulate matters (“PM”), from the uses of fossil
fuels including diesel fuel, petrol fuel, lubricating
oil, and liquefied petroleum gas for a forklift,
vehicles, machine tool cooling and welding.

IRIR ?iﬁ&%}éiﬁi
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The table below recorded and compared the 2024
Reporting Period and the 2023 Reporting Period’s
resultant direct air pollutant emissions:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIGs HERELRHRS

TERIEBRRER-E
THEREHAR-F
TCEREMELENE
BRERSRYIBINE :

Year ended 31 December

B#E+-A=1+—HLEFE

Items of emissions/ote Unit 2024 2023 Changes
Hengig gAEe EfiI —ECME =4 b=t
Nitrogen Oxide (NO ) Kilograms 24.40 30.40 -19.74%
EaE=KlotY) T
Sulfur Oxides (SO)) Kilograms 0.05 0.06 -16.67%
meEty T
Particulate Matter (PM) Kilograms 2.38 2.98 -20.13%
PR T T
CO, direct emission Kilograms 29,710.41 48,638.09 -38.92%
“RbIREEER T

Note 3: As a result of our efforts to improve data management,
we have separated the oxygen usage from the gas usage
for production purposes since 2023. This separation
allows for better comparability and performance tracking.

Compared to the 2023 Reporting Period, the
decrease in direct emissions during the 2024
Reporting Period can be attributed to two factors:
the reduced use of the diesel forklift and the
decreased usage of lubricating oil.

The Group has subcontracted all of our logistical
needs to external transport operators and
has increased the utilization of electric driven
production equipment. We are actively reviewing
and planning to gradually reduce the use of
fossil fuels, aiming to decrease hazardous gas
emissions by substituting electricity or other forms
of sustainable energy. In the coming year, we
target to reduce direct emissions especially those
hazardous SO, NO , PM, and CO, by 1-2%.
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Water Pollution and Discharge

During the 2024 Reporting Period, as explained in
the aforementioned “Reporting Boundary” section,
water consumption fees of the Hong Kong Office
is included in the office management fees, we
therefore do not have the consumption data for
the Hong Kong Office.

Cooling water used in our production process is
the main source of the Group’s wastewater. We
have adopted a closed circulating water recycling
system, so most of the cooling water will be
reused with minimal wastage.

Our Group does not hold any polluted water
discharge data concerning our Dongguan Factory.
All excess wastewater was required to be handled
by a third-party licensed wastewater treatment
and disposal specialist under PRC laws and
regulations.

Meanwhile, water used for general living purposes
in employees’ dormitories, canteens and offices
would be discharged through the public sewage
system.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, no complaints
nor warning notices were received.

Noise and Light Pollution Emission

The Group does not generate any noise and light
pollution to the surrounding neighbors as our
business operations and activities are conducted
inside our factory and offices, with a tailor-made
building structure. Within our factory operation, in
certain parts of the operation, noise is generated,
but the extent is far below national and industry
standard limits. To be cautious and to protect
our workers, it is compulsory that protective
equipment is worn at all times during production
activities. During the 2024 Reporting Period, no
complaints nor warning notices were received.

(i)

(i)
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(iv) Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Wastes (v) BERFEZEY

The Group has developed a natural and pollution-
free philosophy in its business where possible
and has adopted the 3-R principle — to reduce,
reuse and recycle. All employees are constantly
reminded to adopt the 3-R principle in their
handling and use of resources. Consideration is
given to recycle and reuse in the various processes
and stages of production. Procedures are in place
for properly sorting out and storing the unused
materials for resale or reuse. For example, in
respect of the scrap metal produced from our
production process, firstly, through new and
improved production processes, we reduced the
amount of scrap material produced, and secondly,
scraps are not wasted and are recycled by being
sold to approved scrap metal recyclers on a
regular basis.

The amount of hazardous wastes generated from
our manufacturing operations is insignificant and
poses no material impact to the environment. Non-
hazardous wastes generated from the production
processes are mainly scrap metal and packaging
materials — namely affixed labels, plastic film,
and kraft paper. An insignificant amount of non-
hazardous materials is also generated from non-
production areas, such as supporting offices,
dormitories, and canteens.

The amount of paper and packaging material
usage is stated in Section AZ2(iii). The table below
recorded and compared the 2024 Reporting
Period and the 2023 Reporting Period’s non-
hazardous waste:

AEECDEIBAKRE
SHRESIRERHE
BREBEET > B
ﬁ?xﬁﬁ BRﬁg\lJ Eﬂ /J'JZ
/& A (reduce) ~ B8
£ A (reuse) & [a] W &
F (recycle) » i BF ZI| 12
BrEETRRIERE
AERFEEKETIRE
B FENZEERM
P& EX 19 ot K [al U (s B
KMEEFERNRZE > I
BHIERFIUZ EPE
ftfFrEE N EERE
FERI#RL o DLAE EEIBAR
FEENESBAG

B RAIUERERN
MEERRRLESE
ES - HMELEERD
fES X HRZEEBENA
ZWREMEEE T
o EE BN o B
IEEIREERIAIEUR B o

REEEBELENESE
MHMEMSEE » KB
HIRIREMEATE °
TEBIRELNESE
% TERBETBERE
BWpRL > BMIREREAR
BREEERTRA N
SXEBRAE -BERR
EFFEEEEBELIN
BELVENEZEY) -

MR R B EE M BY(E B
EREAIDE > T&
uaﬁ&ttf_g_m
EREPR_E_=
FIREHNESEY .

Year ended 31 December

B#E+-A=+—HLEFE

Wastes Unit 2024 2023 Changes

EE1) Bl “ECmE —T=fF b=} )

Non-hazardous waste (scrap metal Tonnes 123.49 210.06 -41.21%
in Dongguan Factory)

mEEY (R LHHNESE) i

Intensity of non-hazardous waste per 1.62 2.36 -31.36%

employee (in Dongguan Factory)

BREESETEVEE REIK)
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During our production process, we use a significant
amount of steel and generate metal scraps. The
use of steel is in direct proportion to our business
turnover. The generation of metal scrap can be
reduced through new and improved production
processes. Meanwhile, we do not waste any scrap
metal as it is stored in a designated place at the
factory and will be sold to approved scrap metal
recyclers. We have commissioned a third-party
solid waste disposal operator to dispose of the
solid waste.

Mitigation Measures and Reduction Initiatives

As mentioned above, the Group does not generate
much hazardous and non-hazardous emissions and
discharges. However, as a responsible corporation,
we are conscious of the effects our operations
and activities may have on the environment and
constantly work on maximizing energy efficiency
and minimizing emissions, wastes generation,
disposal and discharges. We fully comply with
all applicable environmental laws, rules and
regulations and industrial standards in the
markets we operate in. We comply with Quality
Management Systems such as ISO 9000:2015, to
reduce pollution and improve sustainability.

To combat global warming and to reduce the
generation of greenhouse gases (“GHG”) emissions
and pollutants, we target to reduce our electricity
consumption, and have introduced measures to
achieve it. For example, we have instructed our
staff and workers to turn off electricity when our
factory and office equipment are not in use, to
use natural ventilation to replace air-conditioning
in allowable conditions, and not to set all air-
conditioners’ temperature setting to lower than
25°C under normal conditions. The Group has also
invested in energy saving tools and equipment
such as energy-saving copiers and computers
installed LED lights, encouraged employees to use
teleconferencing to reduce their travels and to use
public transport whenever possible.

(v)
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A2:

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

During the 2024 Reporting Period, same as
the 2023 Reporting Period, the Group did not
have any violation related to hazardous or non-
hazardous air emissions and wastes disposal,
polluted water discharges and we are determined
to take all necessary measures to achieve the
same results for the coming years.

Use of Resources

In terms of industrial operation, we consume various
resources including electricity, water, printing paper
and ink, packaging materials, and steel. We promote a
company-wide goal of conserving resources and have
implemented various measures to improve our resource
saving performance. Our aim is to minimize the impact
to the environment and achieve operational optimization
while complying with the relevant national and local
laws and regulations. We have established and enacted
clear environmental policies and measures designed
to ensure the efficient use of resources across our
production facilities, office administration, and employee
activities, thereby supporting sustainable development.

During each of the reporting periods, we have not
recorded any material non-compliance in respect of
any applicable laws and regulations on environmental
protection. Our Group continues to uphold our
established environmental protection and management
system. During the 2024 Reporting Period, we also
did not record any material non-compliance issue with
the applicable PRC laws and regulations in relation
to air and greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into
water and land, and the generation of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes that resulted in prosecution,
conviction or penalty being brought, made or imposed
against us.

KBEEEREZERARAE

A2:

TETYERSHEA
BB =GRS
1EE > KEBREET
MERBENEEE
REEBREYEE &
BEBUS KT A > BEY
NERE— N EIE
BRIRFEUSHERIAR ©

HEFIAE

MIFEEmMS > HMHE
FEE I~ K~ FIEI R AR A M
= BEYHKEMESE
BER - HAREBHHNERE
B/ERBER LEBHKZS
AN ESHNERENHN
B AR DRRIRIER
ERERME NEILEEEN
FFETHBERER kMt E
BUERRER - HPIESRE
e 18 6 55 Bif BY IR 1% B SR e
it EEAMFBEER
M MAETHERELED
NEJR > AL oI FESR
B o

REREHA > HFILEC
iR A RIRIERENEA
EREMEFRNERERB
e AEEEBERFRERN
BRIBREMEEGE -1 Z
TMEREH > HFITRE
LREMEAERKEER
BR BRI ~ B KA 3 BE U
REERERBESEYNE
RBHELERIERNEKRE
75 53 A T 48 2 X PR AE B
TE TR BRE] ©



O

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIE ?iﬁ&%}fa#ﬁ*

Electricity, Gas & Fuel Consumption D B MERKREBEEZ
Electricity, supplied by the local electricity grid, EHMERRENE A
is the only source of energy consumed in our PWAERBESREME
offices and dormitories, and in our manufacturing EEEMME—RETRIR o
activities.

The Group also consumed fossil fuels including NEBTVHFEHE S
diesel fuel, petrol fuel, lubricating oil, and liquefied BHE @M T RS
petroleum gas for a forklift, vehicles, machine tool IR RFTENEE

cooling and welding. The table below recorded
and compared the 2024 Reporting Period and

£l I e b i 4

RAE G SRR TE AL

the 2023 Reporting Period’s resultant energy BIREE o NRECER ML
consumption: B %E “mEHREH
R_E_ZFEREH

EEBIBERIHFE

Year ended 31 December

BE+-A=1+-HLEE

Energy Consumption'et® 2024 2023 Changes
AETRH §E 22 “ECmE  CZEC=F 1)
— Electricity Consumption (kWh) 879,886.00 1,289,009.00 -31.74%
-85 HEE (TRE)
Intensity (kWh/employee) 9,886.36 13,020.29 -24.07%
BE (TRE/&S)
—(Gas Consumption (L) 640.00 440.00 +45.45%
- ER HEEE ()
Consumption (kWh) 4,649.15 3196.29 +45.45%
HEE (TRE)
Intensity (kWh/employee)ete 61.17 3591 +70.34%
BE (TRE/{BE) MY
— Diesel, petrol and lubricating ol Consumption (Tonnes) 8.32 13.65 -39.33%
— S AHR A BREE (0F)
Consumption (kWh) 120,237.85 198,190.56 -39.33%
HEE (TRE)
Intensity (kWh/employee)Nete @ 1,582.08 2,226.86 -28.95%
BE (TRE/(g8) W&
Total Consumption (kWh) 1,004,773.00  1,490,395.85 -32.58%
&t HEE (TRE)

Note 3: As a result of our efforts to improve data management,
we have separated the oxygen usage from the gas usage
for production purposes since 2023. This separation
allows for better comparability and performance tracking.

Note 4:Only include employees located in the Dongguan
Factory.
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Compared to the 2023 Reporting Period, the
utilization of electricity in the 2024 Reporting
Period decreased by approximately 31.74%.
This reduction was attributed to a decrease in
production volume.

In contrast, the gas usage in the Dongguan
Factory increased by approximately 45.45% during
the 2024 Reporting Period compared to the 2023
Reporting Period. This rise in gas consumption
was due to the increased use of induction heat
manufacturing process for new products.

Furthermore, the Group’s fuel usage decreased
by approximately 39.33% in the 2024 Reporting
Period, attributed to the reduced use of lubricating
oil. The Group conducts regular equipment
maintenance service, routine checks, repair work,
and replacement of worn or non-functional parts
every year. According to the Company’s policy,
level 3 maintenance, which includes changing
lubricating oil, is conducted annually or after
7,200 hours of operation. Therefore, the usage
of lubricating oil is subject to volatility based on
operational conditions.

In the coming years, we plan to gradually replace
fossil fuels with electricity or other forms of
sustainable energy to reduce the generation
of hazardous gases emissions as explained
previously. For the coming year, we will continue
to encourage and monitor our employees on
energy saving practices, aiming to lower the
energy consumption by 1-2%.

KBEEEREZERARAE
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The Group recognises that investing in energy
efficiency initiatives helps us to minimise our
environmental impacts while also reducing costs.
Our production facilities and accompanying
dormitories are powered by a consistent and
sufficient supply of electricity, which is supplied
by the local electricity grid. To save energy, which
also saves costs, we have installed energy saving
LED lights and control meters and invested in the
latest energy efficient production equipment and
processes. The Group has promulgated rules and
encouraged staff and workers to use resources
efficiently and environmentally friendly including:

. Lights and equipment must be turned off if
not in use;

. Maintaining work environments at
pre-determined and energy efficient
temperatures; and

. Encouraging the use of natural ventilation
instead of air-conditioning whenever the
conditions allow.

Freshwater Consumption and Sourcing

The main consumption of water of our Dongguan
Factory comes from the production process
in cooling hot metal. Water is also used in the
employees’ dormitory for their personal use.
Our factory, offices and dormitories all use fresh
water supplied from the cities’ central water
supply network and we do not have any problem
on sourcing water and there has not been any
incident of water shortage during the 2024
Reporting Period.

(D)
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At all times we request the staff and workers to
use freshwater smartly and be responsible, as it
is one of the most precious natural resources. We
utilize internal water recycling systems where
possible and we monitor water usage patterns
constantly via the use of smart meters and our
own inspection teams who have been assigned to
ensure there is no unwarranted uses and waste.

As part of our ESG policies, we have: introduced
a closed circulating water recycling system that
allows us to reuse most of the cooling water with
minimal wastage; constantly monitored water
usage patterns through the use of smart meters
and inspection teams assigned to ensure there is
no unwarranted use or waste of water; conducted
regular leakage tests on water pipes; and installed
water-saving devices across our office premises
in our Dongguan Factory to enhance water
efficiency.

The table below recorded and compared the 2024
Reporting Period and the 2023 Reporting Period’s
resultant water consumption in the Dongguan
Factory:

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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Year ended 31 December

#E+"RA=+—HILEFE

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Water Consumption by Operation Unit 2024 2023 Changes
REERSHFEKE Bl —ES@EE —B=fF 25
— Dongguan Factory m? 3,542.00 10,429.00 -66.04%
—RREIRK

Intensity

BE

— m?3/employee in Dongguan Factory 46.61 17.18 -60.22%
—BRIBIAK BE
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The Group utilizes freshwater for both industrial REBRHKBRRL
production and daily usage in offices and EXEEURPBAENR

dormitories. Through conducting regular yearly
checks on water pipes and taps, we have
successfully identified leakages in the water pipes
at our Dongguan Factory. Once the leaks were
identified, immediate repairs were carried out.
Additionally, due to the decrease in production
volume, the Group recorded a decrease of
approximately 66.04% in freshwater consumption
during the 2024 Reporting Period.

For the coming year, we will continue to mobilize
our staff and workers to save freshwater
consumption, nevertheless continue to expand
our operations, and target a water consumption to
reduce 1-2% freshwater consumption.

Paper and Packaging Materials and Other Raw
Materials Consumption

We consider our use of packaging materials,
namely affixed labels, plastic film, and kraft paper,
as material items.

The table below recorded and compared the 2024
Reporting Period and the 2023 Reporting Period’s
raw material usage in the Dongguan Factory:

(i)

EEHREER BiBE
FIEEKE KKEERE »
HFPEMINREE LK
BIRKERLRZE
—BEIFHME > B
I BMETTIEIE © LN »
HRER TR KNER
A TE T ONFREH
RS XACHEZ R D
#966.04% °

HFIREREESER
METIRITASH
Rk BEEETEIR
R HZANAKERR
BRRAKCHFEE R A
E2%-e

R CEYHER
IR EDHFEE

HPIRIRERAT ~ B2
BEMTRESEER
MIRERERERE -

TRIEBERER-E
THEREHAR-F
TEHEREHAERR
TRREYRMEHMERE :

Year ended 31 December

BE+-RA=1+—HLFE

Raw Materials Consumption Unit 2024 2023 Changes
FEt R HiEE B —ECmME =4 EE
— Paper Tonnes 0.08 0.35 -77.14%
— R iz
— Packaging Material Tonnes 2.27 4.38 -48.17%
— B 5
Total Tonnes 2.35 4.73 -50.32%
“Et W
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As sales volume decreased during the 2024
Reporting Period, shipments also decreased,
leading to a corresponding reduction in the
utilization of packaging materials.

The amount of packaging material used is largely
dictated by our sales volume and so we are unable
to target any serious reduction in packaging
materials. We will continue to monitor our usage
and look at ways to introduce more sustainable
and environmentally friendly materials where
possible.

We consider our office paper use to be minimal,
however, to save paper consumption, we have
implemented or in the process of implementing
the following measures in our offices:

. Avoid unnecessary printing and print on
both sides;

. Use recycled papers and reuse paper-made
products such as envelopes and folders;

. Replace the use of papers by sharing and
storing information and documents in
electronic formats; and

. Adopt a company-wide cloud based working
environment including ERP system to
reduce the need for printed documentation.

The use of steel is in direct proportion to our
business turnover. The generation of scrap metal
can be reduced through new and improved
production processes and we have continuously
monitored and implemented these in trying to
achieve such reductions.

KBEEEREZERARAE
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Environment and Natural Resources

The Group’s business operations and activities do not
create significant environmental impact and hazards.
As a responsible corporation, we have implemented
our environmental protection policy and have complied
with all national and local environmental laws, rules and
regulations, and industry standards. We are committed
to conserving resources in order to reduce its impact
on the environment as well as saving operational costs.
We cooperate with the local government agencies and
support environmental organizations’ activities to build a
“green” society. The Group has also implemented green
purchasing practices and best practice technologies to
conserve natural resources, where applicable.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, freshwater, fossil
fuels, electricity and paper-based packaging materials
for normal production operation were the key elements
which were considered to have an impact on the
environment. We have continued to support all measures
to reduce, reuse, recycle, and replace as far as possible
and practicable as laid down in our Environmental Policy
and Measures. The Group did not receive any warning or
complaint notice from any governmental environmental
agencies, clients or business partners for the violation
of any environmental rules and regulations, the act of
polluting the environment or causing any environmental
troubles. For the coming year, we aim to maintain
zero complaints and no pollution occurrences, and to
explore new avenues and means to accomplish our
goals of conserving natural resources and protecting the
environment.

A3 IR
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1.3 Climate-related Disclosures

a

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Governance

Climate change has caused frequent extreme weather
and has had an impact on the business operations of the
Group. Therefore, climate change risks are considered
by our Board to be material risks and the Board is
responsible for overseeing and formulating working
mechanisms to identify, prevent and mitigate climate
change issues that may have a significant impact.

The Group understands that stakeholders expect
us to be managing and mitigating climate change
risks in line with local and global commitments and
recommendations. We recognise that the impacts of
climate change are varied and long-ranging and the risks
identified could prevent us from meeting our strategic
objectives and could result in adverse operational,
compliance and financial impacts. Thus, the Board meets
regularly to oversee our strategies and management
approaches related to climate risks and opportunities,
as well as the disclosure of information. We have
implemented a climate change policy statement to
guide our operations and reduce our impact on climate
change while strengthening our business resilience.

Climate change is mainly caused by the release of GHG
into the atmosphere, which is directly and indirectly the
result of the use of fossil fuels for electricity generation
and fuels for a forklift, machine tool cooling and
welding. As the world transitions toward a lower-carbon
sustainable economy, there are inevitable areas that
our Group can contribute to this. After discussions with
our stakeholders, we have identified energy, water and
logistics as immediate areas that we can tackle to both
combat climate change and reduce potential costs in the
future.
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Management’s Role; EEBHIEES

Oversight of climate-related risks and opportunities
is managed directly by the Board. The CEO
holds the overall responsibility for ensuring that
the strategies and policies set by the Board are
effectively implemented across the organization.

The Board is also responsible for the development
of appropriate skills and competencies through
training programs, professional development
opportunities, and assessments of current

EFCgEHREERE
HEERBRREENE
EIfF-THEHEZE
BERREFTEHE

BY R B R USRI B 18
BRI UBAMER -

EFRNAEEBE
HIstE  FERRHE
RIVEENTE 5
BERA RS BT

capabilities. This ensures that the board members MREETREKRIE
and relevant personnel are well-equipped to FAEEHEEE KE

oversee and address climate-related risks and
opportunities.

R fi AH BE R bR A 1
GHBES] ©

The Management Team, led by the COO, plays a HEEEHEENE
critical role in the governance of climate-related HE 5% ﬁ(\ fizz 48 B &
risks and opportunities. The Management Team is B R EEBNE AP

responsible for examining and addressing climate
related risks and opportunities, and day to day
implementation of policies set by the Board.

The Group utilizes various controls and procedures,
such as internal audits, performance reviews, and
sustainability reporting, to support the oversight
of climate-related risks and opportunities. These
controls and procedures are integrated with other
internal functions, such as finance, operations, and
human resources, to ensure a cohesive approach
to sustainability.

BEEER BEEK
EEFEREBEEAR
2B RE 0T RS R 118 -
UEBBHITESS
5 B FYBLER ©
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(ll) Strategy an EeE
We strive to understand the impacts brought by EMBHTHEREZLCHRK
climate change to our business operations and thus MEFRESENTE FAILF
continuously seek to advance the relevant studies, = SR #EEARR I T U R
as well as our action plans and mitigation measures. PIRNTTEh ot B M AR PR FE I ©
Subject to the on-going development of our climate- BEREHEERETFHEXE
related risk assessment and management practices, BEBNFEERE > BHME
we will further study the feasibility and practicality of E— PR R AR R E s
integrating the financial impacts of climate-related risk K B el g Es R E A B R
and other sustainability issues into our financial planning SR EBLSEHMN AT R
at the corporate and project levels. BEEEENYHERE G

THEKRERM -

Physical Acute Risk TSt R s
The Group has identified extreme weather such as AEBEH#FIER ~ B
typhoons, heavy rain, thunder and lightning and EERHEKETTERNERS
flooding that can cause physical acute risk. The 4 &\ B A9 R U K SR © BT BE
potential consequences include delivery or shipment ENBREIERENEIEIL
delay as well as damage to documents, equipment and BUEXH - REEEREE
even employees’ health and life. The above potential NEEREGESIEE - L
consequences will cause economic losses to and MOISEEAMNBREGHAE
increase operating costs of the Group. B 55 Bl A 18 S W BB AR AR
AN o
The Group has established different measures as below ATERR KR E 2R lRiG KR
to prevent and minimize the negative effect of extreme WAFEE, KEBEBSHITE
weather. DUF & 1EHE I o

Physical Acute Risk
EESEAR
Extreme weather

AR i S 1%

Typhoons
[z

106 BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Preventative and mitigation measures

TAPA R 42 AR5 B

— Attach duct tapes to windows to avoid damage

— BRRABHRE BRiaE

— Move equipment to safety areas in advance

- RARRBEEBEZZEE

— Reinforce equipment and components that may be blown away

—  INEEAEE R MER R EFER

— Inform and negotiate with clients and third-party suppliers of
potential delays in advance

—  IEENEALNE = S HER LG EBENLER

— Arrange work from home for staff according to the guidelines of local
observatory

- REEMHRXENESIZHETIERIE

KBEEEREZERARAE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Physical Acute Risk
BERSMAR

Extreme weather

1B i 5= 1%

Heavy Rain and Flooding
RERFIAH K

Thunder and Lightning

[S=l=E]
====h

IRIR ?iﬁ&%}éiﬁi

Preventative and mitigation measures

TR R 4R AR AR TE

— Check that all windows are shut as secure as possible

— BEMEREFRRTEEMZ2REE

- Reinforce equipment and assets which may be damaged or blown
away

—  INETAEE IR M EN R BN EE

— Arrange work from home for staff according to the guidelines of local
observatory

- REEMREHIESIZHETIERTIEF

— Keep good conditions of earthing devices
— FEBRMEEERREFRR
— Remind employees to save data and turn off computers

- REBTIREFHELEAMTER

Physical Chronic Risk FiE et R e

The Group has identified extreme weather such as AEBERETENERIS
sustained high temperature during the year could cause 4 & Bes A9 iR U K SR 0 e —
physical chronic risk. The potential consequences include FHFHENS R EBIEER
a higher chance of getting heatstroke for employees, BEEIHRS&EEN, 8
increasing turnover rate and work-related injuries. The TREAE LA KR TEEHIE
demand for cooling for the working environment will e TRRIEMNEIS F R
be increased, which may lead to an increase in power IR AIAEERAEREN
demand and operating costs of the Group. BHEREER AL o
The Group has established different measures as below AEBEEFTUTLIER
to prevent and minimize the negative effects of extreme i > LATE RS ke 55 0 gE R D il
weather. mARNEmEE -

Physical Chronic Risk
BEREMARE
Extreme weather

1BiR K R

Sustained high temperature

& = <&

}Tnﬁﬁ/

Preventative and mitigation measures

TARA R 4R AR AR TE

— Keep a First-aid kit convenient
—EREMESENA

— Keep cold water available 24 hours a day
— 2R 24/NFFHE LK

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ZZ_HFFR

107



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIGs HERELRHRS

Climate-related Transition Risk AR B R 5

Transition risk Risk description Potential Business Impact Mitigation Measures
BERR LB BEEBTE LRIRIE
Legaland Local governments may enforce —  Increase operation —  Regular review of relevant
policy risk stricter carbon emission reduction cost and potential for legislation
policies, potentially raising the litigation. - Set up near term target to
carbon emission costs for enterprises’ demonstrate the Group’s

production and operations. This decarbonization effort.
includes changes to government

policies, laws, and regulations, such

as carbon pricing and renewable

electricity pricing.

FRERBRER  MARMTRTERENAEER - ENEERANER EHERERILE
R OGRS EREELSHMK EENG - REMHER MEREK
P - BREBRFERK  ERR EBRBHRSE

ERIEE > BIREEBRAIBE

108

BENEB-

Technology Risk ~ Technological improvements that - Failing to upgrade - Explore new technologies,
support the transition to a lower- to more efficient, sustainable materials, and
carbon system. sustainable, or production techniques.

automated technologies

could result in — Adapt to changes in the

higher operation cost and availability of raw

costs and reduced materials (such as carbon-

competitiveness. neutral steel) and utilities
like renewable electricity,
water, and gas, including the
relevant costs of securing
and maintaining sufficient
supply.

B Rk S REBERRRIBE NS EREABRAEEN -  BRWEN - IS

Z OFHEERAA A4 ER A o

LAV > FIREE

BREERALAR - BEEREME GOREE)

HEITE - URBEEN KRR
EYUNZEE LN wN -l
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Transition risk

BRRR

Market an

reputation risk

mEKRE

d

]]H}E:"r

2N

Risk description

BB

Customers have increasingly strict
requirements for carbon emission
management of their suppliers, while
the decarbonization of products and
services may become an important
standard for customers to choose
from. Products that are not low-carbon
may lead to a decrease in demand.

There are stricter requirements

for transparent carbon emissions
information, and enterprises need

to increase investment in the
management of related performance.
Poor performance in climate
information disclosure may lead to
reputation damage, declined stock
price, or difficulties in financing.

ZRHHEBNRIFNEEREXA
BER  EmRRBHORKAAEMR
REFEENERRE IJESE
RABHERB RO TRE

WHFMENEREEREMEE -
TEREMHARENEENRA o
RIEENBERRTMEIEETER
BEXE RETHRABENE

Potential Business Impact

EEEERE

There will be a risk of
adecline in sales and
reputation if end-user is
getting more prefer on
environmentally friendly
products or services
and we do not have
these options for our
customers.

MRKIHBREE R
FIRRERIRE
mEMPLEAZR
RUZTES > QI8
ERBENGHE TR
R o

Mitigation Measures

R

Expand the product range to
cater to a broader audience
and adapt to changing
customer preferences,
including eco-friendly and
ethically produced lines

to attract environmentally
CONSCIOUS consumers.

Obtain environmental
related certifications like to
demonstrate commitment to
sustainability.

Adopt environmentally
friendly production
processes, such as water
recycling systems, and
waste reduction & circularity
programs.
BAEREBEMIAEE
TR BT EE
ENERRET > BERRF
REFEENEES MU
5| EERARHEE
&o

%E—ifaiﬂﬁ i E’] uzqu ’
MEPAHAIFEEREMN
(5E o

"
J

s

.m

RRERNEETE 1
KEBRARALENR
BEAEHE -
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Climate-related Opportunities

The Group recognizes that climate change not only
presents a range of physical and transitional risks, but
also provides emerging opportunities for our businesses.
Measures such as improving energy efficiency, increasing
the utilization of renewable energy, transitioning to
sustainable resource management practices, and
adopting green and low-carbon technologies have not
only resulted in direct cost savings but also a reduction
in energy expenses.

Looking ahead, we anticipate the opportunities that will
arise from long-term regulatory frameworks and carbon
trading. These mechanisms will enable us to explore
alternative approaches to combat climate change,
leveraging sustainable financial instruments. As the
global economy transitions towards carbon neutrality,
we remain committed to assessing and managing the
climate-related risks and opportunities associated with
our business.

Risk Management

We have updated the assessment methodology through
a climate scenario analysis to reassess climate risks and
opportunities across our operations in the PRC under
two consolidated scenarios in accordance with Task
Force on Climate-related Financial Disclosure (“TCFD”)
recommendations. The two consolidated climate
scenarios are constructed based on public available
scenarios which include Intergovernmental Panel on
Climate Change (“IPCC”), International Energy Agency
("IEA”) and Network for Greening the Financial System
(“NGFS”). Based on the revaluation of our climate risk
assessment results, we have updated our mitigation
measures across various operational area. The following
outlines the scenarios and assumptions employed during
our climate risk assessment.
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Consolidated Scenario

REESR

Timeframe

B 6

Global Mean Temperature

ESYESEEY ]

Scenario Description

E=RER

Brown Scenario

ReEs

Turquoise Scenario

ZRaER

Short-term — till 2030

EHAE

—E=T4F

Medium to long-term — till 2100

RRIEC

Global mean temperature rises of
above 3°C by 2100
ZIRFHRBEZ—ZSZFR L
F3CLE

The scenario represents the future
that only current policies and
nationally determined contribution
are implemented with limited
investments and climate actions
to decarbonize. This would usually
lead to high level of physical risk
and low level of transition risk.
SRR RERBERAERR
BB EERBIRE > I H IR
ETBRERERRETE B
BEEEENSERREAEEHE
]

—TE

Global mean temperature rises of
1.5to 2 °C by 2100
ZIRFHRABEZ—ZSSF LH
15°C&E2°C

The scenario represents the future
that stringent and immediate
policies will be implemented by
the companies that are actively
committed to climate action goals.
This would usually result in high
level of transition risks and low
level of physical risks.

tE R AREEBBELRBET
BB ENER  BUN B RS K
BIRFEERIRIR - EIBEEERN
=8 B AR B RS E B o
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By gaining insight into the significant climate risks
that affect our business across our value chain, we can
develop effective strategies and measures to manage
these risks and mitigate their financial and non-financial
impacts. Within our framework, we acknowledge climate
change as a strategic business risk and have integrated
climate-related risks and opportunities into our overall
business strategy. Our objective is to enhance long-term
resilience by comprehensively assessing, managing, and
monitoring climate risks that may impact our operations.

Policies and procedures to manage such potential risks
including:

. Potential disruption to our operations due to
extreme weather events and changing weather
patterns;

. Changing customer behaviours and requirements
as demand moves to other new machinery and
equipment such as wind turbines;

. Changes in cost and availability of raw materials
(carbon neutral steel etc) and utilities such as
renewable electricity, water and gas and relevant
costs of securing and maintaining sufficient
supply;

. Changes to government policy, law and regulation
(including pricing carbon, renewable electricity
pricing etc), which could result in increased
operational costs and potential for litigation; and

. Failure to meet expectations of stakeholders.
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(IV) Metrics and Targets

We strive to effectively manage and evaluate the
risks and opportunities arising from climate change.
Throughout the 2024 Reporting Period, we maintained
continuous monitoring of key metrics, specifically GHG
emissions, which serve as indicators of climate-related
risks. These targets aim to reduce overall GHG emissions
and electricity consumption.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions

Greenhouse gases (GHG) include CO, and its non-
hazardous equivalents including nitrous oxide and
methane (collectively with CO,, “CO,e"). Greenhouse
gas emissions comprise Scope 1 direct emissions, which
is direct emissions from the fuel combustion in vehicles,
machine tool cooling and welding, and Scope 2 energy
indirect emissions, which is emissions resulting from the
use of purchased electricity. The table below recorded
and compared the 2024 Reporting Period and the 2023
Reporting Period’s greenhouse gas emissions:

av) #EEMEE

RAPBHBEREEKRTER
BT RAYE IR e 1% 18 o
R T MEREH > HM
FEENEERET  FE
BEREBEHFNE  ILTh5TE
RIEEERERIIER - ZE
BEREERMAEEREK
K EBIIHFE °

B E R AE BEL

BRRA=RE CRERE)
BEZEIthRkERESES
W aE—8takBk
(ER & tmamEIZ®|Ib

B2 cBRERBEHRE
EEHEN BTN > BNER
M T B2 a0 K IR 5t PRI
EHRAERN BB > & E

285 IR EEHE I B R A Oh
BENEENHR - TKRE
R LER ZZ TN EREE
RIEBZ=ZFREHNAE
RASHEM -

Year ended 31 December

B#E+_RA=+—HILEFE

Greenhouse Gas Emission™ote ® Unit 2024 2023 Changes
B = RS HEng ) E (i —SME —T-=F 25
Scope 1(CO,e) Tonnes 30.10 49.04 -38.62%
#HE(CEERES i

Scope 2 (CO,e) Tonnes 471.74 734.55 -35.78%
HE2 (CEHEHREE iz

Total (CO,e) Tonnes 501.84 783.59 -35.96%
Mzt (ZEERES) A

Intensity

— CO,e/employee 5.64 7.92 -28.79%
- —&tiEE BE

Note 3: As a result of our efforts to improve data management, we have
separated the oxygen usage from the gas usage for production
purposes since 2023. This separation allows for better
comparability and performance tracking.

HiiE3 . BEREMESHEEHEE
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Our Group is dedicated to reduce GHG emissions by
gradually transitioning from fossil fuels to sustainable
energy sources. To achieve this goal, our Group has
minimise the use of the diesel forklift and substituted
them with electric forklifts whenever possible. This
initiative is expected to reduce the consumption of fossil
fuels by 10% by 2025.

We target to reduce the greenhouse gas emission
by 1-2% in the coming year through the transition
from fossil fuels to sustainable energy sources and by
monitoring our employees’ energy saving practices.

Energy

During the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group generated
direct and indirect greenhouse gas — CO, emissions,
through the uses of fossil fuels and electricity. As
explained previously, we have implemented policies and
procedures to reduce the use of fossil fuels as well as
electricity across our organization and we will continue
to invest in new more energy efficient manufacturing
equipment and processes in the near future. We are
currently investigating the cost-benefit of partial
self-generation of renewable energy via solar panel
installation etc.

Water

Water is used both in our production process and by
our employees in their dormitories. The Group has taken
measures to encourage employees to more efficiently
use water in order to reduce its consumption. We
already utilise recycled water treatment systems in our
production facilities so as to minimise water wastage.
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Logistics

In line with our climate change strategy, the carbon
footprint and sustainability of suppliers is an important
consideration and we are actively seeking logistics
partners that utilize electric vehicles or close equivalents
to minimize their own carbon footprint where possible.

For the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group’s business
operations and activities, except for the above three
aspects, did not lead to any events or issues that might
impact the climate or result in the change of the climate
significantly. The Group also has already taken measures
to lower indirect CO, emissions and freshwater
consumption for the coming year.

B. SOCIAL ASPECTS

1.1

Social Areas Overview

The Group acts in an honest and transparent principle and
aims to support the building of a harmonious society and
a mutually beneficial relationship with our stakeholders
including employees, customers, suppliers, professional
services providers, local communities as well as the governing
authorities. During the formulation and implementation of our
ESG strategies, policies, rules and regulations, we incorporate
our long and short-term goals with consideration for our
stakeholders and society. We believe that our modest acts will
ultimately benefit the stakeholders and general society.
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1.2 Employment and Labour Practices Aspects

BI:

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Employment

The Group strives to create a workplace which makes
each employee feel valued and inspire to do their best
and at all times regard our employees as valuable assets
for our sustained development and growth. It is our
policy to strictly comply with all the relevant statutory
requirements in the Labour Law of the PRC (H1
ANREMEE %) and other applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC, and the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance.

The Human Resources Department is responsible for the
employment and the relevant policies, which are clearly
laid out in our Employee Handbook, including but not
limited to, appointment, termination, working hours,
rest days, statutory holidays, remunerations, various
compensations, dismissals, health, general safety and
other benefits and welfares.

The Group is committed to providing employees
with equal opportunity on recruitment, promotion,
compensation and benefits as specified in the relevant
statutory provisions. To ensure a fair and rational
human resources structure, the Group has established
job qualifications and requirements specific to each job
position in the local offices. They are taken as criteria for
recruitment, promotion and transfer. The recruitment
and decision-making processes involve both the
relevant operational levels and the Human Resources
Department. All employees enter into proper and
standard employment contracts between the Group as
required by law. Employment of child labor and forced
labor is expressly and strictly forbidden.

In accordance with the requirements of the national
laws of the PRC such as Social Insurance Law of the PRC
(PEANREMBE S RE L), the Administrative
Regulations on Housing Provident Funds (¥ B A&
£ B2 (%) and local Employment and Labour Law
of Hong Kong, the Group provides and maintains
statutory benefits to all qualified staff, including but not
limited to mandatory provident fund, social security
insurance, medical insurance, work injury insurance and
compensation and statutory holidays.

KBEEEREZERARAE

12 ERERGIERER

B1:

4/

rEERNRYGEESUET
REEBEN IS I
HENVRERZTBPNE - A
RKETIRB/FHELERERRIE
RNESEE - RFIVEER
BBREET(REARHM
B 55 k) ~ HthiE A E
ERREE  UKRERER
RBIBIPT B AR A EEXK o

ANERBEEXREEET
1 BA B R E B9 12 (% K A8 RE
HBUR - BIEERRE 6
BERG S TIFRFE-ARBEH
ZEMRB FHB - SEM
B -BE -RE —R=2
R ELMAEF] o

FEBRNDEEBE S
M RENE T EAE TR
HAREERXIREN TS
e SEFRATFTTENA
HNERGHE  ~EECHY
7 3t 3 A E BY S 18 B AL 5T
VTFEERER > HHE
RAEE BT MBI
o ARMZEERFIRANE
REBIE 2 B RORRE
2B EITIIRBARA
AEBTIIBERRENE
RBER - AEBMBPLHEBR
IHERETI ARIBEE -

AEERE(PEARKLM
Bl & REEE) R(EFAE
& EEIFG) FPEEZ A
BRURBETMERKRSE
ERRE NFTBGERE
TRHEKERZERT &
BEFRIEBEEARSE
HERERRE  BERER
THRRERBEUREER
H o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report
IRIR HHEREBHS

Employees remuneration is determined with reference BT R IEEAE

to the prevailing market level in line with their EFE -RKREBEAU ZER

competency, qualifications, experience and job position. MHEKFEE REEERE

Discretionary bonuses of such amounts and at such REBAIETHRIE B

intervals for internal employees will be rewarded at the BN —CRENREER—

discretion of the top management with consideration on TE & RBRIEIETCAT LU EEERE) ©

performance.

Employment of the Group: KEEFEBFIBELT :

For the vear ended 31 December 2024, the Group had BEE_EZ_MWE+ A

the following employment breakdown: —t+—HIEFE > AEEAE
LU EABRIBRAE -

Figure 1: Number of Employees by Gender
&— IR B2 IES 2

Figure 2: Number of Employees by Employment Type
B = e a2 D IES S
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Figure 3: Number of Employees by Role
B = B EE SIES#E

O

Figure 4: Number of Employees by Age
By : t2F R E S ES 2
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Figure 5: Number of Employees by Geographical Region
BZ B iES#E

During the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group did not
have any incidents of non-compliance with relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group relating to compensation and dismissal,
recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods,
equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and
other benefits and welfare. We are confident that the
Group will achieve the same result for the coming year.

Employment Turnover of the Group:

For the 2024 Reporting Period, a total of 23 employees
left for various reasons such as personal and further
career development. A breakdown of the employment
turnover rates of the Group are broken down as follows:

29.73%

Figure 6: Employment Turnover Rate by Gender
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<> 16.13%

Figure 7: Employment Turnover Rate by Age
B+ : BERE DI EE LT

25.00%

Figure 8: Employment Turnover Rate by Role

BIN : BEFE 70 BE IR E

20.00%

23.53%

Figure 9: Employment Turnover Rate by Geographical Region

871 : &% EE 7B IES Tk F
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Health and Safety

Given the nature of the Group’s business in metal
products related manufacturing, and being a responsible
employer, the Group considers the health and safety of
employees as our primary concern. We are focused on
personal accountability, proactive hazard and incident
management, risk mitigation and creating a positive
health and wellbeing culture.

The Work Safety Law of the PRC (FREE A REFEH
Z 2 E %) is the overriding law regulating health
and safety of employees in our operations. However,
leadership and culture are critical to embedding the
importance of health and safety throughout our Group.
Department managers and all employees are required
to complete training to understand the practicalities
of health and safety laws and regulations, and how
they apply to our business particularly manufacturing
practices. Specific safety rules, instructions and
procedures for the safe operation of plants and
employee safety are detailed in our Employee
Handbook. The Safety Officer is responsible for the
work safety and has composed a Safety Manual, which
contains the relevant regulations and standards and
developed processes applicable to our manufacturing
operations.

All employees are required to strictly observe the health
and safety policies, instructions and guidance and to
follow the same at work and to place safety as their
priority over production. Managers and supervisors are
charged with the responsibility of ensuring that safety
policies, rules and practices are observed. The Group has
also taken out the required insurance for all employees
in accordance with the statutory requirements of their
employment locations.
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The Group has equipped its production facilities with
all the required safety equipment and facilities. We
regularly purchase and ensure that all employees, at
all times, have available and wear their labour safety
equipment, such as safety helmets, gloves, and goggles.
We also regularly conduct safety inspections and
tests across all levels of our production facilities and
manufacturing process. For example, we annually carry
out the inspection and testing of heavy machineries
to ensure we have satisfied our duty to comply with
provisions concerning the Safety Supervision of Lifting
Machinery (EEE &2 2B Z A TE).

In-house rules require all injuries or accidents to
be promptly reported and properly dealt with in
accordance with the national or local laws. In parallel,
remedial or compensatory actions arising from safety
and health issues or work injuries are required to be
taken immediately where necessary as stipulated by the
in-house rules. The Group did not have any record of any
claim disputes on compensation or work-related injury
investigation by the government officials in the 2024
Reporting Period.

The Group had zero work-related fatalities in the past
three years including the 2024 Reporting Period in
any of our operations. Furthermore, during the 2024
Reporting Period, there were 2 light injury cases of
factory workers from careless work (For 2023 Reporting
Period: 1 case).

A total of 117 lost days were recorded during the 2024
Reporting Period, which was 95 days more than the
2023 Reporting Period. All of the injured employees
had been well-taken care immediately after the
occurrence with no disputes or claims arising thereafter.
Furthermore, there were no other accidents or incidents
of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
relating to providing a safe working environment and
protecting employees from occupational hazards which
could have a significant impact on the production
operations or businesses of the Group. Our low injury
rate shows that our safety and health policies and
measures including training are effectively implemented
and adhered to. The Group targets to achieve a zero
injury and causality result for the coming year.
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Development and Training

As a professional organisation, we provide our
employees with numerous career development and job-
specific training opportunities covering a range of areas,
including but not limited to professional development,
trade skills, quality improvement, customer service,
leadership and safety. Employees are encouraged to
engage in self-development by participating in external
training programs and seminars.

Below is the breakdown stating the percentage
of employees trained during the 2024 Reporting
Period and the 2023 Reporting Period by gender and
operational role:

Training (No. of employees)

Al (ET A

Percentage of employees trained

ZIFINE TR

Male
B4

Female

43

Managerial staff

EEASR

Operational staff

E¥BAB

General staff

HBAE
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TERANRZZMFEREH
kT ZFHRERZMER

REBHAAINZIEL
B LLARAE -

Internal External

P &R S8R

2024 87% 3%
—EME

2023 91% 3%
=5

2024 74% 100%
—E_@mE

2023 70% 100%
—ET=HF

2024 26% -
—EmE

2023 30% -
—ET=F

2024 17% 100%
—EME

2023 16% 100%
=5

2024 - -
—E_@mE

2023 - -
_E=F

2024 83% -
ZE-ME

2023 84% -
I e
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Below is the breakdown stating the hours of training
provided during the 2024 Reporting Period and the
2023 Reporting Period by gender and operational role:

Average training hours per employee

5% 8 TFEINNE

Total average training hours per employee

5% 8 TAFIEINNE

-
—_=

Average training hours for male

BEFIIFENEF

Average training hours for female

R I ENNEF

Average training hours for managerial staff

ERA S FIIIEIN G

-
—_=

Average training hours for operational staff

A B FIIEN

Average training hours for general staff

EiEA B F9iE R

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

—=
—_=

TRAN T IMFEREH

TR R ERZRMER
T XS AR D AT IR L2
HIBF ERBE A

Internal External
P AR 5hER
2024 2.71 0.25
—mE
2023 324 0.02
—E=F
2024 3.40 0.35
—EMEF
2023 4.00 0.03
BT =F
2024 1.04 -
T_MEF
2023 1.58 -
“ET=F
2024 1.61 1.22
“mE
2023 112 0.12
BT =F
2024 - -
—EMEF
2023 - -
TEI=HF
2024 3.07 -
—mE
2023 3.78 -
—ET=H
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Labor Standards

The Group adopts the statutory requirements and
standards applicable to our business operations to be
our minimum labor standard on labor protection and
welfare. The Group is committed to ensuring its full
compliance and all management and supervisory levels
are made aware of this.

Banning the employment of child labor, illegal workers
and forced labor is achieved through the recruitment
and employment process at source by the Human
Resources Department. All job applicants are required to
submit their credentials such as academic qualifications,
professional skill certificates, references and identity card
for verification and record purpose during recruitment.
Such information is kept as the employee’s personal
file for record and future reference and government
inspection.

The Head of the Human Resources Department and the
heads of relevant department are charged with the duty
of overseeing its compliance and are also responsible for
ensuring that all labor protection and welfare obligations
are complied with and any breaches of statutory
compliance are brought to the attention of the senior
levels.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, no case of any
child labor or forced labor employment was reported
or detected. For the coming year, we will continue
maintaining our zero tolerance to forced and child
labour.
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Supply Chain Management

During the 2024 Reporting Period, owing to the special
nature of our raw materials, we only sourced raw
materials from 9 local suppliers and no raw materials
were sourced from overseas.

Total
4ast

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

B5:

Figure 10: Number of Suppliers by Geographical Location

B+ : e o rREEHE

The Procurement Department is responsible for
the procurement of raw materials. It also manages
the procurement price, cost and supplier based on
the company’s development plan and sales targets,
and to keep enough inventories to meet customer
requirements.

The principal raw materials that we use for the
manufacturing of slewing rings include forged rings
(primarily made from gear steel and carbon round steel),
steel balls and spacers. Our suppliers of raw materials
are located in the PRC. We do not enter into any long-
term supply agreements with our suppliers. We procure
our raw materials by individual sales orders on a case by
case basis and the selling price and quantity of the raw
materials required is negotiated on a case by case basis
as and when we require the materials to meet a new
sales order.
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The Group has, in place, a very detailed supply and
purchase management system adopting different
approval authorities at different hierarchy levels of the
Management Team depending upon the department
and the types of purchase transactions they enter into.

In general, the Purchase Manager, Chief Financial Officer,
COO and CEO form the execution and supervision
purchase chain at different monetary levels. Each level
is accountable to the one above on their monetary limits
they are authorized to purchase. Purchasers are required
not to place an order when the authorization cannot
meet its designated level. The approving level is required
to ensure that requests for purchase are in order before
authorizing.

All purchases of the Group in principle follow the
established prevalent trade practice and industry norms
under which 3 tenderers (where possible) or more will
be invited for tender depending on various factors like
contract value, amount involved, any other technicality
and time constraints. All purchase transactions are
subject to the scrutiny of internal hierarchy supervisions
at different levels depending on its contract value and
significance and to the overall scrutiny of external
independent audit checks. All capital expenditure
purchases have to be authorized and approved by the
headquarters.

Specificity, timeliness, quantity and quality are the major
selection criteria suppliers. Sustainability and our carbon
footprint are also considered in our selection process.
Technical standards agreements covering chemical
composition, mechanical performance etc. are typically
entered into with suppliers of raw materials particularly
forged rings.
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Product Responsibilities
Product Quality

We are focused on high quality assurance as we believe
that the quality and consistency of our products are
critical to our ability to retain our customers and
to expand market share. We not only maintain ISO
9001:2008/15 quality management system(s), but also
comply with some of the highest international standards
as required by our Japanese customers including the
JIS, JB and JB/T standards in Japan. To maintain our
competitive edge and continuously improve quality and
sustainability, we are also committed to investing in
increasing our production capabilities with new high-end
plants and equipment and automation technologies. For
example, new machines are equipped with thermostats
which ensure the temperature is consistent and help
to reduce cracking of slewing rings and product failure
rate. By working closely with our customers, we are able
to keep abreast of the latest product development and
knowledge.

The major parts of our quality assurance procedures and
processes are;

. Our quality assurance team inspects the
incoming materials to ensure they are in line
with our purchase order, such as the quantity,
specifications, serial number, material, dimension
and the physical condition. We will also check the
test report provided by our supplier. For forged
rings, we also check the serial number marked
or imprinted on them to ensure that the material
supplied is correct.

. On a sampling basis, we will take measurement of,
and conduct visual inspection on our forged rings
to see if there are any defects on their surface.

. On a sampling basis, we arrange for independent
services providers to check the chemical
composition of our incoming raw materials. This
is to make sure that the chemical composition
conforms to our specifications set forth in our
purchase order.

KBEEEREZERARAE

B6: EREF

ERmE

B O RESRE > B
MRABERBER—HMH
REBERRERTIEG
EEMBE - BMATERT
ISO 9001 : 2008/15 [ & & I
Bz > TETHEAELAEX
NS EREZE GiFH A
EEREUS)  BAREWE
(B K H A AT 2
B (UB/T) e M HEE
MEImEE  REMBEE
FEMMIR S EERE T > M
RERFEATTEIRES R
BRAFEN - RHME >
T 19 2 s B 5 TR 85 L
MERERE It/ E
B R H IR R E MmN E
HgE RMETELARES
B> M T BRI E R
BB, o

mEZEREFMBENTE
EDEE

© mEZEEBRRAE
F BRENME R
B FHIsE s MR R
ThREERRESE
BT HRAEETE o 3
TemEHERIEMH
BYRIE RS - HRIRE
B HATERERS
SHENP E _EBYFEFISE -
DUFERIR AV ERE ©

« BRAHRERBRET
AERERERE  UB
BHREAGEREAR o

- HMZHBIRBIER
HEHRRE RER
MRIBVIER RS - LAE
REMNGRBIET
BRRYARAS o



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

. For the steel balls, our inspection team regularly
inspects their sphericity and hardness on a
sampling basis. We return substandard raw
materials to suppliers if they do not pass our
inspection.

. Upon completion of the manufacturing process,
our quality assurance department will conduct
final quality assurance test on the products, which
includes measuring the assembly clearance and
whether the outer and inner rings can rotate
smoothly.

. In order to ensure that our heat treatment is
carried out properly and up to the standard
required by our customers, we take samples from
the finished products for tests and dissect them
to perform various tests on their precision and
accuracy and other quality requirements.

. We conduct quality testing on all finished products
to ensure that they comply with our customers’
specifications.

Our general warranty policy is to provide a warranty
period of 1,500-3,000 hours of operation or one to two
years (whichever occurs first), and we will not be liable if
the warranty period has expired. If, during the warranty
period, our products are found substandard, we will be
liable to indemnify our customers of their acquisition
costs of the product, and in some instances of the
repairing costs and other disbursements.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, heat treatment for
the entire work-in-progress was conducted with the
average passing rate being approximately 99.63%.
Due to the very specific nature of our products and
the requirements for near perfect quality assurance,
the Group did not receive any quality complaints or
claims against our products. In the coming year, we
will continue to stringently control to ensure our near
perfect product quality.
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Handling of Complaints

Policies and procedures are in place to ensure that
all customer complaints or concerns are addressed
to at the appropriate levels in a timely manner. In
our sales contracts, there are clear clauses specifying
our responsibilities under quality issues. The Sales
Department is responsible for handling all sales
complaint issues. Standing arrangements are also in
place for an independent third party to adjudicate on
any unresolved disputes between the Sales Department
and the client. Consequential remedial actions will be
taken promptly and in a responsible manner. During the
2024 Reporting Period, we did not receive any quality
complaints or claims against our products.

Intellectual Property Right

The Group, up to the end of the 2024 Reporting
Period, has built up a portfolio of intellectual property
rights including 35 patents registered in the PRC that
are material to our business as well as 28 trademarks
registered in the PRC and/or Hong Kong.

We primarily rely on trademark and intellectual property
laws, and confidentiality agreements with our senior
employees, to protect all intellectual property relating to
the Group and operations. We purchase and utilise fully
licensed software in our operations.

For the 2024 Reporting Period, the Group did not have
any of any infringement of its or any other intellectual
property rights including which had or could have a
material adverse effect on our business, and there were
no legal proceedings against the Group. We will continue
to maintain similar results on intellectual property rights
in the coming years ahead.
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Privacy

The Group’s main business and operation has generated
a substantial volume of private, confidential and sensitive
information of customers, suppliers, business partners
including the operation status and financial positions,
commercial terms of contracts, general background
information, patented production technology, etc.
These types of information are extremely sensitive
and important, and by law, have to be cautiously
safeguarded and protected. The Group fully understands
its obligation and has taken measures to ensure strictest
protection of the information against unauthorized
access, use and disclosure through a variety of security
technologies and procedures.

The Group fully abides by all relevant laws and
regulations regarding privacy and utilization of data. Our
employees have been trained to handle the sensitive
information during the course of business with due care.
The Group has incorporated the Confidential Clause into
the Staff Handbook and Employment Contract, under
which all employees are obligated to follow.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the 2023
Reporting Period, the Group did not have any incidents
of non-compliance with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating
to advertising, labelling and privacy matters. We also
target the same result for the coming years ahead.

Anti-corruption

The Group is well aware of the importance of honesty,
integrity, fairness and transparency in our business
operations. The Group strictly prohibits any form of
fraud or bribery, and is committed to the prevention,
deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of
fraud and bribery. An important aspect of accountability
and transparency is a whistle-blowing mechanism for
employees and stakeholders of the Group to voice out
any concern on improprieties or suspected improprieties
in a responsible and effective manner.
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The enhanced version of anti-corruption and whistle-
blowing policy is established pursuant to a resolution
passed by the Board at its meeting held on 22 March
2022.

All employees are required to declare any conflicts
of interests in the execution of their roles and duties.
Through the establishment of these rules and
regulations, the Group encourages all employees to
discharge their duties with integrity and comply with the
relevant laws and regulations.

Transactions in large monetary sums are processed
through bank transactions which require authorized
signatories of the appropriate levels depending on
the amount involved. Checks and balances have been
installed in the Group for money transaction activities
and are considered effective and adequate.

If an employee becomes aware of any actual or
suspected breach of the anti-corruption and whistle-
blowing policy, he/she must report such incident(s) to
directly to any member of the Corporate Governance
Committee, who will investigate the case and determine
an appropriate course of action in response (including
but not limited to referring the case to the Board
and/or the Management). Failure to comply with any
provision of this section is a serious matter, which may
result in disciplinary actions (including but not limited
to dismissal with or without notice), and in the extreme
case, may lead to prosecution under applicable local
laws and regulations.

The Group is strongly encouraged for the whistle
blower to identify himself/herself. Investigations may
be hindered if the Group is unable to contact the whistle
blower for more information. The Group is committed
to protecting whistle blowers who report in good faith.
The identity of whistle-blowers will not be disclosed
unless it is absolutely necessary for the purpose of the
investigation and will never be disclosed without prior
notice to the whistle blower.
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Whistle-Blowing Protection

Non-Retaliation: The Group will not tolerate any form
of retaliation against the whistle-blower and will take all
appropriate actions to protect whistle-blowers as long
as the concern raised is in good faith, with no malicious
intent.

Confidentiality: The Group will do its utmost to protect
the whistle-blower’s identity. However, there may be
instances in the investigation process which require
the identity of the whistle-blower to be made known.
(e.g. when the source of the information or a witness is
required.)

Untrue Allegations: If an individual makes an allegation
in good faith, and that allegation was proven untrue by
subsequent investigation, no action will be taken against
that individual. On the other hand, when an individual is
found to be making malicious or vexatious allegations,
and especially if he or she persists with making or
pursuing them, disciplinary action may be taken against
that individual.

During the 2024 Reporting Period, same as the 2023
Reporting Period, the Group recorded no bribery nor
corruption charges and is confident to achieve a similar
result for the coming years ahead.
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Community Investment

The Group fully understands our social obligations
and the need for re-contributing to the society.
Through the day-to-day contact with various local
government officials and industry leaders, the Group
continues to explore and examine what and how the
Group can contribute more and in a better way to the
local community and society. The Group encourages
and supports our staff and workers to participate in
voluntary social welfare works such as to give paid
leave for such activities. The Group has implemented
measures with an objective to reduce hazardous and
non-hazardous air emissions and wastes discharges and
continues to find ways and to implement measures to
reduce air emissions and wastes discharge. Furthermore,
the Group supported the local communities by
prioritising its purchases with the local suppliers.

As part of our charitable efforts during the 2024
Reporting Period, the Group demonstrated a strong
commitment to community investment through a series
of impactful activities. The Group participated in Dress
Casual Day 2024 event on 31 October 2024, organized
by The Community Chest, and donated HK$500.

Throughout 2024, the Group visited The Mental Health
Association of Hong Kong and donated 29 boxes of
mooncakes and 22 boxes of pyrus. Additionally, the
Group joined the in-kind donation held by The Mental
Health Association of Hong Kong and donated leather
materials and sewing software. To further support The
Mental Health Association of Hong Kong, the Group also
purchased clearing services for HK$18,000. Furthermore,
the Group participated in the T&EBMWEEE D + T8

ESEMEAHER ZESE 4% H event on 9 November
2024, organized by The Mental Health Association of
Hong Kong, and sponsored HK$5,000.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

To the Shareholders of Best Linking Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Best Linking Group Holdings
Limited (the "Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”), which are set
out on pages 142 to 218, comprise:

. the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2024;

. the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year
then ended;

. the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

. the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
and

. the notes to the consolidated financial statements, comprising
material accounting policy information and other explanatory
information.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“"HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) FAREEIE &
The key audit matter identified in our audit is related to revenue  FFITEBTHHAIAIREEFEEIZANU
recognition — revenue recognised at a point in time. AT — R REFE DU A ©

Key Audit Matter
FAsREsTH1E

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
KT R ERAR B =1

Revenue recognition — revenue recognised at a point in time

UX A BESE — H2 PSR REFE SR UL A

Refer to note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

BERRG M BRRMEES -

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group recognised
revenue of HK$114,644,000 from manufacturing and trading of
slewing rings, mechanical parts and components, and trading of
machineries, mechanical parts and minerals.
BE_Z_NFE+_A=+—HILFE > SEEEIWK
14644000870 TERBREREE—RIIEEZ A
WIS E R EE R RS G RIEY

Revenue is recognised upon transfer of control, at a point in time,
being when the products are delivered to the customers, the
customer has full discretion over the usage of the products, and
there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products.

WARERRERHTERERY  MERXNTERA &
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We focused on this area because significant audit resources
were devoted to this area due to the large volume of revenue
transactions from various customers during the year.
KMzZUREE—EE  ERAFASERNKRARS
ERA AERMABATAENEFTER ©

Our procedures in relation to the auditing of revenue
recognition included:

HPIARESHIRA SR ESHEF 818 ¢

— We understood, evaluated and tested, on a sample
basis, the Group’s relevant controls in relation to
revenue recognition;

— BMTH - -THEUEEBEEEEANE BSEEHEK
AFERR A RV ARREES]

— We tested, on a sample basis, the sales transactions
by examining the relevant supporting documents
including but not limited to sales orders,
invoices, delivery documents and customer’s
acknowledgements etc. to assess whether revenue
was properly recognised; and
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— We tested, on a sample basis, the sales transactions
recognised before and after the balance sheet date
by tracing to the relevant supporting documents
including but not limited to the delivery documents
and customer’s acknowledgements etc. to assess
whether revenue was recognised in the correct
reporting period.
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Based on the procedures performed, we found that
the Group’s revenue recognised was supported by the
evidence obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises all of the information included in the
annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion
thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

. Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate
audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on
the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the
direction, supervision and review of the audit work performed for
purposes of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our
audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we
identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Hong Wing.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 21 March 2025
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Consolldated Statement of Comprehensive Income

e niﬁu&ﬁiﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2024 #HE_Z _NE+_HB=+—HLFE

2024 2023
—EImE “BC=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 FExT FET
Revenue W &= 5 114,644 143,779
Cost of sales GI=R= i 6 (88,375) (82,990)
Gross profit EH 26,269 60,789
Other income HAuk A 8 1,222 555
Other (losses)/gains, net Hith (548) W= 358 9 (136) 158
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHEMAS 6 (2,056) (3.367)
Administrative expenses TERS 6 (17,453) (30,742)
Operating profit BEET 7,846 27,393
Finance income B UWA n 788 725
Finance cost B A n (321) (15)
Finance income, net HMEUWAFEE 467 710
Profit before income tax FRERIGMAIEF 8,313 28,103
Income tax expense PSRz 2 (2,023) (6,064)
Profit for the year attributable to iN/NETEZZ =N
owners of the Company FEAE 2 P93 Al 6,290 22,039
Other comprehensive loss Eﬂﬂéﬁﬁ?ﬁ
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss BEEMOEEERN
EE
Currency translation differences B E E 58 23 (2,520) (1,944)
Total comprehensive income for the year FREEmKEHEE 3,770 20,095
Earnings per share for profit attributable to KRB D EHB AN
equity holders of the Company for the year FREMNNEREF
Basic and diluted earnings per share BREAREERT
(HK cents per share) (BRAW) 13 0.8 2.8

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be

read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

MAHEEARR

As at 31 December 2024 RZZE_WME+_B=+—H

2024 2023
—EImE “BC=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Hfat FExT FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME -~ BERRERE 15 20,875 23,372
Intangible assets B EE 16 1,603 -
Prepayments and deposits AR REE 19 166 919
Deferred tax assets EILAR TR E 30 235 572
22,879 24,863
Current assets RBEE
Inventories =5 20 35,157 23125
Trade receivables B 2 EWGRIE 18 24,764 44,291
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables FERRIE s e K
HahfEWEIE 19 8,305 12,648
Current income tax recoverable ENHA B U BRI FriS#5R 2,334 n
Pledged bank deposit BIRIRIRITER 21 15,076 5,028
Cash and cash equivalents HEMIRSEEY) 21 59,452 54,891
145,088 139,994
Total assets HEHE 167,967 164,857
Equity i
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ A&A BB AL
Share capital (%N 22 4,000 4,000
Reserves (Eific] 23 131,430 143,660
Total equity R 4EE 135,430 147,660
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Consolidated Balance Sheet

MAHEARR

As at 31 December 2024 R_ZE_WWE+_B=+—H

2024 2023
—EME —ET=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
K et F#ET FET
Liabilities aE
Non-current liability ERBEE
Lease liabilities HEa®E 24 1,731 148
Deferred tax liabilities EEREAE 30 431 -
2,162 148
Current liabilities 2 B=R
Trade payables B EIE 25 11,576 4,812
Bank borrowings RITER 26 9,854 8,093
Contract liabilities BHEE 27 4,084 -
Accruals and other payables FEETE AR EMEMSRIE 28 3,841 3,901
Lease liabilities HEas 24 1,020 243
30,375 17,049
Total liabilities BREBEE 32,537 17,197
Total equity and liabilities xRk aEEEE 167,967 164,857

The consolidated financial statements on pages 142 to 218 were approved SF 142 E2BENGZ S EHRERXEAEST N

by the Board of Directors on 21 March 2025 and were signed onitsbehalf. @~—ZT_FE=B_+—H#t% > TRKKES
BHEEo
Chan Yuk Pan Chan Lung Pan
BRIE PRAEM
Director Director
EE EF

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with — titis S B E G EREEAMBEW I E —HRIE o
the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BARSEHE

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZT_NH&+_B=+—BLtEE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KATHR AR
Share Share Capital ~ Statutory  Exchange Retained
capital premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total
fx  RHEE BiXfE ATRHE EREE  FRERM fast
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000
TET TER AT TET TET TER TET
(Note22)  (Note22)  (Note23)  (Note23)  (Note23)
(Miaz22)  (Wiat22)  (W9aE23)  (Wa#23)  (W9&E23)
Balance at 1 January 2023 R-E-=—-F—-AH
s 4,000 10,51 13,000 4,727 (1128) 112,455 143565
Profit for the year FEREF - - - - - 22,039 22,039
Other comprehensive loss Hihn2EA5E
Currency translation differences EfhEEE - - - - (1,944 - (1,944)
Total comprehensive income EREZEBALE
for the year - - - - (1,944) 22,039 20,095
Transactions with equity holders: EERERANRS
Dividends paid (Note 29) BRRE (&29) - (10,511) - - - (5489)  (16,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRI RHE - - - 1634 - (1634) -
- (10,51 - 1634 - (7)23) (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 R-BZ=H
+ZB=+—-HM& 4,000 - 13,000 6,361 (3.072) 127371 147,660
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Consglldated Statement of Changes in Equity
n‘7|' n Mﬁ@]ﬁ

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_Z_MNFE+_B=+—HLFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

BAREE AELR
Share Share Capital  Statutory Exchange  Retained
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve earnings Total

Rt ROEE BrHEE ZEHE EREE  REERN @

HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$'000  HK$'000

T#xr FExm FEx FEx FEx  FTEn  TExn
(Note22) (Note22) (Note23) (Note23) (Note23)
(Hfz#22)  (Hfz22)  (W7223)  (Ms23)  (Mfa223)

Balance at 1 January 2024 R-E-_mE—-F—-AH
s 4,000 - 13,000 6,361 (3,072) 127,37 147,660
Profit for the year ERiaF - - - - - 6,290 6,290
Other comprehensive loss Hihn2EA5E
Currency translation differences EfhEEE - - - - (2,520) - (2,520)
Total comprehensive income EREZEBALE
for the year - - - - (2,520) 6,290 3,770
Transactions with equity holders: EERERANRS
Dividends paid (Note 29) BURE (#729) - - - = - (16,000)  (16,000)
Transfer to statutory reserve BRI RHE - - - 409 - (409) -
- - - 409 - (16,409) (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R-E-m&E
+ZB=+—-HM& 4,000 - 13,000 6,770 (5592) 17252 135430

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in  _Fitt4z & #E 5 B8R ELABBMIMI T — I RIEE o
conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

AalE

=
hﬁs

For the year ended 31 December 2024 HE_ZT_NH&+_B=+—BLtEE

2024 2023
—E-MNE —ET=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
=3 FExT FET
Cash flows from operating activities RETHRERE
Cash generated from operations KEFRSIRE 32(a) 33,417 25,282
Income tax paid ETER (3,582) (7,079)
Interest received BUFE 788 725
Net cash generated from operating activities (& ;EEFRSRE REE 30,623 18,928
Cash flows from investing activities BEEFHRERE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment BEEYE MELRE (2,252) (464)
Purchases of intangible asset BEERTEE (830) -
Payments for construction in progress ERRTERIE = (1,489)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE BEKRKRE
plant and equipment (Note 32(c)) RIFR1SRIE (Mt 32(c)  32(c) 1,867 37
Net cash used in investing activities BREEZHFRAARERE (1,215) (1,916)
Cash flows from financing activities MEEHRERE
Payment of interest elements of lease liabilities (IR E&EF 25 32(b) (40) (5)
Payment of principal elements of lease liabilities Z{JEE&EART IS 32(b) (384) (167)
Repayments of bank borrowings EIRIBITER 32(b) (26,886) -
Proceeds from bank borrowings RITEBRBIPTIERIE 32(b) 28,647 8,093
Payment of pledged bank deposit Z T EIRRIRITER 32(b) (10,048) (5,028)
Dividends paid B E (16,000) (16,000)
Net cash used in financing activities A EE FRAIRE R A (24,711) (13.117)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents HERIFEEEBYIEM 4,697 3,895
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year FEPNRERIBEEEY 54,891 51,003
Currency translation differences EME EE (136) @)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of theyear FHRIREKRINEZEY 59,452 54,891
The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in  titia AR REREHEBEN T —0{RIE

conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 26
October 2018 as an exempted company with limited liability under
the Companies Act (2022 Revision) (as consolidated or revised
from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. Its shares were listed on
the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) on 31 October 2019 and were transferred to the listing
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 28 September 2023.
The address of the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square,
Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands.

The ultimate holding company of the Company is C Centrum
Holdings Limited, a company incorporated in British Virgin Islands
and wholly-owned by Mr. Chan Yuk Pan.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of slewing
rings, mechanical parts and components, and trading of machineries,
mechanical parts and minerals (the “Business”).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$”) unless otherwise stated.

BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) and disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance (Cap. 622). The consolidated financial
statements have been prepared under historical cost convention.
The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in
the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 4.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Amended standards and interpretations issued
adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following amended standards and
interpretations issued for its annual reporting period beginning
n1January 2024:
Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
Non-current liabilities with
covenants
Lease liabilities in sale and
lease back

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause

Supplier Finance Arrangements

Hong Kong Interpretation
5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7
and HKFRS 7

The adoption of the above amended standards and
interpretations issued did not have any significant impact on
the amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected
to significantly affect the current or future periods.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

2 BASIS OF PREPARATION AND CHANGES IN 2 HRNEERGHEEE @

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 New and amended standards and interpretations 22 BREKERKREN  BXE
which have been issued but are not yet effective and FEEIRPIRMBIINET R EE
have not been early adopted by the Group HE LI -E1:

Certain new and amended standards and interpretations BT REEITENREZES
have been published that are not mandatory for financial year KEMm EEENR S _UFE—
beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and have not been early B—H®z BB BFER
adopted by the Group. These are: HIER > EREREBRIRZHN o
ZEAA A
Effective for
accounting periods
beginning on or after
RT5IRMSZE
R st RAR £
Amendments to HKAS 21 and HKFRS 1 Lack of Exchangeability 1 January 2025
EEEHENE NN Bz AR “E"RF—HB—H
EEMBREERNE IR (BFTH)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of 1 January 2026
Financial Instruments
EENBREENE IR TR TEDERFEME —ZTXE—-F—H
ERVHREENE 7R (BITF)
Amendments to HKFRST, HKFRS 7, Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards 1 January 2026
HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7 — Volume
EEMBREENE R AT BHEUTRSENSHENFENE - 1 B2 RF—A—H
BREEAFTR BEUBRESER
FoR  FARAMBREENF09 R
ERGHERE TR (BFTA)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements 1 January 2027
EEMBREENSEBHR MHRENEVRIFE “Et+&E—-F—H
HKFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures 1 January 2027
EEMBREENSEI9%R BAREEENREAR | HE “ZZtH5—HF—H
Amendments to HK Int 5 Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial 1 January 2027

EERESST (BT AN)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28

BBEMBREEF0FHK
BB G ERIE 285 (B %)

Statements — Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause

BERBESNVBRRER - EMARIEERER “FT-t&—-A—H

BEFEMNERERDE

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and To be determined

its Associate or Joint Ventur

e

BEERABEATRAEA

AE

The Group is in the process of making an assessment of
the impact of these new and amended standards and
interpretations of HKFRS and is not yet in a position to state
whether they would have a significant impact on the Group’s

results and financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1

Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks:
foreign exchange risk, credit risk, cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management procedures focus on the unpredictability of
financial markets and seek to minimise potential adverse
effects on the Group’s financial performance.

®

Foreign exchange risk

The Group operates in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (“"PRC”) and is exposed to foreign
exchange risk arising from various currency exposures,
primarily with respect to the US dollars (“USD”) and
Renminbi (“RMB”). Foreign exchange risk arises from
future commercial transactions, recognised assets and
liabilities, which are denominated in these currencies.
Since HK$ is pegged to USD, the Group believes the
exposure of transactions denominated in USD which are
entered into the Group to be insignificant.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group has
not entered into any derivative instruments to hedge its
foreign exchange exposures (2023: Nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

3  FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(i) Foreign exchange risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, if USD has strengthened/
weakened by 5% against RMB, and RMB has
strengthened/weakened by 5% against HK$, with all
other variables held constant, the post-tax profit for
the year would have changed mainly as a result of
foreign exchange gains/losses on translation of USD
and RMB denominated pledged deposit, cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, trade payable, bank
borrowings and other payables, as follows:

31 MBRKREER @

0 SMERR (2
RoBomE+ZB=4—
B 2T RAREH
5% LR ARBRBT
7t/ A S% > TR LAt
BRETE FERRER
FSEFREs TBmiNS
BETRARESHENE
R RERRSEE
UN I N-TT

HERARRETEAREIER @

IRRIE N IRITER R EHME
RIENE R W E BB FT
B RTIXFR:

2024 2023
—EMmE TEC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase BRERIBEA CRlZ) /18 »
when RMB against USD EARERETESR
— Strengthened 5% — FHES% 1,693 2,398
— Weakened 5% — BES% (1,693) (2,398)
Post-tax profit (decrease)/increase eI EF GRb) 1
when HK$ against RMB EETE ARBER
— Strengthened 5% — FES% 272 59
— Weakened 5% — BB 5% (272) (59)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.1

Financial risk factors (Continued)
Credit risk

(i)

0]

Risk management

Credit risk of the Group mainly arises from trade
receivables, deposits and other receivables,
pledged deposit and cash and cash equivalents.
Majority of bank deposits are placed with
reputable banks and financial institutions. The
maximum exposure to credit risk is represented by
the carrying amount of each financial asset in the
consolidated balance sheet.

The Group has policies in place to ensure that
credit terms are made to customers with an
appropriate credit history and the Group performs
periodic credit evaluations of its customers. The
Group’s historical experience in collection of trade
and other receivables falls within the recorded
allowances and the shareholder are of the
opinion that adequate provision for uncollectible
receivables has been made.

The carrying amounts of trade receivables,
deposits and other receivables, pledged bank
deposit and cash and cash equivalents represent
the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in
relation to financial assets.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, 56% (2023:
52%) of the Group’s revenue was derived from its
top five customers. As at 31 December 2024, 39%
of the total trade receivables were due from the
Group’s top five customers (2023: 71%).

3

RHERARRETEAREIR &
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

3

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED sk B

FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(ii) Credit risk (Continued)
(i) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that
are subject to the expected credit loss model:

. trade receivables; and

other financial assets at amortised cost.

Trade receivables

The Group then determines the provision
for expected credit losses by grouping the
trade receivables based on shared credit risk
characteristics and the days past due, and applying
expected credit loss rates to the respective gross
carrying amounts of the trade receivables. The
expected loss rates are based on the probability
of a receivable progressing through successive
stages of delinquency to write-off. The historical
loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and
forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to
settle the receivables.

Trade receivables are written off where there is no
reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery
include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a
failure to make contractual payments.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are
presented as net impairment losses within
operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of
amounts previously written off are credited
against the same line item.

As at 31 December 2024, no provision of
impairment for trade receivables were made as
the expected loss rate were minimal (2023: Same).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

(Continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)
(i) Credit risk (Continued)

(i

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Other financial assets at amortised cost

Other financial assets at amortised cost include
pledged bank deposit, cash and cash equivalents
and other receivables. Impairment on other
financial assets are measured as either 12-month
expected credit losses or lifetime expected credit
loss, depending on whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. If a significant increase in credit risk of
a receivable has occurred since initial recognition,
then impairment is measured as lifetime expected
credit losses. The historical loss rates are adjusted
to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of
the counterparties to settle the receivables. The
Group has closely monitored the credit qualities
and the collectability of the other financial assets
at amortised cost and the loss allowance for
other financial assets at amortised cost as at 31
December 2024 was immaterial (2023: Same).

(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets
or liabilities except for pledged deposit, cash and cash
equivalents and bank borrowings. The maturity dates of
the bank borrowings are within 3 months.

Hence the Group’s income and operating cash flows
are less dependent on changes in market interest rates.
Accordingly, our directors are of the opinion that our
Group does not have significant cash flow and fair value
interest rate risk and no sensitivity analysis is performed.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

3 FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 HBi#HEABEREFSEIEEE &
(Continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued) 3.1 EEEBEE &
(iv) Liquidity risk (iv) REBEERAME
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining EENRBHESTRMEERER
sufficient cash and cash equivalents. Our Group’s HKEAFEHNRE RIS
liquidity risk is further mitigated through the availability EBY  r~EBRBSBLUAELRK
of financing through its own cash resources to meet its BRNREsERESRE U
financial commitments. In the opinion of our directors, FET EL R TS AR > BB LUE—
our Group does not have any significant liquidity risk. TREERBESREM - E
ERA AEBWETME
AP RENE R R ©
The following tables show the remaining contractual TREVIUEGHRLIFIRE
maturities at the end of each reporting period of MEAREZ AEEE/RE
our Group’s financial liabilities based on contractual BERZREHERZETEY
undiscounted cash flows and the earliest date our Group FHANAERBNRZ R
can be required to pay. Balances due within 12 months EHE BARIMBENEESR
equal their carrying balances (including both interest Ko R1RMERB AR EA 4k
and principal) as the impact of discounting is not ERNER@m&&E G (BFEMNE
significant. KA E) o
Less than
1year or Between Between Over
ondemand 1and2years 2and 5 years 5years Total
¥R
HIREK 1228 2F58 55 =1
HK$'000 HK$:000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEn TEn FEx TEn TER
As at 31 December 2024 RZE-ME+=A=+-H
— Trade payables -BREATE 11,576 - - - 11,576
— Bank borrowings —RITMER 9,854 - - - 9,854
— Accruals and other payables - ERREMECRE 2,307 - - - 2,307
— Lease liabilties -HE&R 1,147 996 830 - 2,973
24,884 996 830 - 26,710
As at 31 December 2023 RZEZ=F+-RA=+-H
— Trade payables - BRENTE 481 - - - 4812
— Bank borrowings —R1T1ER 8,093 - - - 8,093
— Accruals and other payables - EHEBRREMELNTE 2,687 - - - 2687
— Lease liabilities -HE&6E 258 150 - - 408
15,850 150 - - 16,000

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

3  FINANCIAL RISK AND CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
(Continued)

3.2

3.3

Capital management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern
in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits
for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital
structure to reduce the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets
to reduce debt.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had bank borrowings
amounted to HK$9,854,000 (2023: HK$8,093,000), and
maturing within 3 months.

Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets, including
trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, pledged
bank deposit, cash and cash equivalents, and financial
liabilities, including trade payables, bank borrowings, accruals
and other payables and lease liabilities approximate their fair
values as at the reporting date due to their short maturities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based
on historical experience and other factors, including expectations
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.
The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal
the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have
a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are
addressed below.

€)

(b)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED sk B

Provision for slow moving inventories

The Group makes provision for slow moving inventories
based on assessing the needs and reasonableness of provision
for slowing moving inventories at each period end. The
identification of slow moving inventories requires the use of
judgments and key assumptions which take into consideration
of historical sales pattern, ageing and expectation of future
sales orders. Where the expectation is different from the
original estimate, such difference will impact the carrying
value of inventories and provision for inventories in the period
in which such estimate has been changed.

Impairment of right of use assets

The Group leased land and buildings in the PRC for the
purposes of its office premises and manufacturing plant
under an operating lease of 10 years where the leased land
and buildings, classified as right of use assets of the Group
were without land and property ownership certificates and
the construction planning permit. Without the certificates and
permit, the existing land and buildings might be ordered for
demolition or confiscated and the lease may be deemed as
invalid. Our directors are of the opinion, based on the advice
from the Group’s external legal adviser, that the title defect of
the leased land and buildings does not affect the operation of
production facility of the Group. It is unlikely to be terminated
or interrupted or to have a material effect on the carrying
amount of the right of use assets which was included in right
of use assets totalling HK$813,000 as at 31 December 2024
(2023: HK$1,401,000).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (Continued)

(©

(d)

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes mainly in Hong Kong
and the PRC. Significant judgment is required in determining
provision for income taxes. There are transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred income tax provisions in
the periods in which such determination are made.

Loss allowance of receivables

The Group makes provision for impairment of receivables
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected loss
rates. The Group uses judgment in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation,
based on the Group’s historical default rates, existing market
conditions as well as forward looking estimates at the end
of each reporting period. The Group recognised lifetime
expected credit loss for trade receivables carried at amortised
cost based on either individually customers who are long
overdue with significant amounts or known insolvencies
or non-response to collection activities, or collectively
assessing them for likelihood of recovery based on ageing
of the balances with similar risk characteristics taking into
account the forward looking information. The identification
of impairment of receivables requires the use of judgment
and estimates. Where the expectations are different from the
original estimates, such differences will impact the carrying
value of receivables and loss for the impairment of receivables
recognized in the periods in which such estimates have been
changed.
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

The chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) has been
identified as the executive directors of our Group. Management
has determined the operating segments based on the information
reviewed by our executive director for the purpose of allocating
resources and assessing performance. The only component
in internal reporting to the executive directors is our Group’s
manufacturing and trading of slewing rings, mechanical parts and
components, trading of machineries, mechanical parts and minerals
for the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024. In this regard,
management considers there is only one operating segment under
the requirements of HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”.

The directors assess the performance of the operating segment
based on a measure of revenue and gross profit.

All of our Group’s revenue are from contracts with customers and
are recognised at a point in time.

(a) Revenue from major customers who had individually
contributed 10% or more of total revenue of the
Group

For the year ended 31 December 2024, there were four
customers (2023: three), which individually contributed over
10% of our Group’s total revenue. Revenue contributed from
our major customers were as follows:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R
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2024 2023

—E_ME BT

HK$°000 HK$000

F&ExT TET

Customer A ZEHRA 15,120 15,020
Customer B ZFEB 14,284 2,966
Customer C* BRC 13,465 -
Customer D EED 12,327 26,799

The corresponding customer was a new customer for the year ended 31
December 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(b) Segment revenue by customers’ geographical

location

Our Group is domiciled in the PRC and Hong Kong. Our
Group’s revenue by geographical location, which is determined

WKk aEER @)
(b) BMERMIPHLIEE DD EBUL
=

AEEURTEKREE AEH
BMEUE REZFUEETE)

by the location of customers, is as follows: SRR EINWT -
2024 2023
—EMmE =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FExT
Hong Kong 58 59,402 32,204
The Philippines B[ == 22,978 33,637
Singapore R 19,200 44,043
The PRC H 4,785 4,261
The USA EH 2,279 -
Malaysia BRI 2,174 18,906
Vietnam e 1,796 1,670
Canada nEKX 1,142 590
Taiwan = 3 4,326
Japan Hz 188 3974
New Zealand HEEE 185 3
Others (Note) EHAth (f15E) 204 137
114,644 143,779
Note: st :
Others include Ireland and Thailand. HhBEEmE AR -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 WERDSEHER @

(c) Non-current assets by geographical location (c) HMIBLIBSSIEREIEE
The total of non-current assets other than deferred tax HEEMEMEDIEREE
assets, broken down by location of the assets, is shown in the 48 (R IEE E RSN ARG
following: R

2024 2023
—EMmE TEC=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#&T T8z
The PRC =8 16,271 20,742
Hong Kong 5B 6,373 3,549
22,644 24,291
(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (d) UKEHESRRYE TR

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sales of goods in the ordinary
course of the Group’s activities.

Revenue is recognised when or as the control of the good is
transferred to the customer. Depending on the terms of the
contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the
good may be transferred over time or at a point in time.

Control of the good is transferred over time if the Group’s
performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed
simultaneously by the customer;

. creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls
as the Group performs; or

. does not create an asset with an alternative use to
the Group and the Group has an enforceable right to
payment for performance completed to date.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

(d) Accounting policies of revenue recognition (Continued)

If control of the goods transfers over time, revenue is
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time
when the customer obtains control of the goods. Specific
criteria where revenue is recognised are described below.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group
presents the contract in the consolidated balance sheet
as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on
the relationship between the entity’s performance and the
customer’s payment.

A receivable is recorded when the Group has an unconditional
right to consideration. A right to consideration is unconditional
if only the passage of time is required before payment of that
consideration is due.

Revenue is recognised when specific criteria have been met
for the Group’s activity as described below:

The Group manufactures and trades of slewing rings, trades
of machineries, mechanical parts and minerals to customers.
Sales of goods transferred at a point in time are recognised
when control of the products has transferred, being when
the products are delivered to the customers, the customer
has full discretion over the usage of the products, and there
is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s
acceptance of the products. No element of financing is
deemed present as the sales are made with a credit term of
60-120 days, which is consistent with market practice.

If a customer pays consideration or the Group has a right to
an amount of consideration that is unconditional, before the
Group transfers the promised goods to the customer, the
Group presents the contract as a contract liability when the
payment is received or a receivable is recorded (whichever is
earlier). A contract liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer
the promised goods to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is due)
from the customer.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

EXPENSES BY NATURE 6 EREFIIHEX
Expenses included in cost of sales, selling and distribution expenses STAHER A -~ HE RDHEEX RITH
and administrative expenses are analysed as follows: MR UT
2024 2023
—E-mE B
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Raw materials and consumables used EREME R HFES (B3E20)
(Note 20) 92,473 75,273
Changes in inventories of finished goods HmAERLEEED)
and work in progress (Note 20) (Ht5£20) (14,480) (3,464)
Provision for slow moving inventories, HIHTFE SRR PR (f5£20)
net (Note 20) 1,038 146
Employee benefit expenses, EBERIHE:  GEEENE
including directors’ emoluments (Note 7) (b1z%7) 14,347 14,182
Depreciation — Property, plant and E-—YE  BEKREKE
equipment (Note 15) (Hi=E15) 4,938 3,871
Amortisation — Intangible assets (Note 16) iH - EmPEE Kat6) 27 -
Legal and professional fees FEEREEER 2,1 1,516
Listing expenses X - 12,363
Auditors’ remuneration 12 B0 B
— Audit services — BETART 1,000 1,250
— Non-audit services — JEBET RS 207 50
Donation =k 31 3,000
Utilities RERTS 835 1197
Transportation expenses BHFYS 1,213 2976
Other expenses Hihpasz 4,144 4,739
Total cost of sales, selling and distribution THERA  HERDHEASE X
expenses and administrative expenses TR 4R %8 107,884 117,099

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 7
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS

(a) Employee benefit expenses

EEEFIRAYS > SEEFEMNE

() ESEFRZ

2024 2023
—EMmE =

HK$°000 HK$'000
F#ExT FET

Wages, salaries, bonuses T8 #ie TTAKREMER
and other benefits 13,351 13,202

Retirement benefit costs BIRER A

— defined contribution plans — EREMEE 839 886
Mandatory provident fund scheme B ATEEEE 157 94
14,347 14,182

(b) ABRZSHEA
HE_Z_NWF+ZB=+—H
EEE AERTHHESNAR
ZEABEMEZ (CE_=ZF 'R
) EE > HEBNR PR T HIEE
10(a) FT 23U 47 ©

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose remuneration were the highest
in the Group include two directors for the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: two), whose remuneration are
reflected in the analysis presented in note 10(a) below.

HE_Z-_NWE+_F=+—H
FEFE BEXNFHT=ZZEEA

The remuneration paid to the remaining three individuals for
the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: three) are as follows:

TECZF I ZR) FMEY

mr

2024 2023
—EMmE —E=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FExT
Wages, salaries and other benefits IT& - e cEMEF 2,082 1,440
Discretionary bonuses BYIBTEAL 187 95

Retirement benefit costs RIREF A A
— defined contribution plans — ERAHAEE - 13
Mandatory provident fund scheme saElE AR EETE 54 22
2,323 1,570
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

7 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES, INCLUDING 7 EEGHNRA%Z OEESFME
DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued) (#)
(b) Five highest paid individuals (Continued) (b) ARESHEA &)
The emolument of the highest paid individuals fell within the e EANMNEBRUTAR

following bands:

2024 2023
—EMmE TET=F
Emolument band B <& 48 B!
HK$1,000,000-HK$1,500,000 1,000,000 78 752 1,500,000 7B 7T 1 -
Nil to HK$1,000,000 EF 1,000,000 87T 2 3
Note: Byst -
No directors or any of the five highest paid individuals received any emoluments HE_Z_NE+_B=+—HIEE
from the Group as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or EEENAMNAZRRSHSEN B LER
compensation for loss of office for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). IWERERBEEAMAREBHMARN
BRI EREE (CSE=F &) o
8 OTHERINCOME 8 HfthlgA
2024 2023
—EMmE TEC=F
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FET TET
Sales of scrapped materials THE RN 230 43
Government subsidy BT BN 34 7
Sundry income HETEUW A - n7
Compensation of goods damaged B nigiEiEE 958 -
1,222 555
9  OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS, NET 9 Hfith (§518) WP
2024 2023
—EME TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET TET
Exchange differences, net ERAERE TR (206) 378
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, HEYZE  BEKRREN
plant and equipment Wz (E8) 70 (220)
(136) 158
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR

(a) Directors’ emoluments

tRE MR

10 EFENEF KR

The emoluments of individual directors for our Company paid
and payable by our Group for the years ended 31 December

2023 and 2024 are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2023:

() EENME
RBE_E_=ZFKR_T_NF
+TZRA=t—HLEEE - x&H
B RS AR FE B E E B
TEIWT

BHE_Z”_=F+_F=+—H
EEFE:

Employers
Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits to pension

Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme Total
2R BERRK
ik e BETL  EMEN  EER st
HK$'00 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TER TER TEL TER TER
Executive directors: BIEE.
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan RIS 4

(Chairman and (EEETHEE)

Chief Executive Officer) - 850 52 - 3l 933
Mr. Chan Lung Pan PREEd - 420 % - 18 473
Independent non-executive directors; B FHITES |
Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan BEhBLE 180 - - - 180
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam gnket 144 - - - 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting EoEyt 144 - - - 144
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continued) 10 EFEMNEFREDS =

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued) () EFNME &)
For the year ended 31 December 2024: BE-_Z-_WE+-“A=+—H
ILEFE:
Employer’s

Allowances  contribution
Discretionary  and benefits  to pension
Fees Salaries bonuses inkind scheme Total
2Bk EXEHK
ik e  BETL  BENEN AR it
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
Ti#n T#x Fi#n Fi#n TFi#n Ti#n

Executive directors: BITEE.
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan BIEW L

(Chairman and (FERTHEZ)

Chief Executive Officer) - 842 52 - 25 919
Mr. Chan Lung Pan BEWEE - 402 35 - 18 455

Independent non-executive directors;  BIUFHTEE

Mr. Chan Wan Tsun Adrian Alan BoLBRE 180 - - - - 180
Ms. Tsang Hau Lam BT T 144 - - - - 144
Ms. Tam Ho Ting EAELt 144 - - - - 144
The remuneration shown above represents remuneration & FHMIEZEEEULRE
received from our Group by these directors in their capacity IMEA AR RBESMELRER
as employee to the subsidiaries of our Group and no directors IWERRI AN > R E_ZE _M&E
waived any emolument during the year ended 31 December +_B=+—HLEE #MEsS
2024 (2023: Nil). EREAAUME (CT=F 1 8) o
(b) Directors’ retirement benefits (b) EFRRAKEF
None of our directors received or will receive any retirement BHE_Z-_HWE+_-_F=+—H
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). IFFEE > BESEE W E T

BURIRIRGERN (T Z=F 1) o

(c) Directors’ termination benefits (c) EFHEEEEFR
None of our directors received or will receive any termination BHE_Z_WNE+_-_A=+—H
benefits during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: Nil). EFE > BiEE5 AR

EVFAIBERAER] (T _=F 1 ) o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

10 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTOR (Continued)

(d) Consideration provided to third parties for making

(e)

®

available directors services

During the year ended 31 December 2024, our Group did not
pay consideration to any third parties for making available
directors’ services (2023: Nil).

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other
dealings in favour of directors, controlled bodies
corporate by and connected entities with such
directors

During the year ended 31 December 2024, there were no
loans, quasi-loans and other dealing arrangements in favour
of directors, or controlled bodies corporate by and connected
entities with such directors (2023: Nil).

Directors’ material interests in transactions,
arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in
relation to our Group’s business to which our Group was a
party and in which a director of our Company had a material
interest, whether directly to indirectly; subsisted at the end of
the year or at any time during the year ended 31 December
2024 (2023: Nil).

tRE MR

10 EENEFNRERS &
(d) MERUHEERFERE=ZSIR

(e)

®

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

HRE
RBE_ZE_NEF+_A=+—
HIEFE > A& E IR &R M
WEERBMAERS =M
REBECZEZ=F:8) -

BRANES - EFEFZEE
REMEERAZTANEG
MBEUERRHEMZZHE
#

REEZZ_ME+_A=+—
HEFE BIENEE EFE
BRZERHEMEBESRZEA
MmEI L EMER  BEERRE
MRZRH (CTE=F 1 ) °

BEENRS  RHSZEANONE
K=

RERFBEE_ES_MNE+_A
—t+—HIEEEXMER > B
FHRAEELERANTNE
EREPESEAEG (EmEEN
%) AR E B XA EAR
G BHREN(CE_=F )
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Notes to the Consolida

R MR R

11 FINANCE INCOME, NET

ted Financial Statements

n RMEWRAZREE

2024 2023
—EME TEC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FET
Finance income BB WA
Interest income on cash and cash equivalents IR&RIRESEBYULERITEDR
and bank deposit BRI E UL A 788 725
Finance cost BB A
Interest expenses on lease liabilities HEaENFERX (40) (15)
Interest expenses on bank borrowings RITERFERES (281) -
Finance income, net RBEUWAFEE 467 710

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense charged to the consolidated

12 FRiSHRAX

RiFE2EBmRANNBRIFTSRASR

statement of comprehensive income represents: et cEi=
2024 2023
—E-NE —E:=
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Current income tax BPEAPTISHR
— The PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”) — hE 2RI
(TEEZEFRH) 641 2,401
— Hong Kong profits tax — HBNER 638 3,683
— (Over)/under provision of prior periods — BEHARS (BEEREE)
BELE (24) 77
Total current income tax BRERPRS IR 48 %E 1,255 6,161
Deferred income tax (Note 30) IRIEFR1SAR (FaE30) 768 (97)
Income tax expense FriSMBE 2,023 6,064
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

®

(i)

Hong Kong profits tax

In accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime
effective from 1 January 2018, Hong Kong profits tax is
calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2,000,000, and 16.5% on
the remaining balance of the estimated assessable profits of
an operating subsidiary for the years ended 31 December 2023
and 2024.

The PRC EIT

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “EIT
Law”), the applicable income tax rate for Kyoei Seiki Co.,
Limited (“Kyoei Seiki”) and Best Linking Import & Export
(Shenzhen) Co,, Limited (“Import & Export”), the subsidiaries
in the PRC is 25%.

Pursuant to the New EIT Law, with respect to a new and high
technology enterprise, the tax levied on its income will be
charged at a preferential rate of 15% after obtaining the High
New Technology Enterprise Certificate (the “Certificate”) and
completing the tax reduction and exemption filing with the tax
authorities. Kyoei Seiki renewed the Certificate when it expired
on 8 November 2023 and the renewed Certificate will expire
on 28 December 2026. As a result of Kyoei Seiki is qualified for
High New Technology Enterprise status, and the applicable tax
rate of Kyoei Seiki was 15% for the years ended 31 December
2023 and 2024.

With respect to small low-profit enterprise, the tax levied
on it income will be charged at a preferential rate of 5%.
Import & Export is qualified to be treated as a small low-profit
enterprise and the applicable tax rate of Import & Export is 5%.

12 PR
(0]

(i)
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RIEPE T ERERE (HERR
BRE) WEBLABERZEHLER
M ARAT (THEBEEEW)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 12

The tax on the Group’s profit before income tax differs from the
theoretical amount that would arise using the enacted tax rate of
the Group entities as follows:

FRiieBiRsZ @

REBEFFTSRANEF B RIBEER A
EEERNERMN KK EENIER
MEREZERNT

2024 2023
—E-mE SR =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Profit before income tax PRPF1SFR AR A 8,313 28,103
Tax calculated at tax rates applicable to 1% 8 MR R M B A B &

profits of the respective subsidiaries MR EAERIE 1,145 4,187
Income not subject to tax TBEHBUA (547) (238)
Expenses not deductible for AENRFEZ

tax purposes 1,848 2,491
Research and development tax credit e IER R (I3F)

(Note) (373) (453)
(Over)/Under provision of prior periods IBEEARS (FBEEEE)

BEIE (24) 77

Tax exemption B (26) -
Income tax expense R 2,023 6,064
Note: =3

According to relevant laws and regulations promulgated by the State Tax Bureaus of
the PRC, enterprises engaging in research and development activities are entitled to
claim 100% of the research and development expenses. The aggregate research and
development expenses charged to statement of comprehensive income amounted to
HK$2,487,000 for the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023: HK$3,021,000).

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A

RIBFFEERREEEGOBRERE AR (S
HEEBM XA ERRMEREZNI00% HE
ZEZNE+B=+—HIEFE > 2EKERT
PRAYR 32 B L 4R%E 4 2,487,000 87T (T2 - =4 :
3,021,000 7T) ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted average
number of ordinary shares in issue.

tRE MR

13 SKREHN

BREXBNRERTEA ABGEET
BRUBETERRINEFIIHEARSE

2024 2023
—E-mE = =
Profit attributable to equity holders of the KABDERTFTE AEL G
Company (HK$'000) (F#A71) 6,290 22,039
Weighted average number of shares in issue B 31TRR (D IIRE T 1981 (F %)
(thousand) (Note) (KtaE) 800,000 800,000
Basic earnings per share (HK cents per share) SREERZF (G5EEWL) 0.8 2.8

Note:

The weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of basic earnings per
share for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 has been adjusted for the share
subdivision on 21 May 2024 as if they have taken place since the beginning of the year.

The comparative figures for the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31
December 2023 are restated to take into account of the effect of the above share
subdivision during the year retrospectively as if they have taken place since the
beginning of the comparative year.

Diluted earnings per share for the years ended 31 December 2024 was the same as the
basic earnings per share as there was no potentially dilutive instrument outstanding
during the year (2023: Same).

On 17 May 2024, the shareholders of the Company (“Shareholder(s)”) in the annual
general meeting of the Company approved the share subdivision of which each issued
and unissued existing ordinary share of a par value of HKO.01 each in the share capital
of the Company was subdivided into two ordinary shares of a par value of HKO.005
each (the “Subdivided Share(s)”) in the share capital of the Company (the “Share
Subdivision”) .

HiaE -

MEBEE T NER_SE_=F+_B=+—HIE
FEESREABRFNEERINBFELSHEHR -
ZNERAZ+—HMWRGIFAAEL AR HIE
BENURERE -

BE_ZE_=F+_A=+—HLFESREAR
FOLER#AFEET > UMt A L ERRG T
B E - MNME B LR FERBLUREHEE -

BETZ NS+ _A=+—HLEFENSKREE
BAHEAGREABNER (CTE2Z=F 1 8F) -
HEREELREBETEINENEEITIA -

RIZ-MFEA+EtH > ZRBKE (RRY)
RARBRRBEFAG ERERDIFE (RBHF
M) HPARQBRARSREEOEITHNESR
ThABTHRAZERBRFARTRADREPER
E1E0.005 BT mAREER (MHF4lmRB.) -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

14 SUBSIDIARIES

14

The Group’s principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2023 and 2024
are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, they have share capital
consisting solely of ordinary shares that are held directly or indirectly
by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals
the voting rights held by the Group.

Place of incorporation

Principal activities

BT

FEENR S =ZFRETMNFE+T
A=+—HHEEMEABTIEWT -
BERBYIRN  HRAESEFERE
BUBRGFANEBRAFAIFHERER
mbPIERAERFRNRER -

Particulars of issued Ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity and place of operation  share capital held by the Group
B30 TR TEEBR
MEAREE EEBRER mEEs ER{TRFHE EEFGHEERED
2024 2023
ZBCmE “3C°=R
Directly held:
EiH:
Kyoei Seiki Holdings Limited The BVI, limited liability Investment holding Tordinary share of 100% 100%
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
EBEARES REBRELZR IRIETNEBR
BREART
Best Linking Holdings Limited The BV, limited liability Investment holding Tordinary share of 100% 100%
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
EBEARES REBRELZR IRIETNEBR
BREART
BLG Rental Holdings Limited The BVI, limited liability Investment holding Tordinary share of 100% N/A
company in Hong Kong US$1 each
EBEARES REBRELZR IRIETNEBR NEHR
BREART

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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tRE MR

14 SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

Place of incorporation

14 MBATE @)

Principal activities

Particulars of issued

Ownership interest

Name of subsidiaries and kind of legal entity and place of operation  share capital held by the Group
B30 D ATRIUE Y TEEHR
WEARBHE EEERER mEhE ER{TRAFHE sEERSMEERT
2024 2023
ZEImE “EC°=F
Indirectly held:
MiERE
Kyoei Corporation Limited Hong Kong, limited company  Trading and investment 13,000,000 ordinary 100% 100%
(formerly known as Wing Fung holding in Hong Kong shares HK$13,000,000
Machinery Company Limited)
HEBSERRAF &8 BRAR REBETEZR 13,000,000 B & &%
(RIBRERMERAF) RERK 13,000,000 7%
Best Linking Limited Hong Kong, limited company  Trading of machinery Tordinary share HK$1 100% 100%
products and minerals
in Hong Kong
XBEBRAT &8 BRAR REABERMER  \RIBINZER
R
BLG Construction and Equipment Hong Kong, limited company ~ Rental and leasing 10,000 ordinary share 100% N/A
Rental Limited services in Hong Kong HKS$1
KBERZBEBRAR & BRAR PREANSHEERYE 10000 1ETH TEA
EiEk
Kyoei Seiki Co., Limited The PRC, limited liability Manufacturing of Registered capital of 100% 100%
company machinery products HK$20,000,000
inthe PRC
REHERRERNERAR HE > BREEAT PHRERERNER  EREE
20,000,000 75
Best Linking Import and Export The PRC, limited liability Trading of goods Registered capital of 100% 100%
(Shenzhen) Co., Limited company HK$100,000
FXBEEHOBRAR HE EREARF BEEEM FMEAR100,000% 7T
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R MR R

15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 15 % - REREE
Right of use Office Plant and Leasehold Motor  Construction
assets  equipment  machinery improvement vehicles  inprogress Total

EREEE WAERE MERHE  EEDE g EEER it
HKP000  HKE000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000
TR TEn ThEn TR TR ThEn TiEn

At1January 2023 WZE_=5-A—-H
Cost IS 5871 1398 34202 1148 3531 760 53,330
Accumulated depreciation REHNE (3,637) (1155) (22.582) (608) (219) - (28201)
Net book amount REFE 2234 243 11,640 540 3312 760 25129
Year ended 31 December 2023 HEZZ_ =%

+ZB=1+—HItEE
Opening net book amount ENRmEE 2234 243 1640 540 330 7160 25129
Additions hE 544 9 77 269 614 1489 3,087
Transfer from Construction in progress B EARTR - - 531 3194 - (8,505) -
Disposal (Note 32(c)) HE (W320) (102) - (257) - - - (359)
Depreciation (Note 6) & (zte) (820) ) (1567) (329) (1084) - (3871)
Exchange differences ERER (54) ) (472) 69 (6) (144) (614)
Closing net book amount FRERFE 1802 259 4732 3743 2836 - 2372
At 31 December 2023 RIBZ=f

+-A=1+-AH
Cost IS 5470 1452 38,064 473 4133 - 53,832
Accumulated depreciation ZHINE (3,668) (1193) (23332) (970) (1.297) - (30,460)
Net book amount REFE 1802 259 14,732 3743 2836 - 23372
At1January 2024 RZZ-ME-F—H
Cost [TmN 5470 1452 38064 473 4133 - 53,832
Accumulated depreciation RiHNE (3,668) (1193) (25,332) (970) (1.297) - (30,460)
Net book amount REFE 1802 259 14,732 3,743 2836 - 23372
Year ended 31 December 2024 HE-Z-ME

+ZB=+-HLEE
Opening net book amount ENRmEE 1,802 259 14,732 3,743 2,836 - 23,372
Additions AE 2,808 65 417 1,11 - - 5,061
Disposal (Note 32(c)) HE (W£320) - - (1,765) (32) - - (1,797)
Depreciation (Note 6) & (W7#6) (937) () (1,245) (1,560) (1,119)) - (4,938)
Exchange differences ERER (98) (8) (429) (270) (18) - (823)
Closing net book amount EREMEFE 3,575 239 1,710 3,652 1,699 - 20,875
At 31 December 2024 R-B-mE

+ZR=+-H
Cost IS 8,054 1,460 35,112 5,321 4,104 - 54,050
Accumulated depreciation Ritig (4,479) (1,221) (23,402) (1,669) (2,405) - (33,175)
Net hook amount REFE 3,575 239 1,710 3,652 1,699 - 20,875
The right of use assets represents the lease on production factory in FREEERHETENEERE NS
the PRC, office, carpark and warehouse in Hong Kong. BHPIER S FHIEKREBE ©
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

During the year, the amounts of depreciation expense charged to

tRE MR

15 % BERRE @

RAFE > BIEEMARITHF R

cost of sales and administrative expenses are as follows: RITERSZ SR T ¢
2024 2023
—EmE B =4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&T FET
Cost of sales & A 2,859 2,076
Administrative expenses THHEX 2,079 1,795
4,938 3,871

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if
any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable
to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of any component accounted for as
a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income during the reporting period in which they
are incurred.

Depreciation of property and equipment is calculated using the
straight line method to allocate their cost to their residual values
over its estimated useful lives, as follows:

Plant and machinery 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 3years
Leasehold improvements Shorter of lease terms

or 5 years

The assets residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period.

M2~ B E R s AR IE SR B AR R 5T
EXRRSRERE (WE) JIiK - ELM
AEFEWEAREEERBENH -

I8 BARRR R RSB ER B AL E
CMERETAIZA5HE ) AZREN
HEBMAHD G5t ABERREE > 3
BE) BIA—EBUBE -FRER
EEZBENEMAERESDREERE
MEBUHREST - A HMEEREREE
BEREEENBRSHEFAGEE2RE
Wa sk o

MERRFENITEZE G RAIERER
MEESE » i E R A= 2RI
BE > ARuT:

o 5 B i 47 104
MAERE 5%
H_E 3
HEYEEE HEHRESF

ZBIEE

BEENFHREENIERAFHENEH
WEABKRETRS > WEBEEER TF
HEHEE o
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

=
AR

Sagiikr i U

15 PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 15 % - BERSE @
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its WEERBESNEMGstTWESEE
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its B EEMREEMREE T
estimated recoverable amount (note 33.5). Ol&28 (BFEE335) °
Gains or losses on disposals are determined by comparing the HEBRLBBLERAEHRIBERIREE
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “other BT IRiEac2mWmicm &t (6
(losses)/gains, net” in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 18) WP EE ) NFESD o
income.
Construction-in-progress represents machineries under installation ER TR EEZEpIE S Kl TRy
and leasehold improvement under construction, which is stated HEYEEE  WELRARERRE
at historical cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any. No 518 (MNA) 5iR o TEE T2 ERE 5
provision for depreciation is made on construction-in-progress B> EEEEBEERITI KoL ERR
until such time as the relevant assets are completed and ready EARAIE - EHMEETMER > 5L
for intended use. When the assets concerned are ready for use, KERIEBREEEYE - BERRE
the costs are transferred to property, plant and equipment and W EHEITE ©
depreciated in accordance with the policy.
16 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 16 EREEE
Computer
software
SR
HK$'000
FExT
At 31 December 2023 and 1January 2024 W-E-=5+-"RA=+—HxR%
—E-_mE—HB—H
Cost DN -
Accumulated amortisation REH -
Net book amount IREFE -
Year ended 31 December 2024 BE—_ET-_mME+-B=+—HILEE
Opening net book amount FHEREFE -
Additions nE 1,630
Amortisation M @7
Closing net book amount FRIREFE 1,603
At 31 December 2024 R-E_mE+"A=+—8H
Cost D% 1,630
Accumulated amortisation E gt Q7
Net book amount BREFE 1,603

During the year, the amortisation of intangible assets is charged to

administrative expenses (2023: nil).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

The Group’s financial instruments include the following:

17 #BEHNSSHNEMIA
AEENSHTEOETHRE:

2024 2023
—E-ME —zT =

HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET

Financial assets at amortised costs: RBHR TR ERMEE
Trade receivables B 5 EINEIE 24,764 44,291
Deposits and other receivables e K HAMMEWEIE 688 320
Pledged bank deposit BIERIRITER 15,076 5,028
Cash and cash equivalents BEKRIEBEEHEY 59,452 54,891
99,980 104,530

Financial liabilities at amortised costs: BRIBHRETRNERHEE
Trade payables B S ENIE 11,576 4,812
Bank borrowings RITIER 9,854 8,093
Lease liabilities HEaE 2,751 391
Accruals and other payables FEstER R EME R IE 2,337 2,687
26,518 15,983
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES 18

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold
and delivered in the ordinary course of business.

B % ElrkIE

ERRWHRIAESTEHEEBBREDILE
miHE R MR R BIRIE

2024 2023

ko 111 -3 TET=HF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Trade receivables B2 EWEIE 23,653 44,291
Amount due from a related party (Note 31(a)) FEWRRAT: 753k (M5E 31(a)) 1,M -
24,764 44291

As at 31 December 2024, due to the short-term nature of the
trade receivables, their carrying amounts of trade receivables was
considered to be the same as their fair values.

The Group’s sales were on credit terms primarily from 60 days to

ATECNE+"A=+—H BRE
ZRWRIENERTE - 8 5 EWRUE
FEREEREATEEE -

AEBPNPFEDREERET T2 N

120 days. F60HZE10H °
The ageing analysis of the trade receivables by due date, were as B 5 EWRIEZE AR 8D I ARES DA
follows: mr
2024 2023
—EUE “ETF
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#5T FET
Current SIEE] 13,058 32,761
1-30 days past due BHEIIE30H 1,491 5,343
31-60 days past due HHA3IE 60 H 2,350 2,274
61-90 days past due BRI E 90 H 1,582 1,901
Over 90 days past due EHA0H M 6,283 2,012
24,764 44,291

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade receivables were
denominated in the following currencies:

tRE MR

B S EYHIE 2

A5 B B 52 R WU RUR B BR T TS LA T 51
EHEE

2024 2023
ko 111 -3 TET=HF

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FET

HK$ BT 10,383 23,127
usD ET 14,152 21,135
RMB AEHE 229 29
24,764 44,291

The maximum exposure to credit risk as at 31 December 2023 and
2024 was the carrying value of the receivables mentioned above.

Trade receivables are generally due for settlement from 60 days to
120 days and therefore all classified as current. Trade receivables
are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is
unconditional unless they contain significant financing components,
when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds the trade
receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised
cost using the effective interest method. Details about the Group’s
impairment policies are provided in Note 2.1(ii).

As at 31 December 2023 and 2024, no provision of impairment for
trade receivables was made as the expected loss rate was minimal.

A _E_—EREFE_WE+_A
—t+—HMNESEERKS -l ER
TEMIREE ©

B S REWNERIEEER 602120 HEIHR4E
B A2 EDEEA00HE - %%F’g”&ﬂ\
B REGFESNHEESRETIS
W BEEHBESEAMENRS E'# %
NABEETHES - $$.hﬁ%%/‘§
WHIEMNENEWEREREIRERE »
ltl:féna@}fﬁﬁl‘?&ﬂ%&&ﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁizﬁﬁi
B S EWAIE - BRAAEEREBR
NS ENERADE
RIB_=ZFR-_Z_NFE+A1
=+—B > anREREEEmAR K
I B FEWGRIE(E R E B o

ANNUAL REPORT 2024 ZZ_HFFR

181



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

19 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

19 FEMRRIE - B2 R HtEWRIE

2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE&T FExT
Non-current JEED
Prepayments for purchase of TS S BASE A RITE B
computer software - 800
Rental deposits HERE 166 19
166 919
Current ey
Deposits and other receivables e K HAMEWRIE 522 201
Prepayments SEENE 7,783 12,447
8,305 12,648
Total prepayments, deposits and TN BE&
other receivables HEWRIE4E%E 8,471 13,567

The carrying amounts of the Group’s prepayments, deposits and
other receivables were denominated in the following currencies:

AEBAMNRIE ~ B2 REMBURIE
RUBREIETH A TG EHE !

2024 2023

—EmE —E =4

HK$°000 HK$'000

FExT FExT

HK$ BT 31 7,753
JPY H 472 2,926
RMB AEHE 7,688 2,485
usD E7T - 403
8,471 13,567

182 BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

INVENTORIES 20 z8§
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Raw materials RAFR 7,903 6,945
Work in progress TR 2,858 4,078
Finished goods e 25,963 12,672
36,724 23,695
Less: provision for slow moving inventories i . iHE S H (1,567) (570)
35,157 23125

The cost of inventories and consumables recognised as expense and
included in cost of sales during the year ended 31 December 2024
amounted to HK$77,993,000 (2023: HK$71,809,000) (Note 6).

Movements on the provision for slow moving inventories are as

HE_Z_WE+_HB=+—HL=E
B Ml al It AHEREANES
B R A AS 477,993,000 ¢ (ZF
— =4 :71,809,000787T) (FfsE6) °

I ERENEEINT

follows:
2024 2023
—E-@mE “EBT=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
At 1 January W—HE—H 570 437
Reversal of provision for slow moving I EEAE R (Wate)
inventories (Note 6) (144) (226)
Provision for slow moving inventories NSRS (Wfte)
(Note 6) 1,182 372
Exchange differences b =48 (41) (3)
At 31 December R+_-_B=+—H 1,567 570

The Group reversed provision for slowing moving inventories and
included in cost of sales amounted to HK$144,000 as the relevant
inventories was sold during the year ended 31 December 2024 (2023:

HK$226,000) (Note 6).

BHE_Z_NWE+_HB=+—HLE
B> AREBEBELOFHETFEREBI AR
EmZs ) &8 41440008 EARE
HEMBEEES (TT =4 122600078

7o) (fisEe) o
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BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

PLEDGED BANK DEPOSIT AND CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS

As at 31 December 2024, the pledged bank deposit amounted to
HK$15,076,000 shown under current assets carried interest rate at
0.4% to 3% per annum (2023: the pledged bank deposit amounted
to HK$5,028,000 shown under current assets carried interest rate
at 0.95% per annum). The bank deposit was pledged to secure bank
borrowings repayable in January and February 2025.

21 BiMRTERRRERRESF
B!

A CE_NE+_B=+—H ' A"H
EEBETHAHNEEFRETERA
15,076,000 7T > M EF T 04 B I% T
ECE=ZF RPEEBETH~HY
BRI T FE R 450280008 7T 1%
FEFEOIS%FTE) c IRITEFEREWIE
W EAR_E_AF—BAKR_ABY
BERTETWER -

2024 2023

HK$’000 HK$ 000

FExT FBx

Cash at banks RITIRE 59,400 54,737
Cash on hand FHEIRE 52 154
Cash and cash equivalents BEKRIEEEEBY 59,452 54,891
Maximum exposure to credit risk EeEERE 59,400 54,737

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents are denominated
in the following currencies:

e RRESEMBEEED U TS
HEHE

2024 2023
—EmE —E=F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

HK$ BT 15,666 27,628
usD E7T 33,410 22,905
RMB AR 4,112 2,250
JPY H 6,264 2,108
59,452 54,891

Cash at banks include short-term bank time deposits with maturity
of 3 months, approximately HK$18,904,000 (2023: approximately to
HK$15,737,000) with interest rate ranged from 3.0% to 4.1% (2023:
ranged from 4.3% to 4.6%) per annum.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of cash and cash
equivalents approximated their fair values.

As 31 December 2024, approximately HK$22,976,000 (2023:
approximately to HK$18,193,000) of the Group’s cash and cash
equivalents were placed with banks in the PRC denominated in RMB
or USD, which were subject to foreign exchange control regulations
of the PRC.

KBEEEREZERARAE

RITIREEENRIES NI EL
EHASE 1T E N 4918,904,000 ¢ (Z &
T =4 #915737,0003ET) » FEF=EN
FI0%E41% (ZEZ=F T F43%
E46%) ©

A ZE_NE+ZA=+—H Rk
ReEBEYNREEREQATERS -

A_E_MFE+"BA=1+—H » &~&H
P& MIREHEY4 22,976,000 Bt (Z
T =4 1 491819300078 7T) WU A R
HETEREFTBEMNIET SRV F
RIINEE HIRR B o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

22 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

tRE MR

22 ReAKBR{niEE

Nominal
Number of value of
ordinary shares ordinary share
ZiEkeE SEREE
HK$'000
FET
Authorised: EE
As at 31 December 2023 and 1 January 2024 W _ZE_-_=F+_H=+—H
R_ZE_MFE—F—H 10,000,000,000 100,000
Share Subdivision of authorised share capital R_ZE_WNEHE _+—H
on 21 May 2024 (Note a) AR Z B IRAR (fifaEa)  10,000,000,000 -
As at 31 December 2024 RZZZME+"HA=+—H 20,000,000,000 100,000
Number of Nominal
ordinary value of Share
shares ordinary share premium
EiEesE 2 TEREE RiniEE
Note HK$'000 HK$'000
HtaE TET TET
Issued and paid: BETREE
As at 1 January 2023 N _E_=—F—H—H 400,000,000 4,000 10,51
Dividends paid BETRE ®) - - (10,511
As at 31 December 2023 \:::_¢+—ﬁ =+—Bk
and 1 January 2024 —ETMFE—F—H 400,000,000 4,000 -
Share Subdivision on A B _NFERA_+—H
21 May 2024 B 15 3741 (a) 400,000,000 - -
As at 31 December 2024 AR E+ZA=+—H 800,000,000 4,000 -
Notes: BiaE
(a) On 17 May 2024, the Shareholders in the annual general meeting of the Company (a) RIZZMERA+tH > BERAEAT R

(b)

approved the Share Subdivision of which every issued and unissued existing
ordinary share of a par value of HK0O.01 each in the share capital of the Company
was subdivided into two ordinary shares of a par value of HK0.005 each in the
share capital of the Company. Upon the Share Subdivision becoming effective,
800,000,000 ordinary shares are in issue and fully paid or credited as fully paid.
The authorised share capital of the Company of HK$100,000,000 is divided into
20,000,000,000 Subdivided Shares of par value of HK0.005 each. Details are
set out in the Company’s circular dated 15 April 2024. The Share Subdivision was
effective on 21 May 2024.

On 16 June 2023, the proposed final dividend of HK4.0 cents per share (or
equivalent to HK$2.0 per Subdivided Share), amounting to HK$16,000,000 for
the year ended 31 December 2022 was approved. Such dividend was recorded
as a reduction of share premium and retained earnings of the Group pursuant to
the Articles of Association and the Companies Act (as consolidated or revised
from time to time) of the Cayman Islands. The final dividend was paid on 5 July
2023.

RBEAY EHUERDIFME > Eh AR
AHEREEBITHNEBITRABITR
AL ERWRAAETABDRATSREE
0.005 7 7T B9 T A% i 48 AR 1% o TR R D IR 4 4
1% > BE417800,000,000 A% i iR H B4
BHARTIBHE - ZABEEREE S
100,000,000 # 7T » 43 £ 20,000,000,000 A&
SIREE0.005% 7T IF RN o SEBE
AABHBPATSE _NENA+HEHAZE
R o RIDIFAR S _OMFERB-+—H
ER o

(b) RIBE_=ZF A+ B BHE_ZB__F
+ZA=+—HIEEENEZAARES
B2 4.0 Bl (RABZ 1 S RIFAZK 2.0 8 7T)
(£%8%16,000,000 74 7T) HEHE A o RIFAAS
SIRMARESEAR L ERRRERE
5] 0 ZERBAREAREERMDEER
REBBAWVHER - REREER_T=F
+tHARABIK ©
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23 RESERVES

(@

(b)

(9]

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Capital reserve

Capital reserves of the Group represented the difference
between the net asset value of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the reorganisation on 21 December 2018, over the
nominal value of the share capital of the Company issued in
exchange thereof.

Statutory reserve

The PRC laws and regulations require companies registered
in the PRC to provide for certain statutory reserves, which
are to be appropriated from the profit after income tax (after
offsetting accumulated losses from prior years) as reported
in their respective statutory financial statements, before
profit distributions to equity holders. All statutory reserves
are created for specific purposes. A PRC company is required
to appropriate an amount of not less than 10% of statutory
profit after income tax to statutory surplus reserves, prior
to distribution of its post-tax profits of the current year.
A company may discontinue the contribution when the
aggregate sum of the statutory surplus reserve is more than
50% of its registered capital. The statutory surplus reserves
shall only be used to make up losses of the company, to
expand the company’s operations, or to increase the capital
of the company. In addition, a company may make further
contribution to the discretional surplus reserve using its post-
tax profits in accordance with resolutions of the board of
directors.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve of the Group comprises all currency
translation differences arising from translation difference of
the financial statements of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC.

ok E

EEFEERBRAA

23 {#f\
(a)

(b)

©

e
FEENEFRFERERE-Z
—N\E+ZRBZ+—HEHEF
WENBARNEEFEEARH
RBPRETARABRANEE
HEE-

EEEAE
PELERIEREREPEZEMA
NEREBEEEMBREMZRK
BIFRFIIS M B IEF (R UEFE
MWRETEER) B KoIKEN F
BmBFA AR B BRIELURE #
ETZERBEZ -FTELAEMMA
EIR/FHARMRKRIL - PER
BN D IKEFERFRREIEFIA]
AREERERFHBE BT DR
PRISMEEZE BN I10%EER - &
NEAERBRBHAMBAR
SERE AR 50% 5 0 A B A= L
B - EERBREERBER
BRENBER - BARATINEE
HEMRBNER - 15> R
%%‘E‘E‘E’J/ RBRE AR AERA
Bri IS B 15 M & AR A FH
’&—*ﬁﬁitm °

ShEEfESE

AEBNIIEREEREREAER
S A B9 B BB A B B9 A 75 R R A
BEFFELNEEEEIREER -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

24 LEASE LIABILITIES

(a) Amounts recognised in the consolidated balance

24

HE&R

() REFESEEARKRPEINE

sheets L]
The consolidated balance sheets show the following amounts GEEEaBERY AN TARE
relating to leases: BRNEEE
2024 2023
—EE TEC=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FExT
Right of use assets* FRIESE"
Properties SES 3,575 1,802

The balances were included in the note 15 “Properties, plant and

EERE ST AM R T~ BB Keak

equipment”. e

2024 2023
—EUE B =4
HK$’000 HK$ 000
FExT FET

Lease liabilities HEaF
Non-current portion JERNHAZR 1,731 148
Current portion BIHEAER 1,020 243
2,751 391

Additions to the right-of-use assets amounted to
approximately HK$2,808,000 during the year ended 31
December 2024 (2023: HK$544,000).

ANNUAL REPORT 2024

BE_Z_WNWE+_B=+—
HEFEE - GRAEEEREA
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BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

24 LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

(b) Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income show
the following amounts relating to leases:

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

24 HEBBE®

RiZE2ERERPEINE
L]
RetERERIITHNTEES
BEREER

2024 2023
—E-mE TEC=4F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET

Depreciation charge of FHEEETERS

right of use assets

Properties (Note 15) Ynz (Kfa#15) 937 820
Finance costs on leases (Note 1) HERNRERD (F1a21) 40 15

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended
2024 was HK$424,000 (2023: HK$182,000), including the
payment of principal elements and interest elements of lease
liabilities amounting to HK$384,000 and HK$40,000 (2023:
HK$167,000 and HK$15,000) respectively.

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office
carpark and warehouse in Hong Kong. These lease liabilities
were measured at net present value of the lease payments
for the lease terms that are not yet paid. On 25 June 2020,
the Company and the landlord of the production factory in
the PRC entered into a new contract, superseding the original
rental contract. The rental agreement has the same scope
of lease with revised monthly rental, totaling HK$3,644,000
for 72 months, which was fully paid during the year ended 31
December 2020.

KBEEEREZERARAE

BE_Z_NELFEMNHEER
M HABEE A 4240007870 (ZF
= 11820008 7T) 0 BEXT
HEaBENASID KR EI;LD
2Bl 384,000 7T K 40,000 7%
T (CEZ=%:167,0008TK
15,000 7T) °

AEBRFPEREEEERRERPD
EEHENSEREFEERAEE
ZEMEaBEABRBE RN
HMEMRNERESEZ2 - RE
“EEXRBZ+EH ARE K
FEEERENEFTILNEL
BMAREHEEN -HEBEN
HMEHEERR > BEEBME:]
5 $£3,644,0008 T 0 AH 7218
B BREBE_ZET_Z£+_A4
= t+—HIEEERHIZ(T o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

25 TRADE PAYABLES

Trade payables at the end of each reporting period comprise
amounts outstanding to contract creditors and suppliers. The
average credit period taken for trade purchase is generally from

25 B REAHRIE

BEREPRNEZEBARBREHRZ
NFENERARBEFNEEH -BH
RBOTHEEEH-—MRAH0EWR -

0-90 days.
2024 2023
—E-mE —EBE-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FExT
Trade payables B SR mIE 4,982 4,812
Amount due to a related party (Note 31(a)) FE(T RAE A5 I8 (K15 31a) 6,694 -
11,576 4,812

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the ageing analysis of the trade
payables, based on invoice date, were as follows:

RIBE_MER-_Z-_=ZF+"A8
=+—H > BEEAREEREZEH

HERES AT T -
2024 2023
—E_mE TET=4F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FExT FExT
Up to 30 days A%ZR30H 160 2,482
31-60 days 3IE60H 161 230
61-90 days 6190 H - -
Over 90 days BiB90 H 11,255 2,100
1,576 4812
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25 TRADE PAYABLES (Continued)

The carrying amounts of trade payable were denominated in the

following currencies:

25 BHEMHIE =

BEZRATIAZREEUTIE

WEEHE -

2024 2023
—E-mE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
RMB AR 2,332 2,712
HK$ BIT 6,635 2,100
usD ETT 2,609 -
11,576 4,812
As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amounts of trade payables A CETNE+_B=+—H ' E5E
approximated their fair values (2023: Same). ANHENEEEEEAFERSE (T
ZZ=F MR o
26 BANK BORROWINGS 26 SRITIBERX
2024 2023
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Bank borrowings — import loans RITEN —EOBE™ 9,854 8,093

As at 31 December 2024, the bank borrowings were interest bearing

RZEZWNFE+ZHA=+—0H R17@E

at the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus 2% per annum (2023:
Same). The bank borrowings were dominated in RMB and USD and
their carrying amounts approximated to the fair values. The bank
borrowings were repayable in January and February 2025.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

K Hif

EEFEERBRAA

TR EBEBIRETHERBESMEMNZE2%
FE(CEZ=F R  RITERIU
AREERETHERHEREREAF
BERE - BITERER _S_RF—A8
B_AEE-



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

26 BANK BORROWINGS (Continued) 26 SRITERR @)
Banking facilities SRITRLE
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had aggregate banking R_E_WME+_A=+—H > x&E
facilities of approximately HK$56,000,000 (2023; HK$31,000,000) EOERPIR{TRE48%84956,000,000
for import loans. There were undrawn facilities of approximately Bt (ZE =4 310000008 75T) °
HK$46,146,000 (2023: HK$22,907,000) as at 31 December 2024. A ZETMFE+"HA=+—H > KRIEW
LB 49461460008 T (CE - =
22,907,000387T) °
As at 31 December 2024, the banking facilities were secured by the R_E_WE+—_BA=+—H BT/
following: BERMUTIIIZEEIRE
()  An aggregate charge over deposits which amounted to () TFRIPEC048%815,076,0008 7T 5 &
HK$15,076,000; and
(i) Unlimited guarantee provided by the Company. (i) ANABIRMEERIER o
The Group has complied with the financial covenants of its bank BHE_Z W+ _"_H=+—HIL%F
borrowings during the year ended 31 December 2024. B REBEETHIBTEMNTER
gg °
27 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 27 BHBERE
2024 2023
—E-mE —EBC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Contract liabilities relating to sales of goods ~ EASHE S ZERNENEE 4,084 -
As at 31 December 2024, there are HK$4,084,000 (2023: Nil) of RIZ2EZOF+ZA=+—8  8BixR

unsatisfied performance obligations related to the consideration
received from a customer for goods that have not yet been
transferred to customer. Management expects that the carrying
amount of the unsatisfied performance obligations as of 31
December 2024 will be recognised as revenue during the next
reporting period. The carrying amount of the Group’s contract
liabilities were denominated in USD as at 31 December 2024.

ANNUAL REPORT 2024
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BN KT ELET 54,084,000
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REANEENEREERN T—ERS
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28 ACCRUALS AND OTHER PAYABLES 28 FEtERAREMESRIE
2024 2023
—EUE TEC=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ET FET
Accrued auditors’ remuneration JFE 5112 h e 7 EM 1,132 1,050
Accrued employee benefit expenses FEstHEERFEX 1,504 1.214
Accrued listing expense fEst EHRES - 200
Other accruals HMEs & 287 279
Other payables HhpE=Ia 6 27
Payable for purchase of property, BEYIZE - BB R&E
plant and equipment RIFE (S =RIE 912 1131
3,841 3,901
The carrying amounts of the Group’s accruals and other payables KEBESE R REMEIRIERER
were denominated in the following currencies: EENUTIIEEE
2024 2023
—E-MmE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FET
RMB AR 2,586 2,350
HK$ BT 1,255 1,551
3,841 3,901
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tRE MR

29 DIVIDENDS 29 KRR
(a) Dividends declared and paid during the year (@) FAEEGRIKTHRE
2024 2023
—E-mE T =F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Final dividends declared in 2023 and “ERICFEEMRIEINE
paid in 2024 of HK4.0 cents per share AT BIRERRR E AR 4.0 81
(declared in 2022 and paid in 2023; (CEIZFEEMRIEI=F
HK4.0 cents)* TRAT T 4.0 784 * 16,000 16,000
(b) Dividends for the year (b) FARKRE
2024 2023
—E-mE e
HK$°000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Proposed final dividends of HK Nil cents BEREREERETEW
per share (2023: HK4.0 cents*™) (Note) (ZE2Z=F: 4080) (K12 - 16,000
Notes: Bzt :
or equivalent to HK2.0 cents per Subdivided Share in respect of final * FEERBHM-_Z=FEEMK
dividend declared in 2023 and paid in 2024 (declared in 2022 and paid “EMERCHREBERENSR
in 2023: HK2.0 cents) FHRR (D208 (CTE-Z—_FEE

R ZS =AM D 2084 ©

** or equivalent to HK2.0 cents per Subdivided Share in respect of = NEEREBR _S_=FE&KE
proposed final dividend in 2023 & S0 R 2.0 Bl ©
30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX 30 IRIEFRISHR
The movement in deferred income tax assets and deferred income REEZZE_—FK-_F_NFE+H
tax liabilities during the years ended 31 December 2023 and 2024, —t+—HIEFENELEMRERNEEME
without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within ERIBEEEE) (L& RIEHEE—HR
the same tax jurisdiction, was as follow: HaEAEE SRR ST -
The analysis of deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax FIEFTSME E RIELEFAERE B
liabilities is as follows: W
2024 2023
> Jol 111 - —ET =8
HK$’000 HK$'000
FExT FBxT
Deferred income tax assets RILFTIEME E 235 572
Deferred income tax liabilities RILFTIEMEE (431) =
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30 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax assets

30

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

IEXEFRISHR (&
IEIEFRISIREE

Lease Provision for Decelerated tax
liabilities inventories depreciation Total
HEaE GFERE IBERERE tact
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHT FET FET
At 1January 2023 N_EBE_=F—HF—H 23 65 387 475
(Charged)/credited to RiEEaE2ElEE
consolidated statement of (0p8) /=t A
comprehensive income (HiaE12)
(Note 12) (40) 21 116 97
As at 31 December 2023 S S
+-H=+—H a7) 86 503 572
At 1January 2024 WZE-_NFE—A—H a7 86 503 572
Credited/(charged) to RiFa2ElER
consolidated statement of Mg/ Gt A)
comprehensive income (Hfzt12)
(Note 12) 17 149 (503) (337)
As at 31 December 2024 g o 11 -
+=-BR=+—H - 235 - 235
Deferred income tax liabilities IRIEFRSIRER

Accelerated tax
depreciation

INEMRISIHE

HK$'000

FET

At 31 December 2023 and 1January 2024 N-EB-_=F+-A=+—HR-E_MF—HA—H -
Charged/(credited) to consolidated staternent of Riz&2mERERNG/ GtA) (HE12)

comprehensive income (Note 12) 43]

As at 31 December 2024 R-g2-mE+=-A=+—H 43]

As at 31 December 2024, deferred income tax liabilities of
approximately HK$6,128,500 (2023: HK$5,783,000) had not been
recognised for the withholding tax that would be payable on the
unremitted earnings of subsidiaries in the PRC of approximately
HK$61,285,000 (2023: HK$57,833,000) as our directors considered
that the timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences
can be controlled and the related temporary difference will not be
reversed and will not be taxable in the foreseeable future.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

KBEEEREZERARAE

AT NE+_B=+—H > TER
Fh 5 B &8 /A B ok BB W &R F1) 49 61,285,000
BT (ZEZ =4 57,833,000 T)
HESBIIRNERELMESREBEN
6,128,500 75 (Z & — = £ : 5,783,000
B  RAREER A CIAEMER
=R BAMERERERT
G U TE R BRI B O] K B ERR R ©



31

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS

For the purposes of these consolidated financial statements, parties
are considered to be related to the Group if the party has the ability,
directly or indirectly, to exercise significant influence over the Group
in making financial and operating decisions. Related parties may
be individuals (being members of key management personnel,
significant shareholders and/or their close family members) or other
entities and include entities which are under the significant influence
of related parties of the Group where those parties are individuals.
Parties are also considered to be related if they are subject to
common control. The director is of the view that the following
individual were related parties that had transactions or balances
with the Group during the year ended 31 December 2024:

Name Relationship with the Group
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan
Ms. Leung Tak Yee

Shareholder and Executive Director

Shareholder and the spouse of
Mr. Chan Yuk Pan

A company indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. Chan Wing Tin,
the father of Mr. Chan Yuk Pan
and Mr. Chan Lung Pan

A company indirectly wholly-owned
by Mr. Chan Wing Tin,
the father of Mr. Chan Yuk Pan
and Mr. Chan Lung Pan

South Wing Machinery
Company Limited
(“South Wing”)

Ever Genius (Asia)
Limited
(“Ever Genius”)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR M

31 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31 BEAERS @
The following transactions were carried out between the Group HE_ZT_MNF+"B=+—HIHF
and its related parties during the year ended 31 December 2024. E > REBSEHBEBRSETUTRS
In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the related party KANBEERA AR AZZHRAEE
transactions were carried out in the ordinary course of business, at =BT MAEEAERRARG S
terms negotiated and mutually agreed between the Group and the B R AR E W E BERETT ©

respective related parties.

(a) Balance with a related party: (a) BIRARG S 4ERR

2024 2023

—E-ME BT

HK$’000 HK$'000

T#T THT
Amount due from a related party: P U B Bt 5 =R I

— South Wing (Note 18) — mR (ffaE18) 1,M -
Amount due to a related party: FESTRERE S 7008 -

— South Wing (Note 25) — B (W51 25) 6,954 -

As at 31 December 2024, the amounts due from/to a related
party is non-interest bearing, unsecured, on payment terms
of 90 days and denominated in HK$. The carrying amounts
approximate to their fair values due to their short maturities.

RIE-ZNFE+"A=+—8>
FEURFE AT — R BRI 5 AIE R 5t
S ERE - BERHRA0H I
LETetE - B B A 8iE
SREEEAATERS -

(b) Summary of significant transactions between the by BE-_=S-_NME+-H=+—
Group and its related parties during the year ended 31 BlEEEXAEREREAZHE
December 2024: MEARZSHBE:

2024 2023
—FmE —EB=fF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FExT
Sales of mechanical parts and components  #5 & f i Z 26 14+
— South Wing Machinery Co., Limited — PRI AR AT 1,11 -
Purchase of heavy duty machineries RIS AV
— South Wing Machinery Co., Limited — EEREWERATE 14,364 -
Lease payments for the warehouse EERAENNR
— Ever Genius (Asia) Limited — k¥ (M) BRRAT (166) -

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

31 RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 31

(c) Key management compensation

Key management include executive directors and the senior

tRE MR

BB X B (@)
(c) XEEEEHM
TEEERBRFERNANTE

management of the Group. The compensation paid or payable EUREHEER REERK
to key management for employee services is shown below: ENNEMTFEEEBIHNZE
s N
2024 2023
—EINE -
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#ExT FExT
Salaries, allowances and benefits inkind ¥ % ~ 2R EYET 2,704 2,300
Discretionary bonuses BB TEAL 202 159
Retirement benefit costs — defined BIREN A — EREHAEE
contribution plans 62 67
2,968 2,526

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 32

CASH FLOWS

(a) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to cash

generated from operations

FARTRERME

(a) PRFRIGIATEF REEFRFR
EHIR

2024 2023
—EMmE -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Cash flows from operating activities REFEFRERE
Profit before income tax FRPTEIRATEF 8,313 28,103
Adjustments for: AT BIERE .
Depreciation e 4,938 3,871
Amortisation iy 27 -
Provision for slow moving inventories, net M1z S # F 28 1,139 146
(Gains)/losses on disposal of property, HEYIE - BERKREN
plant and equipment (note (c)) (W zk) /E548 (M5t () (70) 220
Finance income BB WA (788) (725)
Finance cost =% 40 15
Changes in working capital EEERETH 13,599 31,630
Trade receivables B % FEWGRIE 18,822 (3,368)
Prepayments, deposits and FETRRIE ~ e R EAM
other receivables fEW =R IE 4,199 (3,427)
Inventories S (14,052) (3,243)
Trade payables B R ENMRIE 6,825 3,818
Accruals and other payables FEst & R R B FE(T 3x1E (60) (128)
Contract liabilities SHAaRE 4,084 -
Net cash generated from operations BEFRFIRE R 33,417 25,282
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

32 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing
activities
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flow will be,
classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows

32 &8

(b)

RERERMETE @)

MEZDFREEBRZHR

TREVAEERELTIMEE
BENEE BEREAIFRE
BE-BRETIMELEERA/N
FEBRGEREMNBERDESR
ERPFEREREBZRERE

as cash flows from financing activities. FARKIRERE ©
Liabilities from financing activities Other asset
MEEHELNER HinEE
Bank Lease Pledged
borrowings liabilities Subtotal bank deposit Total
EiEH
SRITERR HEaRE Vit RITTERR fat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
TAT TAT TET TAT TAT
Net debt asat1January 2023 H-E-=%—F—H
HB R - (180) (180) - (180)
Cash flows Beng (8,093) 182 (7,9Mm) 5,028 (2,883)
Other non-cash movements HitIFREES
— Additions -HE - (480) (480) - (480)
— Accrued interest - EstFIE - (15) (15) - (15)
— Disposal -HE - 102 102 - 102
Net debt as at 31 December 2023 R_B =%
+-A=+-H
HBEH (8,093) (391) (8484) 5028 (3.456)
Net debtasat1January2024 WHZ-ZE-MF
—B—BEEH (8,093) (391) (8,484) 5,028 (3,456)
Cash flows Beng (1,761) 424 (1,337) 10,048 8,71
Other non-cash movements HhJFRE 2%
— Additions ~-RE - (2,744) (2,744) - (2,744)
— Accrued interest - EstFIE - (40) (40) - (40)
Net debt as at 31 December 2024 [ —Z_MF
+ZB=+—H
BB AR (9,854) (2,751) (12,605) 15,076 12,471

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(c) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and

tRE MR

32 FERERERMEE @

(0 LHEME -BER=HE (FE

equipment, excluding right of use assets comprise: EEREEE) MFrSRIESE
& -
2024 2023
—EE —ET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FEx FET
Net book amount (Note 15) REFE (FaE15) 1,797 257
Gains/(losses) on disposal of property, HEYE BMEREHEN
plant and equipment s (E518) 70 (220)
Proceeds from disposal of property, HEYE  BEREKEN
plant and equipment FrigsIa 1,867 37
33 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33 BAXKIE

34

Significant capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the
reporting period but not recognised as liabilities is as follows:

REBSHMARETNERERSEENE
REARIT :

2024 2023
—E-mE TET=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#Ex FET
Property, plant and equipment and M BERRERETLEE
intangible assets
— Not later than one year — A BiA—F - 650
— Later than one year but not later ——FUEBEABERE
than five years - -
= 650

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 15 January 2025, Best Linking, as the policyholder took out the
life insurance policy with HSBC Life (International) Limited, (“HSBC
Life”) and placed an initial single premium, together with an initial
single levy, in the sum of approximately US$1,093,177.5 in aggregate
(equivalent to approximately HK$8,526,785). The policy is a life
insurance policy of Mr. YP Chan as the insured person. Best Linking
is the policyholder and the beneficiary.

34 BIREIE

ATERE—B+AB KHE (F
AREFEAN) AEEASZRFRE (EHE)
BRAR (NEBAE)) KBASKREL
BT EEREERVTEEHE
48 & ZEH) A1,093,1775% T (FBERL
8,526,7858 T) c ZRERMRIEW &
EAZRANASRIGMRE » ki ZEE
EREATAZEA ©
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R MR R

35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTOFTHE 35 ZATSEAERKREEES)

COMPANY
Balance sheet of the Company FTRATIEEEBER
2024 2023
—E@mE —Eo=F
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
Bz FET FET
Assets BE
Non-current assets EFRHEE
Investment in subsidiaries R B AENKE 41,888 41,888
Current assets REEE
Amount due from a subsidiary A EN=IE Q] 449 -
Loan to a subsidiary BEXT—RENB AR - 9,615
Cash and cash equivalents B NIREEEY 41 7,490
490 17,105
Total assets BEEME 42,378 58,993
Equity and liabilities ExkaE
Equity attributable to TATEE AEGER
owners of the Company
Share capital 5% 4,000 4,000
Reserves EX] (a 5,577 23,935
Total equity R 9,577 27,935
Liabilities aE
Current liabilities mEEE
Accruals =42 1,145 1,198
Amounts due to subsidiaries N ENEIE R 31,656 29,860
Total liabilities B(E4EEE 32,801 31,058
Total equity and liabilities EmkaEiEEE 42,378 58,993
The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of KANBNEEBBEREHAESTIN_-Z
Directors on 21 March 2025 and was signed on its behalf. “HEFE=ZA -+ —H#tz TRKREE
BEE-
Chan Yuk Pan Chan Lung Pan
BRIE BRREM
Director Director
= S

200 BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A
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35 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENTOFTHE 35 K ASIEEARBEREHEEEDH
COMPANY (Continued) (#)

() FTATHEES

(a) Reserve movement of the Company

Share Other  Accumulated Reserves
capital reserve losses subtotal Total
fea Hit e REEE ftE st st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
THET TET TEx TET TET
Balance at 1 January 2023 R_E_=F—-HF—H
i 4,000 52,399 (29,765) 22,634 26,634
Profit for the year ERiaF - - 17,301 17,301 17,301
Total comprehensive income ~ 2FEUZ4%E - - 17,301 17,301 17,301
Transactions with equity BERBEEANKS:
holders:
Dividends paid BRKRE - (16,000) - (16,000) (16,000)
- (16,000) - (16,000) (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2023 RIE-=%F
+-A=+—HN4EE 4,000 36,399 (12,464) 23935 27935
Balance at 1 January 2024 R-E-_mFE—A—H
4L iR 4,000 36,399 (12,464) 23,935 27,935
Loss for the year FREE - - (2,358) (2,358) (2,358)
Total comprehensive loss PEGBEE - - (2,358) (2,358) (2,358)
Transactions with equity BERFEANKS
holders:
Dividends paid BKRE - (16,000) - (16,000) (16,000)
- (16,000) = (16,000) (16,000)
Balance at 31 December 2024 R =F =M
+ZA=+—HMER 4,000 20,399 (14,822) 5,577 9,577
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R MR R

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

36.1 Subsidiaries

36 HitBEEXDHERIEE

36.1 B 2E]

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the group has control. The group controls an entity
where the group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from
the date on which control is transferred to the group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains
on transactions between group companies are eliminated.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset.
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by
the Group.

36.2 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less
impairment. Cost includes direct attributable costs of
investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by
the Group on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is
required upon receiving dividend from these investments
if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of
the subsidiary in the period the dividend is declared or if the
carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial
statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated
financial statements of the investee’s net assets including
goodwill.

36.3 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with
the internal reporting provided to the CODM. The CODM,
who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing
performance of the operating segments, has been identified
as the executive directors who make strategic decisions.

KBEEEREZERARAE

MEABS S AEEYHABER
ENE2EEE (BEERTER) -
EXAEEARNEZHE2HEEEM
Sz P #ORVERKRIERN - B
ERt W BBHEE BRI 21
FEZLERIRE MAERE
flzBERE WEBASNKREBE
HIEESETAERZ AEERE4R
GARKR LEZERIERLIEZR
EELEGREAR-

EEARAIBERS - EBREM[
IR EHRREFERDBTYH
o RERBEIRTHH  BRIE
RZREBEEENRERE -
MBARZ Gt R AL ER
L&) UERAARERFR
R R —) o

36.2 BILMAEHR
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.4 Foreign currency translation

®

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the consolidated financial statements
of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates (the “functional currency”). The
consolidated financial statements are presented in HK$,
which is the Company’s functional and the Company’s
and the Group’s presentation currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates at the
dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year
end exchange rates are generally recognised in the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
within “other (losses)/gains, net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in
a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Translation differences on assets and liabilities carried
at fair value are reported as part of the fair value gain
or loss. For example, translation differences on non-
monetary assets and liabilities such as equities held
at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain or loss
and translation differences on non-monetary assets
such as equities classified as fair value through other
comprehensive income are recognised in other
comprehensive income.

36 HthBEEAGTHHRHRE @

36.4 SIS E

®

(i)
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.4 Foreign currency translation (Continued)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial positions of all the Group
entities (none of which has the currency of a
hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional
currency different from the presentation currency are
translated into the presentation currency as follows:

. assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of that balance sheet;

. income and expenses for each statement of
comprehensive income are translated at average
exchange rates (unless this is not a reasonable
approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which
case income and expenses are translated at the
rate on the dates of the transactions); and

. all resulting exchange differences are recognised
in other comprehensive income

36.5 Intangible assets

Computer software has a finite useful life and is carried at cost
less accumulated amortization. Amortisation is calculated
using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of computer
software over its estimated useful life of 5 years.

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED kEEEEZERBRAQ A
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

36 HthBEEAGTHHRHRE @

36.6 IEERBEERE

Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for
impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable.
An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which
the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount.
The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value
less costs of disposal and value in use. For the purposes of
assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels
for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-
generating units). Non-financial assets other than goodwill
that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal
of the impairment at the end of each reporting period.

AFBENEESNASEHNE
L0 BT AR 1B PJ BE A UR (D]
By pLRLE BT IR o BE R R
EERETHEBBHEAWETE
T LURE SR o BT UR (O] & 28 45 H BR
EREARNEEATERAETRE
BEFNRSE - BURESEMS »
EEREBWINR/NREER
EELBU (REELEEM FTU
DK KRENFEREE (T8
EEHE RERSHRE R
BERYRIAEME ©

36.7 Financial assets 36.7 EREE
(i) Classification i) 4948
The Group classifies its financial assets as those to be TEEBESHEED AR
measured at amortised cost. HIHR ARG E o

The classification depends on the entity’s business model
for managing the financial assets and the contractual
terms of the cash flows.

The Group reclassifies debt instruments when and only
when its business model for managing those assets
changes.

(i) Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets
are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows
from the financial assets have expired or have been
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of ownership.

DEBURNEREETHE
ENEHBEARBEERANG
KRR AE ©

EEEEEEZEEENE
BRANEEHE > SEEHNE
BIEEMOE-

(i) 8RR R HH R

EERENEREEEERN
X5 B AARESY » X5 B HIED
AEBAERBALERE
WEH - EREEFWRRE
MEERT AENE RN
EEERAEERERRE
K % BHJR B 2 [B] ¥ #5552 FRF EY
HREED o
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.7 Financial assets (Continued)

(iii)

(iv)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL),
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs
of financial assets carried at FVPL are expensed in
consolidated statement of comprehensive income.

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends
on the Group’s business model for managing the asset
and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. Assets
that are held for collection of contractual cash flows
where those cash flows represented solely payments of
principal and interest are measured at amortised cost.
Interest income from these financial assets is included in
finance income using the effective interest rate method.
Any gain or loss arising on derecognition is recognised
directly in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income and presented in “other (losses)/gains, net”
together with foreign exchange gains and losses.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assess on a forward looking basis the
expected credit losses associated with its debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment
methodology applied depends on whether there has
been a significant increase in credit risk. Note 3 details
how the Group determine whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk.

ok E

EEFEERBRAA
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.8 Financial liabilities

®

(i)

Classification and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at
amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Interest expense and foreign exchange gains and
losses are recognised in consolidated statement
of comprehensive income. Any gain or loss on
derecognition is also recognised in consolidated
statement of comprehensive income.

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its
contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or
expired. The Group also derecognises a financial liability
when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the
modified liability are substantially different. In this case,
a new financial liability based on the modified terms is
recognised at fair value. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability extinguished
and the new financial liability with modified terms is
recognised in consolidated statement of comprehensive
income.

36.9 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the consolidated balance sheet where the
Group currently has a legally enforceable right to offset
the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle
on a net basis or realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously. The Group has also entered into arrangements
that do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for
the related amounts to be set off in certain circumstances,
such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
36.10 Inventories

Raw materials and stores, work in progress and finished goods
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
comprises direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate
proportion of variable and fixed overhead expenditure,
the latter being allocated on the basis of normal operating
capacity. Costs are assigned to individual items of inventory
on the basis of weighted average costs. Net realisable value is
the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated

costs necessary to make the sale.

36.11 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement
of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include deposits held

at call with banks and cash on hand.

36.12 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the

proceeds.

36.13 Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables represent liabilities for goods
and services provided to the group prior to the end of
financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables
are presented as current liabilities unless payment is not
due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are
recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.14 Bank Borrowings

Bank borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of
transaction costs incurred. Bank borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the
proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption
amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the
bank borrowings using the effective interest method. Fees
paid on the establishment of loan facilities are recognised as
transaction costs of the loan to the extent that it is probable
that some or all of the facility will be drawn down. In this
case, the fee is deferred until the draw-down occurs. To the
extent there is no evidence that it is probable that some or
all of the facility will be drawn down, the fee is capitalised as
a prepayment for liquidity services and amortised over the
period of the facility to which it relates.

Bank borrowings are removed from the statement of
financial position when the obligation specified in the
contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference
between the carrying amount of a financial liability that has
been extinguished or transferred to another party and the
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred
or liabilities assumed, is recognised in profit or loss as finance
costs.

Bank borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.15 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax
payable on the current period’s taxable income based on the
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to
temporary differences.

Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of
the reporting period in the countries where the company and
its subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken
in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable
tax regulation is subject to interpretation and considers
whether it is probable that a taxation authority will accept an
uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances
either based on the most likely amount or the expected value,
depending on which method provides a better prediction of
the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in
the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred
tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise from the initial
recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not
accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or
liability in a transaction other than a business combination that
at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor
taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences. Deferred income tax is
determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period
and are expected to apply when the related deferred income
tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is
settled.
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36 HthBEEAGTHHRHRE @
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.15 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

36 HthBEEAGTHHRHRE @

36.15 BNEARIEIEFRISIR (4

Deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable
that future taxable amounts will be available to utilise those
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for
temporary differences between the carrying amount and tax
bases of investments in foreign operations where the Group
is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences and it is probable that the differences will not
reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is
a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and
liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the
same taxation authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities
are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable right to
offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise
the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except
to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the
tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity, respectively.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.16 Employee benefits

®

(ii)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-
monetary benefits and accumulating sick leave that are
expected to be settled wholly within twelve months
after the end of the period in which the employees
render the related service are recognised in respect
of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting
period and are measured at the amounts expected to
be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are
presented as current employee benefit obligations in the
consolidated balance sheet.

Retirement benefits plans

The Group contributed to a mandatory provident
fund scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) which is a defined
contribution plan and is available to all employees in
Hong Kong. Contributions to the MPF Scheme by the
Group and employees are calculated as a percentage of
employees’ basic salaries. The MPF Scheme cost charged
to profit or loss represents contributions payable by the
Group to the MPF Scheme.

The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered
fund.

Full time employees of the Group’s PRC entity
participate in a government mandated multi-employer
defined contribution plan pursuant to which certain
pension benefits, medical care, unemployment
insurance, employee housing fund and other benefits
based on certain percentage of the employees’ salaries.
Full time employees who have passed the probation
period are entitled to such benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HhBEEAXTHBEHRE ®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.16 Employee benefits (Continued) 36.16 ESEF (&

(ii) Retirement benefits plans (Continued)

The Group has no further payment obligations once
the contributions have been paid. The contribution are
recognised as employee benefit expenses when they
are due and are reduced by contributions forfeited by
those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting
fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are
recognised as an asset to the extent that a cash refund
or a reduction in the future payments is available. The
Group did not have defined benefit plans.

(iii) Bonus plans

The Group recognises a liability and an expense
for bonuses based on a formula that takes into
consideration the profit attributable to the company’s
shareholders after certain adjustments. The Group
recognises a provision where contractually obliged
or where there is a past practice that has created a
constructive obligation.

36.17 Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to
anyone item included in the same class of obligations may be
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s
best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the present
obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount
rate used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate
that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the
provision due to the passage of time is recognised as interest
expense.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

R MR R

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.18 Interest income

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using
the effective interest method.

36.19 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair
value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached
conditions.

36.20 Leases

The Group leases production factory in the PRC and office
in Hong Kong. Property leases are typically made for fixed
periods of two to ten years. Lease terms are negotiated on an
individual basis and contain various terms and conditions. The
lease agreements do not impose any covenants, but leased
assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes.

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is
available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components.
The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to the
lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand-
alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the
Group is a lessee, it has elected not to separate lease and non-
lease components and instead accounts for these as a single
lease component.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.20 Leases (Continued)

36 HthBEEAGTHHRHRE @

36208 (&

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured
on a present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net
present value of the following lease payments:

. fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments),
less any lease incentives receivable;

. variable lease payment that are based on an index or a
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the
commencement date;

. amounts expected to be payable by the Group under
residual value guarantees;

. the exercise price of a purchase option if the lessee is
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

. payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the
lease term reflects the lessee exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain
extension options are also included in the measurement of the
liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined,
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-
use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,
security and conditions.
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R MR R

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

36.20 Leases (Continued)

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group,
where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by
the individual lessee as a starting point, adjusted to reflect
changes in financing conditions since third party financing was
received.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the
individual lessee (through recent financing or market data)
which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the
Group entities use that rate as a starting point to determine
the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable
lease payments based on an index or rate, which are not
included in the lease liability until they take effect. When
adjustments to lease payments based on an index or rate take
effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted against the
right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance
cost. The finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease
period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on
the remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets included the rights to use certain

properties under leases which are measured at cost. The initial

costs of right-of-use assets include the following:

. the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

. any lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received;

. any initial direct costs; and

. restoration costs.

KBEEEREZERARAE

36 HthBEEAGTHHRHRE @

36208 (&

PAETHEEGRI X XERE
AJEEB R T o EAE R AE AR
TESHNE=TRMEFSHER
TEEBEE URMBEERE=H
R E DURR B R BV EH) o

g0 R A B AN B IR P R R
HERNX (BBRTHARENTS
B > mZAERBBENNIRIE
MEE AEBBERESUZME
TEAIEIRFE T IR BfERRF=R o

A S B R KB AR IR R FE B A =
BN EBENRE MBS
HRMEREEMR A E5t AHE
BE - ERERFEIWMNIHEE
REHRABEENE  HES
RERBEERAREEETENT
(EECEAE

M E IR A 5 K B 5 i 2 2 i)
EE D EC - M B A EHEHIIR
WEt ABE > UL BB EERER
EENMREFT - -

CERAREECREHEERTETE

AStENYEZERE -8

BEENVRMASEULTEE !

- THESEMNGSEREE

© EMRRBEHEZAIZAIE
] B & RUR A B R E
BEEE;

« EEVBEERNE ; K

. EEHm



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

tRE MR

36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL 36 HhBEEAXTHBEHRE ®

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.20 Leases (Continued) 36.20fHE (&)

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter
of the asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-
line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a
purchase option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over
the underlying asset’s useful life. While the Group revalues its
land and buildings that are presented within property, plant
and equipment, it has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use
buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and
vehicles and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on
a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term
leases are leases with a lease term of 12 months or less. Low-
value assets comprise IT equipment and small items of office
furniture.
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36.21 Earnings per share 36.21 FRREF
(i) Basic earnings per share (i) SRELXEHN
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing: BREREBFTHIZ T EHE
58
the profit attributable to owners of the Company, U RNB R AE

excluding any costs of servicing equity other than
ordinary shares

GFE > TEEREAE
BRUSMRF B =

BN
by the weighted average number of ordinary R Z M B EE S
shares outstanding during the financial year, BT E @R IR
adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares FHRGEE  WiRE
issued during the year and excluding treasury FRETHNZERKRN

shares.
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36 SUMMARY OF OTHER POTENTIALLY MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

36.21 Earnings per share (Continued)
(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the
determination of basic earnings per share to take into
account:

. the after-income tax effect of interest and other
financing costs associated with dilutive potential
ordinary shares; and

. the weighted average number of additional
ordinary shares that would have been outstanding
assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential
ordinary shares.

36.22 Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared,
being appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion
of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but
not distributed at the end of the reporting period.

36.23 Research and development costs

Research and development expenditure is recognised as an
expense as incurred and classified under of cost of sales when
it does not fulfill the criteria of capitalisation.
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A summary of the results and of the assets, equity and liabilities of the

Financial Summar

RA 54

FERBETIEMBEENEEREE &

Group for the published financial years is as follows: mBERETENT
RESULTS E 3 |
Year ended 31 December
BE+-BA=1+—HILEFE
2024 2023 2022 2021
—E-ME —ET=H BT HF %
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET FBT FTExT
Revenue U &= 114,644 143,779 127,730 132,250
Profit before taxation BRI A& F) 8,313 28,103 41,432 41,866
Income tax expense Fri8mBE= (2,023) (6,064) (6,503) (6,780)
Profit for the year FRE 6,290 22,039 34,929 35,086
Attributable to: FEAS
Shareholders of the Company KABRE 6,290 22,039 34,929 35,086
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Financial Summary

P52

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

BERAH

As at 31 December

®W+=—A=+—H
2024 2023 2022 2021
—ECNE S 2o —fF T2
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT THT FET FExT
Assets BE
Non-current assets EREEE 22,879 24,863 26,422 19,045
Current assets TMENEE 145,088 139,994 122,766 125,155
Total assets BEEE 167,967 164,857 149,188 144,200
Equity and liabilities EERkaE
Total equity HEmAERE (135,430) (147,660) (143,565) (129,531)
Non-current liabilities ERFERE (2,162) (148) (79) -
Current liabilities mEIEE (30,375) (17.049) (5,544) (14,669)
Total liabilities B AR (32,537) (17,197) (5,623) (14,669)
Total equity and liabilities HmK B AR (167,967) (164,857) (149,188) (144,200)

BEST LINKING GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED

K EERERBRAF
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